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Appendix 
1.         Call to Order   

 

2. Approval of Agenda 

 
3.      Review of Minutes 

 CDRAF Members’ Representatives, October 12, 2018    A 

 CDRAF Board: 

o October 12, 2018 

o December 7, 2018 

o February 9, 2019 

o April 10, 2019 

o August 22, 2019 

 

4. Business Arising          

 

5. Report from Board of Directors       B 

  

6. CDRAF Strategic Plan 2017-2020       C 

 

7. CDRAF By-Laws and Guidelines for Meetings     D 
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8. Reports          E 

 Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry 

 Canadian Dental Association 

 Canadian Dental Specialists Association 

 Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada 

 National Dental Examining Board of Canada 

 Royal Canadian Dental Corps 

 Royal College of Dentists of Canada 

 

9. Finance          F  

 Financial Statements, December 31, 2018      

 Restricted Net Asset Policy         

 Budget 2020 

 

10. Election of Board Members, Chair, Vice-Chair and Treasurer   G 

 Slate of Directors, 2019-2020 

  

11. Next Members’ Representatives Meeting 

 Friday, October 16, 2020, RCDSO Offices, Toronto, ON 

 

12. Future CDRAF Board Meeting Dates 

 Monday, January 20, 2020 

 Wednesday, April 22, 2020, Ottawa, ON 

 Thursday/Friday, August 20-21, 2020, Edmonton, AB 

 Friday, October 16, 2020, RCDSO Offices, Toronto, ON  

 

13. Correspondence               H 

 

14. Adjournment          
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CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 

MEMBERS’ REPRESENTATIVES 

 

Friday, October 12, 2018 

RCDSO Off ices, 6 Crescent Road, Toronto, ON 

             

            

A meeting of the CDRAF Board of Directors took place on Thursday, October 

12, 2018 at 8:30 a.m. 

 

 

PARTICIPANTS: 

Dr. Nancy Auyeung, Board Representat ive, Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Christopher A. Baker, Board Representat ive, Provincial Dental Board of 

Nova Scotia 

Dr. Maurice Coady, Registrar, Dental Counci l  of Prince Edward Island 

Dr. Randal l  Croutze, Chief Executive Off icer,  Alberta Dental  Associat ion and 

Col lege 

Ms. Carol ine Daoust,  Directr ice générale et secretaire, L’Ordre des dentistes du 

Québec 

Dr. Barry Dolman, President,  L’Ordre des dentistes du Québec 

Mr. Irwin Fefergrad, Registrar,  Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Ontario  

Ms. Andréa Foti ,  Assistant Registrar, Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of 

Ontario 

Dr. Véronique Gagnon, Vice-President,  L’Ordre des dentistes du Québec 

Dr. Mart in Gi l l is,  Registrar, (CDRAF Vice-Chair) Provincial  Dental  Board of 

Nova Scotia 

Dr. David Goerz, Vice-President, Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Chris Hacker, Acting Registrar, Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Bri t ish 

Columbia 

Dr. Patric ia Hunter, Vice-President,  Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Bri t ish 

Columbia 

Mr. Dan Leger, Registrar, (CDRAF Treasurer) New Brunswick Dental Society 

Dr. Patt i  Ling, Registrar,  Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Peter Lobb, President, Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Bri t ish Columbia 

Mr. Rafi  Mohammed, Executive Director,  Manitoba Dental Association 

Dr. Paul O’Brien, Registrar, (CDRAF Chair) Newfoundland and Labrador Dental  

Board 
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Dr. Tony Odenbach, President,  Alberta Dental  Association and Col lege 

Ms. Marianne Park, Counci l  member, Royal Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of 

Ontario 

Dr. Kirk Preston, Board representative, New Brunswick Dental Society 

Dr. David Segal, Counci l  member, Royal College of Dental  Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Cory Sul, President,  Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Flavio Turchet, Vice-President,  Royal College of Dental  Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Bernie White, Registrar, Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Saskatchewan 

Dr. Ronald Yarascavitch, President, Royal College of Dental  Surgeons of 

Ontario 

 

STAFF: 

Dr. Jack Gerrow, CDRAF Executive Director 

Ms. Angie Sherban, CDRAF Executive Assistant 

 

OBSERVERS: 

Mr. Frédéric Duguay, Director, Commission on Dental Accreditat ion of Canada 

Dr. Marie Dagenais, Registrar/Executive Director,  National Dental Examining 

Board of Canada 

Dr. Daniel Haas, Association of Canadian Facult ies of Dentistry 

Dr. Frank Hohn, President, Canadian Dental  Special t ies Association 

Dr. Doug Mackey, President,  National Dental Examining Board of Canada 

 

REGRETS: 

Mr. Peter McCutcheon, Executive Director,  Royal Col lege of Dentists of Canada 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

The Chair, Dr. O’Brien, cal led the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m.  

 

Dr. O’Brien welcomed Board and member representat ives, as wel l  as 

third-party providers and observers to the meeting. 

  

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 The agenda for the meeting was accepted as circulated. 
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  MOTION:  Odenbach/Turchet 

 

THAT the agenda of the Members’ Representatives meeting of 

October 12, 2018 be approved, as circulated. 

CARRIED  

(Unanimously) 

 

3. REVIEW OF MINUTES 

Two sets of minutes of the CDRAF Board meeting of October 13, 2017, 

2017 (old governance structure and new governance structure) were 

provided in the resource materials for information. There were no 

comments. 

 

 

4. BUSINESS ARISING 

 There was no business arising at the meeting. 

 

 

5. REPORT FROM BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 The Executive Director, Dr. Gerrow, referred members to the wri t ten 

report in the resources. 

 

 He highl ighted some of the activi t ies l isted in the report: 

 

(a) The governance structure of CDRAF was revised and implemented in 

October 2017 with the Board now comprised of the 10 Registrars and 

there have been four meetings under the new structure. Third-party 

providers are invi ted to attend Board meetings and bring any issues 

and information they may wish to discuss with the Board. He noted 

that the third-party providers wi l l  be presenting their annual reports to 

members later in the meeting. 

 

(b) He advised that the National Dental Special ty Recognit ion would be an 

agenda i tem for the Board meeting later in the day. 
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Further, a revised process was approved by the Board in February 

2018, but after further review there wi l l  be recommendation for further 

revisions to the document. I t  was reported that Dr. Hacker wi l l  address 

those issues when the document is discussed. 

 

(c) Regarding f inances, Dr. Gerrow reported that in 2016 and 2017 the 

CDRAF fees were $18.00 per dentist per province. The fee was 

reduced to $5.50 per dentist per province in 2018 which provided 

revenue of less than $125,000. He added that this wi l l  result in a 

signif icant budget def ici t .  The Treasurer wi l l  present the draft  budget 

for 2019 at the Board meeting. 

 

(d) As a result  of the CDRAF strategic plan, a Working Group has been 

struck to establ ish a process to develop nat ional competency 

standards. The working group wi l l  t ry and develop a national document 

that can be adopted by the Commission Dental Accreditat ion of 

Canada. A workshop is scheduled in Montréal on November 9 and 10, 

2018 for this task. 

 

(e) Dr. Gerrow reported that Dr. David Mock, CDRAF’s representat ive on 

this f i le,  has been active in sharing information and attending 

meetings relat ing to the opioids cris is. 
 

( f) The current website is costing approximately $400.00 a month. A 

website designer has been engaged to redesign the website to provide 

information through l inks to other stakeholders, as wel l  as being a si te 

for posting minutes of meetings and other resources. 
 
 

6. CDRAF STRATEGIC PLAN 2017-2020 

 This document was provided for information. 

 

 

7. CDRAF BY-LAWS 

 This document was provided for information. 
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8. REPORTS 

 

(a) Associat ion of Canadian Facult ies of Dentistry (ACFD) 

Dr. Daniel Haas gave a verbal report on the highl ights from the ACFD 

writ ten report to CDRAF: 

  The ACFD Biennial  Conference in 2019 wi l l  be hosted by the 

Universi ty of Bri t ish Columbia on June 16 in Vancouver. 

  The Dist inguished Service Award was awarded to Dr. Wil l iam 

MacInnis on September 28, 2018. 

  ACFD looks forward to col laborat ing with CDRAF on the national 

competency standards document. 

  Dr. Al l ison wi l l  address the CDRAF Board on the issue of 

academic/restr icted l icenses. 

 

(b) Canadian Dental Association (CDA) 

There was no representative from CDA present at the meeting. A copy of 

the wri t ten report from the Canadian Dental Association was provided to 

members for information. 

 

(c) Canadian Dental Special t ies Associat ion (CDSA) 

Dr. Frank Hohn presented the report on behalf  of the CDSA. He reported 

that CDSA is in i ts seventh year of operat ion and is the col lective voice of 

dental  special ists. 

 

(d) Commission on Dental Accreditat ion of Canada (CDAC) 

Mr. Frédéric Duguay presented the report on behalf  of CDAC. He 

provided an update on CDAC’s strategic planning ini t iat ive and advised 

that the draft document would be circulated to stakeholders for comment 

later in the month. There were no questions raised on the process. 

 

Mr. Duguay reported that CDAC has started to conduct survey visi ts of 

the Canadian Armed Forces dental cl inics. Since September 24, 2018, 

nine visi ts have been completed. There are 26 detachments in total  and 

visi ts should be completed by mid-November. 
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With respect to international agreements, Mr. Duguay reported that 

representat ives were sent to the U.S. as observers on internat ional si te 

visi ts.  Next year, there are plans to visi t  New Zealand for a si te visi t .  He 

added that meetings are scheduled in Hal i fax with Kuwait  who is 

interested in using CDAC as a consultant to review their processes. 

 

The Chair and the Manager of CDAC attended the August Open and 

Closed Commission on Dental Accreditat ion (CODA) meetings on August 

2-3, 2018. A program offered to Mexico was being reviewed fol lowing the 

CODA survey, but i t  was denied accreditat ion. 

 

Mr. Duguay referred to the CDAC f inancial  information provided and the 

draft  budget for 2019 and there was discussion on international 

expenses. I t  was noted by Dr. Dolman that CDAC budgeted an amount for 

2018; however, there was no conference held by ISDR in 2018 and given 

the proposed dissolut ion of ISDR this would also reduce expenses for 

CDAC as a third-party provider next year.  

 

The Ontario and Quebec regulators both expressed serious questions 

about the CDAC budget for 2019, as wel l  as i ts governance and approach 

to accreditat ion. 

 

(e) National Dental Examining Board of Canada (NDEB) 

The President of NDEB, Dr. Doug Mackey, presented the wri t ten report 

on behalf  of NDEB. 

 

I t  was reported that the examinations and assessments are going wel l  

with high passing grades.  

 

NDEB continues to address legal issues in terms of appeals and judicial  

reviews by candidates who fai led the Assessment of Cl inical Ski l ls 

examinations. He noted that there was an appeal successful ly defended 

in 2017 and there are seven more judicial  review appl ications in 

progress. 
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NDEB is moving forward with del ivering examinations electronical ly.  The 

vir tual OSCE examination is scheduled to be administered in March 2021. 

 

NDEB is working on a new strategic plan and a draft  wi l l  be forwarded to 

CDRAF for feedback. I t  is scheduled to go to the NDEB Board at i ts 

October meeting. 

 

Dr. Mackey was asked to comment on the issue of credential  veri f icat ion 

for appl icants with documents from Magadha Universi ty in India. He 

reported that some appl icants are in various stages within the NDEB 

process, but NDEB no longer accepts applications to the Equivalency 

Process from that universi ty. 

 

Dr. Mackey advised that appl icants affected by NDEB’s decision have 

been advised and the regulators and other stakeholders wi l l  be noti f ied in 

due course. 

 

( f) Royal Canadian Dental Corps 

A copy of the wri t ten report from Colonel Jean-Pierre Picard was 

distr ibuted at the meeting. There were no questions on the report. 

 

(g) Royal Col lege of Dentists of Canada (RCDC) 

A copy of the wri t ten from the Royal Col lege of Dentists of Canada was 

provided to the members for review. There was no representat ive present 

from RCDC and no questions were raised. 

 

(h) International Society of Dental  Regulators (ISDR) 

Dr. Barry Dolman, President of ISDR, was invi ted to report.  He reported 

that ISDR has been attempting to increase i ts membership with l imited 

success. There was potent ial  to work with FDI and create a separate 

section to br ing regulatory affairs to those countries that have no 

regulat ion. 

 

He added that he attended the FDI meeting in Buenos Aires in September 

where this recommendation was being voted on, but unfortunately the 
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decision was defeated, despite ful l  support from the Canadian Dental 

Associat ion. 

 

The ISDR Executive Committee has a meeting scheduled at the end of 

October and i t  wi l l  need to make a decision on which direction i t  wishes 

the organization to take. He added that after f ive years, i f  the 

membership is not increasing, there is no benefi t  for members and 

perhaps i t  would be best to dissolve i t  and move forward. 

 

Dr. Dolman reported that Dr. Picard advised that the Royal Canadian 

Dental Corps wi l l  not renew its membership for 2018. He asked CDRAF 

members for thoughts on whether or not ISDR should cont inue. 

 

Dr. Dolman was disappointed that FDI did not accept ISDR. He thanked 

Mr. Fefergrad for his support as Executive Director of ISDR. 

 

He advised that he regularly attends FEDCAR meetings to stay apprised 

of labour mobi l i ty activ i ty within Europe. He reported that the L’Ordre des 

dentistes du Québec is looking at agreements with Switzerland and 

Morocco, as wel l  as other opportunit ies. 

 

Mr. Fefergrad added that Dr. Dolman worked hard to try and achieve 

success with growing ISDR. The news regarding FDI was very 

disappointing. He advised CDRAF that ISDR has not had a secretariat,  

but that some of the RCDSO staff  have contr ibuted their efforts, that is:  

Kel ly Tripp for accounting, Angie Sherban for administrat ion, and Kevin 

Marsh and Diana Rickford for communicat ions. He also thanked Drs. 

Yarascavitch, Turchet and Segal for al lowing him and staff for providing 

this support. 

 

Some members commented on the importance of an organization l ike 

ISDR. Dr. Dolman assured that Canadian regulators had relat ionships 

with other countr ies before ISDR and those relat ionships would continue. 

ISDR is costly to run, has not demonstrated enough interest to gain new 

members now not viable and with l i t t le purpose. 

 



 
MINUTES 
CDRAF Members’  Representatives 
October 12, 2018 
Page 9 
 
 

 

CDRAF understood the reasons for considering dissolut ion of ISDR and 

agreed that i t  would support dissolut ion and not cont inue i ts membership 

for 2019 under the current structure. 

  

CDRAF hoped that relat ionships would continue as previously with 

regulators in Europe and other jur isdict ions. 

 

( i )  Opioids 

Members were provided for information with a copy of the document 

enti t led “Best Pract ices across the Continuum of Care for the Treatment 

of Opioid Use Disorder”,  August 2018 publ ished by the Canadian Centre 

on Substance Use and Addict ion (CCSA). 

 

 

9. FINANCES 

Mr. Dan Leger, Treasurer, reviewed the fol lowing information provided to 

members: 

  CDRAF audited f inancial statements, December 31, 2017. 

  Pol icy on Internal ly Restr icted Net Assets (Reserve Fund). This was 

reduced from $500,000 to $300,000. 

  Draft budget for 2019. The draft  budget was provided to the members 

for information – Mr. Leger reported that the Board wi l l  be asked to 

approve i t  during i ts meeting. 

 

Mr. Leger stated that CDRAF is a small  organizat ion operat ing on a 

modest budget based on a per member fee ratio. The recommended 

operating fee for 2019 is $6.00 per dentist  per province which would 

al low CDRAF to increase i ts reserve fund and cover a year of operations. 

I t  is recommended that the fee for 2020 be increased to $9.00 per dentist 

per province, $12.00 per dentist  per province in 2021 and $13.00 per 

dent ist per province in 2022. 

 

Mr. Fefergrad stated that CDRAF has to prove i ts value in order to justi fy 

the increases in fees. 
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I t  was reported that a request was recently received from NDEB for 

CDRAF to cover i ts shortfal l  for the last three years of the contract for 

the Dental Specialty Core Knowledge Examination (DSCKE). Under the 

NDEB/CDRAF contract,  i t  was agreed that CDRAF would cover the f iscal 

year di f ference in the event of a shortfal l .  

 

NDEB examinations are run on a cost recovery basis and i t  was reported 

that with the low number of part ic ipants in this examination, i t  has run at 

a loss since the agreement was signed in 2012. 

 

There was discussion on how CDRAF would cover this cost as there is no 

adequate funding avai lable in the reserve fund. I t  was recommended that 

each province pay a one-t ime tax and i t  was agreed that the Board would 

discuss this further during i ts meeting. 

 

10. ELECTION OF OFFICERS 

  Under the by-laws, the Board is comprised of the ten Registrars – the 

slate of Directors was provided to members for approval: 

 

  Chris Hacker  Bri t ish Columbia 

  Randal l  Croutze Alberta 

  Bernie White  Saskatchewan 

  Patt i  Ling  Manitoba 

  I rwin Fefergrad  Ontario 

  Carol ine Daoust Québec 

  Dan Leger  New Brunswick 

  Mart in Gil l is  Nova Scotia 

  Maurice Coady  Prince Edward Island 

  Paul O’Brien  Newfoundland & Labrador 

 

 

  The slate of Directors for 2018-2019 was approved, as circulated. 

 

 

 

 



 
MINUTES 
CDRAF Members’  Representatives 
October 12, 2018 
Page 11 
 
 

 

   MOTION:  Yarascavitch/Odenbach 

 

 THAT the slate of Directors for 2018-2019 be approved, as 

circulated. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

 

11. NEXT MEMBERS’ REPRESENTATIVES MEETING 

The next members’ representat ives meeting wi l l  be held on Friday, 

October 11, 2019 in Montreal, QC. On behalf of ODQ, Ms. Daoust kindly 

offered to host the meeting. 

 

Dr. Croutze undertook to host the members’ representat ives meeting in 

Edmonton, AB in 2020. 

 

 

 

12. CORRESPONDENCE 

  For information, the members were provided with a copy of the document 

from the Professional Standards Authori ty enti t led, “Right-touch 

regulat ion in pract ice: international perspect ives”, September 2018. 

 

 

13. ADJOURNMENT 

  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:15 

a.m. 
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CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 

Friday, October 12, 2018 

RCDSO Off ices, 6 Crescent Road, Toronto, ON 

             

            

A meeting of the CDRAF Board of Directors took place on Friday, October 12, 

2018 at 10:20 a.m. 

 

PARTICIPANTS: 

Dr. Randal l  Croutze, Chief Executive Off icer,  Alberta Dental  Associat ion and 

Col lege 

Ms. Carol ine Daoust,  Directr ice générale et secretaire, L’Ordre des dentistes du 

Québec 

Mr. Irwin Fefergrad, Registrar,  Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Mart in Gi l l is,  Registrar, (CDRAF Vice-Chair) Provincial  Dental  Board of 

Nova Scotia 

Mr. Dan Leger, Registrar, (CDRAF Treasurer) New Brunswick Dental Society 

Dr. Patt i  Ling, Registrar,  Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Chris Hacker, Acting Registrar, Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Bri t ish 

Columbia 

Dr. Paul O’Brien, Registrar, (CDRAF Chair) Newfoundland and Labrador Dental  

Board 

Dr. Maurice Coady, Registrar, Dental Counci l  of Prince Edward Island 

Dr. Bernie White, Registrar, Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Saskatchewan 

 

STAFF: 

Dr. Jack Gerrow, CDRAF Executive Director 

Ms. Angie Sherban, CDRAF Executive Assistant 

 

OBSERVERS: 

Dr. Paul Al l ison, President, Association of Canadian Facult ies of Dentistry 

Dr. Nancy Auyeung, Representative, Manitoba Dental Association 

Dr. Christopher A. Baker, Board Representat ive, Provincial Dental Board of 

Nova Scotia 

Dr. Marie Dagenais, Registrar/Executive Director,  National Dental Examining 

Board of Canada 

Dr. Barry Dolman, President,  L’Ordre des dentistes du Québec 

Mr. Frédéric Duguay, Director, Commission on Dental Accreditat ion of Canada 
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Ms. Andréa Foti ,  Assistant Registrar, Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of 

Ontario 

Dr. Véronique Gagnon, Vice-President,  L’Ordre des dentistes du Québec 

Dr. Dan Haas, Association of Canadian Facult ies of Dentistry 

Dr. Frank Hohn, President, Canadian Dental Special t ies Association 

Dr. Patric ia Hunter, Vice-President,  Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Bri t ish 

Columbia 

Dr. Peter Lobb, President, Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Bri t ish Columbia 

Dr. Doug Mackey, President,  National Dental Examining Board of Canada 

Mr. Rafi  Mohammed, Executive Director,  Manitoba Dental Association 

Dr. Tony Odenbach, President,  Alberta Dental  Association and Col lege 

Ms. Marianne Park, Counci l  member, Royal Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of 

Ontario 

Dr. Kirk Preston, Board representative, New Brunswick Dental Society 

Dr. David Segal, Counci l  member, Royal College of Dental  Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Cory Sul, President,  Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Flavio Turchet, Vice-President,  Royal College of Dental  Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Ronald Yarascavitch, President, Royal College of Dental  Surgeons of 

Ontario 

 

REGRETS: 

Mr. Peter McCutcheon, Royal Col lege of Dentists of Ontario  

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

The Chair, Dr. O’Brien, cal led the meeting to order at 10:20 a.m.  

 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 The fol lowing i tems were added to the agenda: 

 

  Approval of Budget for 2019. 

  Request from NDEB re DSCKE. 

  Presentation from ACFD re academic/restr icted l icenses. 

  Slate of off icers for 2019-2020 
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  MOTION:  Daoust/Fefergrad 

 

THAT the agenda of the meeting of October 12, 2018 be 

approved, as amended. 

CARRIED  

(Unanimously) 

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

The draft minutes of the CDRAF Board meeting of September 5, 2018 

were provided to the CDRAF Board for approval.  There being no 

amendments to the document, they were approved as circulated. 

 

 MOTION:  Daoust/Croutze 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approve the minutes of the meeting of 

September 5, 2018, as circulated. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

4. BUSINESS ARISING 

 

 4.1 Royal Col lege of Dentists of Canada (RCDC) 

 Dr. Gerrow reported that since the CDRAF Board meeting of September 

5, 2018, the RCDC held i ts Annual General Meeting in Fredericton, NB on 

September 22-24, 2018. He attended the meeting as a representat ive of 

CDRAF on Saturday, September 22 and Monday, September 24. Dr. 

Croutze also part ic ipated in the September 22 meeting via 

teleconference. 

 

 He reported that RCDC did not elect a President or Vice-President, but 

rather i t  was decided that the RCDC 15-member Counci l  would act as the 

Executive Committee and act as the governing body unt i l  further notice.  

 

 The President-Elect,  Dr. Adel Kauzman, and incoming President-Elect,  

Dr. Fel ici ty Hardwick, both resigned from the RCDC Counci l .  Past Past-

President, Dr. Hugh Lamont, is now the Chair of the RCDC Counci l .  
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 At the Annual General Meeting, RCDC Counci l  did not pass a budget for 

the NDSE. RCDC announced that because there was going to be a 

meeting the fol lowing day to deal with revamping the examinations, the 

budget was not presented. 

 

 At the meeting on Monday, September 24, 2018, there was a 

stakeholders meeting which Drs. Gerrow and Croutze attended on behalf  

of CDRAF and Dr. Paul Al ison on behalf of ACFD. Each of the Chief 

Examiners presented the current examination structure and proposed 

structure for 2019.It  was a col legial meeting and RCDC appeared to be 

l istening to the feedback provided but there was st i l l  resistance to 

change. 

 

 On September 28, 2018, a letter was received from Dr. Hugh Lamont, 

Chair of RCDC that had been widely distr ibuted to members and 

stakeholders. The intent of the letter was to update members and 

stakeholders on the recent developments at RCDC in terms of 

governance and the negotiat ions with CDRAF on the Third-Party Service 

Agreement. 

 

 Members of the CDRAF Board were troubled by the tone and inaccuracies 

in the RCDC letter and gave direct ion to Dr. Gerrow to prepare a 

response to RCDC in the Chair ’s name. Mr. Fefergrad undertook to draft  

the response and i t  was agreed that i t  should be brief, but express 

CDRAF’s disappointment in the inaccuracy and lack of detai l  in the letter.  

I t  was agreed that RCDC should be asked to retract i ts letter of 

September 28, 2018 and to send a letter to al l  those who had received 

the original let ter. This would include Fel lows, members, stakeholders 

and students. I t  was agreed to send the draft  to the Board for f inal 

approval.  

 

4.2 CDRAF Website 

Dr. Gerrow reported that the website is being redesigned to serve as an 

information si te only, avai lable in Engl ish and in French. Minutes of 

meetings and documents wi l l  also be posted on the website. 

 

A copy of the proposal for a new website was provided to the CDRAF 

Board for information. 
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4.3 Academic/Restr icted Licensure 

Dr. Paul Al l ison, President of the Associat ion of Canadian Facult ies of 

Dentistry (ACFD) was asked to address the CDRAF Board on this i tem as 

a fol low up from his request at the last Board meeting. 

 

Further to his presentat ion to CDRAF in February, Dr. Al l ison suggested 

the concept of a joint working group to address the issue of creating 

academic/restr icted l icensing for dent ists who have been trained as a 

general and/or special ist dentist  in non-accredited programs and who are 

wi l l ing to perform cl inical dental acts only in sett ings in or aff i l iated with 

Canadian dental schools.  

 

Dr. Al l ison was advised that Fairness Commissioners may view this as a 

separate pathway to l icensure and i t  raises questions concerning 

consistency. 

 

However, the CDRAF Board understood the chal lenges that dental 

schools are experiencing and i t  agreed to establ ish a working group to try 

and identi fy the issues without compromising each DRA’s principal 

mandate of protect ing the publ ic ’s interest. 

 

The fol lowing provinces showed interest in being on the working group 

and i t  was agreed that each DRA would appoint a representat ive from 

each province to si t  on the working group with ACFD: 

 

  Bri t ish Columbia 

  Alberta 

  Saskatchewan 

  Manitoba 

  Ontario  

  Quebec 

  Nova Scotia 

 

Dr. Al l ison asked that CDRAF noti fy him of the working group 

representat ives’ names and he would arrange meeting dates. 
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4.4 National Repository 

The CDRAF Board reviewed the wri t ten update from NDEB regarding the 

development of a nat ional repository for credentials.  Dr. Dagenais, 

Registrar of NDEB, reported that CDRAF had asked NDEB to explore the 

possibi l i ty of request ing f inal transcripts of record from the Canadian 

dental programs prior to issuing cert i f icates. She outl ined a summary of 

the f indings. 

 

A quest ion was asked to Dr. Haas, Dean of the Faculty of Dentistry, 

Universi ty of Toronto, i f  convocation could be delayed to a later date in 

June. He advised that those dates are set by the Universi ty and he has 

no inf luence in changing the dates. 

 

After a ful l  discussion, the CDRAF Board supports the creat ion of a 

national repository for credentials,  but that i t  does not want the 

requirements of the national repository to affect the current t iming for the 

issuing of l icenses/registrat ions to graduates of undergraduate Canadian 

dental programs. Therefore, NDEB was asked to proceed with 

establ ishing the National Repository but cont inue to accept the letters 

from the Deans indicat ing individuals recommended for graduation as an 

acceptable al ternative to a f inal transcript of record for graduates of 

accredited Canadian undergraduate dental programs only. NDEB should 

cont inue to require a f inal transcript of record for al l  other graduates. 

Dr. Gerrow was directed to prepare a letter to Dr. Dagenais informing her 

of the CDRAF Board’s decision. 

 

4.5 Language Proficiency Assessment 

Dr. Dagenais reported that NDEB received a request from CDRAF to 

develop a proposal to implement a requirement for occupation-specif ic 

language assessment in both off ic ial  languages. NDEB explored opt ions 

and recommended that benchmarking be used to establ ish entry level 

language demands for the profession. 

 

She advised the CDRAF Board about the Centre of Canadian Language 

Benchmarks (CCLB) which has establ ished language ski l ls for immigrants 

specif ic to many professions, i .e. audiology, speech language pathology, 

nursing. 
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The option would be standard sett ing entry level language demands, 

simi lar to sett ing a standard for an examination. NDEB’s preferred choice 

was benchmarking. 

 

There was discussion on legal requirements in di f ferent provinces and i t  

was agreed that each province would review i ts own legislat ion and legal 

requirements before CDRAF would make a decision on how it  wished 

NDEB to proceed with language assessment. 

 

4.6 Dental  Specialty Core Knowledge Examination (DSCKE) 

Dr. Dagenais reminded the CDRAF of the Agreement i t  entered into in 

2012 with NDEB to develop and administer the DSCKE. The Agreement 

was for a f ive-year period ending in 2017. She reported that NDEB has 

continued to administer the DSCKE since the expiry of the Agreement, 

but added that there has been a shortfal l  of $75,555 for the last three 

f iscal years of the contract. Under the Agreement, i t  was agreed that 

CDRAF would cover the shortfal l .  

 

Fol lowing discussion, the CDRAF Board was in agreement to cover the 

cost of the shortfal l  and that each province would pay $3.50 per dentist  

per province in a one-t ime payment. NDEB was directed that going 

forward i t  bui ld into i ts fee structure the projected cost of what is involved 

with DSCKE. CDRAF also informed NDEB that no further payments for 

DSCKE shortfal ls would be considered. 

 

Dr. Dagenais was asked to send invoices to each province in the amount 

of $3.50 per dentist per province. 

 

 MOTION:  Fefergrad/Crouze 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approves the remittance of $75,000 to 

NDEB to cover the shortfall of the Dental Specialty Core 

Knowledge Examination (DSCKE) fees; 

 

AND THAT a one-time fee of $3.50 per dentist per province be 

approved. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 
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There was discussion on the DSCKE financials. Dr. Dagenais reported 

that at the end of 2019, there wi l l  be a net loss anticipated of $46,924. 

She explained that the loss wil l  be greater for 2018-2019 because of the 

electronic conversion of the examination. 

 

Dr. Dagenais referred to the resource materials and the reference to the 

American Dental Association Advanced Dental Apti tude Test (ADAT). She 

asked CDRAF to give considerat ion to using this as an option to the 

DSCKE. 

 

ADAT is an admission test administered by the American Dental 

Associat ion (ADA), but is only avai lable in Engl ish. Although there have 

only been three graduates of a non-accredited dental special ty program 

who have taken the DSCKE in French since 2012, Dr. Dagenais 

suggested that i t  may be possible to obtain a di f ferent test for appl icants 

in Quebec. 

 

I f  ADAT was considered an opt ion by CDRAF, Dr. Dagenais stated that 

the ADA would be asked i f  i t  would be wil l ing to provide results to 

Canadian graduates. 

 

There was discussion on the low number of graduates that have taken the 

DSCKE since 2012 (145) and whether or not i t  should be continued. 

 

Mr. Fefergrad stated that he would not be in favour of the ADAT 

examination, part icular ly as i t  is only offered in Engl ish. This would not 

be favourable to provinces with Fairness Commissioners. 

 

Dr. Dagenais added that NDEB is wi l l ing to continue administer ing the 

DSCKE i f the cost of the examination can be increased to cover costs. 

CDRAF confirmed that increased fees for the DSCKE are just i f ied and 

reminded NDEB that no further payments for DSCKE shortfal ls would be 

made. 

 

There was no interest in pursuing ADAT further, therefore NDEB was 

directed to cont inue with DSCKE with increased fees. 
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4.7 Update on CDAC Strategic Planning Process 

Mr. Frédéric Duguay made a PowerPoint presentation on CDAC’s 

activi t ies that included the 2018 strategic planning process. 

 

He reported that an environmental scan was conducted in February 2018 

fol lowing by an onl ine survey to stakeholders in March 2018. Results of 

the survey were provided to stakeholders in a strategic planning session 

in May and a Steering Committee is f inal iz ing a draft report that wil l  be 

provided to stakeholders in due course. 

 

During his presentation, Mr. Duguay also reported that CDAC has started 

to conduct survey visits of the Canadian Armed Forces dental  cl inics. 

Since September 24, 2018, nine visi ts have been completed and there 

are 26 detachments in total .  Site visi ts should be completed by mid-

November. 

 

Mr. Duguay reported that CDAC is scheduled to meet with Kuwait 

representat ives who have expressed interest in using CDAC as a 

consultant to strengthen their processes. 

 

4.8 2019 CDAC Draft  Budget 

The DRAs were provided with a copy of the 2019 CDAC draft  budget and 

budget forecast for 2020. I t  was reported that the administrat ive costs 

have not increased in the last ten years. He reviewed the draft budget for 

2019 explained what was included in the survey fees.  
 

There was discussion on the costs and value of al l  the si te visi ts, who 

decides and, in general,  the costs per member in the CDAC budget. 

 

The registrant fee of $22.71 was proposed for dent ists. Mr. Duguay 

added that fees have increased minimal ly over the last ten years. 

 

Mr. Duguay was asked i f  there was a more eff ic ient way for CDAC to 

conduct i ts business. He responded that si te visi ts are important and 

need to be cont inued. 
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4.9 Working Group to Explore Alternatives to RCDC 

Mr. Fefergrad reported that the working group establ ished by the CDRAF 

Board at i ts September 5, 2018 meeting, held i ts f irst meeting on October 

11, 2018. He chaired the meeting and i t  was agreed that Ms. Daoust wi l l  

chair the next meeting scheduled in Montreal on November 8, 2018. 

 

The working group discussed whether i t  is necessary to have a national 

examination process for dental special ists.  

 

Some of the ideas discussed included a mentorship program with 

matching a mentor and mentee. The working group wi l l  look at creat ing a 

general nat ional framework that each province can implement individual ly 

under i ts own legislat ion. 

 

I t  also discussed creating an examination using a bank of quest ions 

simi lar to those used for the Pract ice Enhancement Tool (PET), an 

assessment-based process for cont inued competence, used by the 

RCDSO for i ts members. Dr. Michael Gardner, the Director of Qual i ty 

Assurance at RCDSO wil l  be asked to assist the working group in this 

area. 

 

The working group was divided into two sub-working groups to look at 

mentorship and principles for examination development. These two sub-

working groups wi l l  meet and report back to the working group on 

November 8, 2018.  

 

A third meeting for the working group is scheduled in Montreal in 

December. 

 

 

5. CDRAF REPRESENTATIVES AND OBSERVERS OF OTHER MEETINGS 

 A l ist ing of upcoming stakeholder/external meetings with CDRAF 

representat ives was provided to the CDRAF Board for i ts information. 

 

 

6. CDRAF BY-LAWS 

 The CDRAF By-Laws was provided for resource material .  
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7. CDRAF STRATEGIC PLAN 2017-2020 

 The CDRAF strategic plan for 2017-2020 was provided for resource 

material .  

 

 

8. 2019 BUDGET 

 Discussion on the budget took place at the Member Representat ives’ 

meeting. The CDRAF Board approved the budget, as presented. 

 

  MOTION:  Leger/Daoust 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approve the budget for 2019, as 

presented. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously)  
 

9. NEW BUSINESS 

 

 9.1 National Recognit ion of Dental  Special ty 

 Dr. Chris Hacker reported on this i tem. He referred CDRAF Board 

members to the email  message from Ms. Joan Rush, an advocate in 

Bri t ish Columbia for improved access to dental treatment for pat ients with 

developmental disabi l i t ies requir ing treatment under deep sedation. 

 

 He reminded the CDRAF Board that CDRAF’s process for nat ional 

recognit ion of dental  special ty was establ ished in 2011 and revised in 

2018. 

 

 In Ms. Rush’s email ,  she points out many concerns with the current 

document and on further review, Dr. Hacker and Dr. Gerrow 

recommended that i t  be reviewed once again and that a simpl i f ied 

process be establ ished. 

 

 I t  was suggested that a working group be created for this task.  Dr. 

Hacker and Dr. Gerrow agreed to work on a draft document and bring i t  

back to the CDRAF for a prel iminary review. Dr Gerrow reviewed 

principles for the revision, including el iminat ing the expert group. Ms. 

Marianne Park supported this concept as she felt  that expert groups were 
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biased by defini t ion. In the meantime, i t  was agreed to rescind the 

current document and not accept any new appl ications for nat ional dental  

special ty recognit ion unt i l  a new process is f inal ized and approved. 

 

  MOTION:  Hacker/Daoust 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approves rescinding the document 

entitled “Process for Recognition of a New Dental Specialty” 

approved February 2018, and that until  a new process is 

approved, not accept any new applications for national dental 

specialty recognition. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

  

10. NEXT MEETINGS 

 The next meetings of the CDRAF Board are scheduled, as fol lows: 

 

  December 7, 2018 in Montreal 

  February 8, 2019 (locat ion TBD) 

  Apri l  12, 2019 ( location TBD) 

  August 23, 2019 (location TBD) 

  October 11, 2019 in Montreal 

  December 2019 ( locat ion TBD, i f  necessary) 

 

 

11. CORRESPONDENCE 

  

 11.1 Canadian Associat ion of Orthodontists (CAO) 

A copy of the letter from the President of CAO, Dr. Jay Phi l ippson, dated 

October 2, 2018 was provided to the CDRAF Board for i ts information. 

The letter expressed concerns with direct-to-consumer orthodontic 

treatment, possibly becoming available to Canadian consumers. 

 

The fol lowing correspondence was also reviewed, but there was no 

discussion: 

 

  Wellness of Canadian Dentists Summary Report; 

  CODA Progresses with El iminat ion of Specialty Terminology 
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  Integration of Oral Health and Primary Care: Communication, 

Coordination and Referral .  

 

 

12. SLATE OF OFFICERS – 2018-2019 

The CDRAF Board agreed for Dr. Mart in Gil l is to be Chair,  Mr. Daniel 

Leger to be Vice-Chair and Dr. Maurice Coady to be Treasurer for the 

2018-2019 term. 

 

MOTION: 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approves the following slate of officers 

for 2018-2019: 

 

  Chair:   Dr. Martin Gillis 

  Vice-Chair:  Mr. Daniel Leger 

  Treasurer:  Dr. Maurice Coady 

 CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

   

13. ADJOURNMENT 

 There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 1:45 p.m. 

 

AMS:840324v3  
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Hotel Nel l igan, Room A, 106 St.  Paul Street West, Montreal,  QC 

             

            

A meeting of the CDRAF Board of Directors took place on Friday, December 7, 

2018 at 1:00 p.m. 

 

PARTICIPANTS: 

Dr. Randal l  Croutze, Chief Executive Off icer,  Alberta Dental  Associat ion and 

Col lege 

Ms. Carol ine Daoust,  Directr ice générale et secretaire, L’Ordre des dentistes du 

Québec 

Mr. Irwin Fefergrad, Registrar,  Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Mart in Gil l is,  Registrar,  (CDRAF Chair) Provincial  Dental  Board of Nova 

Scotia 

Dr. Patt i  Ling, Registrar,  Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Chris Hacker, Registrar,  Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Bri t ish Columbia 

Dr. Paul O’Brien, Registrar, Newfoundland and Labrador Dental  Board 

Dr. Maurice Coady, Registrar,  (CDRAF Treasurer),  Dental Counci l  of Prince 

Edward Island 

Dr. Bernie White, Registrar, Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Saskatchewan 

 

STAFF: 

Dr. Jack Gerrow, CDRAF Executive Director 

Ms. Angie Sherban, CDRAF Executive Assistant 

 

REGRETS: 

Mr. Dan Leger, Registrar, (CDRAF Vice-Chair) New Brunswick Dental Society 

 

OBSERVERS: 

Mr. Frédéric Duguay, Director, Commission on Dental Accreditat ion of Canada 

Ms. Andréa Foti ,  Assistant Registrar, Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of 

Ontario 

Colonel Jean-Pierre Picard, Royal Canadian Dental Corps. 
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1. CALL TO ORDER 

The Chair, Dr. Gi l l is, cal led the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.  

 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 The fol lowing i tems were added to the agenda: 

 

  Appointment of Auditor. 

  Location of CEO/Registrars’  conference, 2019 

 

  MOTION:  Daoust/O’Brien 

 

THAT the agenda of the meeting of December 7, 2018 be 

approved, as amended. 

CARRIED  

(Unanimously) 

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

The draft minutes of the CDRAF Board meeting of October 12, 2018 were 

provided to the CDRAF Board electronical ly for approval.  There were six 

responses of approval received and i t  was reported that the approved 

minutes would be posted on the CDRAF website. 

 

Some revisions were made to the minutes of the CDRAF member 

representat ives meeting of October 12, 2018 and they wi l l  be re-

circulated to the member representatives for approval electronical ly. 

 

4. BUSINESS ARISING 

 

 4.1 SmileClubDirect 

 This i tem was discussed at the CEO/Registrars’  conference and there 

was no further discussion. This i tem wil l  be tabled (change i tem name to 

Direct to Consumer Ini t iat ives). 

  

4.2 CDRAF Website 

Dr. Gerrow reported that the new and improved website is up and running 

and Ms. Daoust undertook to arrange for the French translat ion. He 
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asked Board members i f  they wished to have documents posted to the 

website, please forward them to him or Angie Sherban. 

 

4.3 Academic/Restr icted Licensure 

Dr. Gerrow reported that a teleconference meeting for the working group 

is being arranged for February/March 2019. 

 

4.4 CDAC Strategic Plan 

Mr. Duguay reported that the draft strategic plan would be circulated to 

DRAs/stakeholders for comment on Monday, December 10, 2018. 

 

4.5 CDAC Budget 

A teleconference meeting for the Registrars was held on November 16, 

2018. There was a ful l  discussion on the fee requested by CDAC of 

$22.71 per member. 

 

At the end of the cal l ,  Dr. Gi l l is,  Chair of the CDAC Finance Committee, 

was asked to table the budget pending further discussion by the 

provinces. The CDAC Finance Committee met on Sunday, November 18, 

and i t  was advised that there were concerns raised by some of the 

Registrars of the $22.17 fee. 

 

Dr. Gi l l is asked the CDRAF Board for i ts considerat ion of the proposed 

fee as i t  has considerable impact on the future work of CDAC. One 

suggestion was that the fee of $22.71 be paid at this t ime unt i l  the budget 

is sett led and look at changing i t  in the future.  

 

Mr. Fefergrad and Ms. Daoust advised that they could not commit to a 

decision at this t ime as both their Executive Committees had concerns 

with CDAC, part icular ly with respect to i ts current accreditat ion model,  

lack of disclosure of accreditat ion surveys/reports and i ts relat ionship 

with the Canadian Dental Association (CDA). He added that CDAC 

appears to have a surplus reserve of $525,000 and asked why that was 

not being used. I t  was noted that CDAC does not have a separate 

balance sheet and i ts f inances appear to be intertwined with CDA. 
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Both Mr. Fefergrad and Ms. Daoust advised Mr. Duguay that a meeting of 

the elected members of CDAC with the RCDSO and ODQ members would 

be a good idea. The next regular meeting of Counci l  wi l l  be in May 2019, 

but the Executive Committee si ts as Counci l  between meetings and would 

be wi l l ing to meet. Mr. Duguay undertook to propose meeting dates in the 

New Year and the ODQ would also be invited to the meeting. 

 

There was discussion on the value of accreditat ion si te visi ts,  under the 

current format in which they are conducted. I t  was also fel t  that results of 

the si te vis i ts should be made available to the regulators who have the 

ult imate responsibi l i ty for l icensure. 

 

4.6 National Recognit ion of Dental  Special ty 

I t  was reported that Dr. Gerrow and Dr. Hacker are working on a draft  

document. Dr. Gerrow wil l  be in Vancouver to meet with Dr. Hacker whi le 

he is there attending other meetings. They hoped to have a draft 

document for presentat ion to the CDRAF Board at i ts Apri l  10, 2019 

meeting. 

 

4.7 National Competency Standards for General Dentists 

Dr. Gerrow reported on the workshop held in Montreal on November 9-10, 

2018. I t  was a ful l  two days of discussion with the Association of 

Canadian Facult ies of Dentistry (ACFD), Commission on Dental 

Accreditat ion of Canada (CDAC), the National Dental Examining Board of 

Canada (NDEB), together with some registrars, the Royal Canadian 

Dental Corps and Canadian Dental Association. In conclusion, i t  was 

agreed to include consultat ion with the publ ic.   

 

I t  was faci l i tated by a workshop faci l i tator,  Dr. Laura Neumann. 

 

The purpose of the workshop was to develop a nat ional approach and 

competency document that would be agreeable by the dental  regulatory 

authori t ies and that would be used by ACFD, CDAC and NDEB for 

inclusion in their standards. 

 

During the workshop, i t  was identi f ied that there needed to be a publ ic 

focus. I t  was fel t  that there is importance in giving a voice to the publ ic 
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including ethnic minori t ies, Indigenous peoples, and persons with 

disabil i t ies.  

 

Mr. Fefergrad reported on the publ ic member symposium held in Toronto 

on November 14, 2018, co-chaired by Marianne Park and Françoise Rol l in 

from the L’Ordre des dentistes du Québec (ODQ). The RCDSO Patient 

Relat ions Committee wi l l  also be meeting in January 2019 and this wi l l  be 

an i tem on i ts agenda for discussion. 

 

Mr. Fefergrad reported on a study that the RCDSO and University of 

Toronto have part ic ipated in a content analysis of complaints made by the 

publ ic. He advised that the ful l  report of the f indings should be avai lable 

by the end of the year and he would share i t  with each province. He 

would also share the taxonomy template in the study that each province 

could use as they see f i t .  He expressed that some interest ing and 

somewhat surprising information resulted from the study. 

 

In conclusion, i t  was decided to work towards draft ing a document 

focused on the publ ic interest that describes the competencies that the 

dental regulatory authori t ies determine each newly- l icensed dentist  

requires to be a safe dental pract i t ioner. 

 

4.8 Royal Col lege of Dentists of Canada (RCDC) 

I t  was reported that Dr. Gi l l is and Dr. Gerrow had a meeting scheduled 

with representat ives from RCDC in Toronto on Saturday, December 8, 

2019. 

 

At i ts meeting on December 5, 2018, the Working Group decided that the 

RCDC should not continue to administer the National Dental Specialty 

Examination beyond 2019.  

 

CDRAF has lost confidence in RCDC administering the examination. Dr. 

Gi l l is wished to have assurance from the CDRAF Board members on the 

message he and Dr. Gerrow would del iver to RCDC at the meeting. He 

added that the strategy would be to inform RCDC that CDRAF does not 

wish RCDC to continue administering the examination and is looking at 
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other options. They would not elaborate on the detai ls of those opt ions 

being explored. 

 

Option A wi l l  be to ask NDEB to administer the NDSE examination with 

the consent of RCDC; however, RCDC would continue to administer the 

Fel lowship examinations, but the entry level examination needs to be 

administered by an organization where there is publ ic interest. 

 

Dr. Gerrow reported that he and Dr. Gi l l is met with Peter McCutcheon, 

Dr. Hugh Lamont and Dr. Lee McFadden of RCDC. 

 

They also met with NDEB regarding administrat ion of the examination, 

al though there were mult iple concerns expressed and i t  would only 

proceed i f  there is col legial  agreement from RCDC. 

 

Other opt ions that have been discussed include an examination simi lar to 

the RCDSO Practice Enhancement Tool (PET) and mentorship. Option A 

is the preferred option, i f  RCDC is agreeable to NDEB administer ing the 

examination. 

 

The governance of RCDC is also an issue and moving to NDEB would 

al low for publ ic input.  

 

The CDRAF Board was in agreement with the proposed strategy and 

messaging for Dr. Gi l l is and Dr. Gerrow to present to RCDC. They agreed 

to update the CDRAF Board on the results of the discussion fol lowing the 

meeting. 

 

 

5. CDRAF REPRESENTATIVES AND OBSERVERS OF OTHER MEETINGS 

 A l ist ing of upcoming stakeholder/external meetings with CDRAF 

representat ives was provided to the CDRAF Board for i ts information. 

 

 There was discussion on who wi l l  attend the CDA Annual General 

Meeting in Ottawa in Apri l .  I t  was agreed that the Chair,  Dr. Mart in Gil l is,  

wi l l  at tend. 
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 Dr. Chris Hacker offered to attend the ACFD Annual General Meeting in 

Vancouver on June 17-18, 2019. 

 

 The meeting schedule wil l  be revised accordingly. 

 

 

6. CDRAF BY-LAWS 

 The CDRAF By-Laws was provided for resource material .  

 

 

7. CDRAF STRATEGIC PLAN 2017-2020 

 The CDRAF strategic plan for 2017-2020 was provided for resource 

material .  

 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS 

  

8.1 Appointment of Auditor 

Dr. Gerrow reported that he received notice from CDRAF’s auditor,  

Deloi ttes LLP, that i t  would not be wi l l ing to cont inue audit ing service to 

CDRAF as the accounting is no longer done out of Toronto. 

 

He added that the accounting service in Ottawa wi l l  obtain two proposals 

from other audit ing f i rms and he would provide the information to the 

CDRAF Board for i ts approval electronical ly. He asked for a response 

from Registrars within two days i f  possible. I t  is ant icipated this 

information wi l l  be avai lable within two weeks. 

 

Board members asked for a synopsis of the f i rms and the fees they would 

be charging for the audit .  

 

Dr. Gerrow reported that the bookkeeper’s fee is $240.00 per month. 

 

 8.2 Location of CEO/Registrars’  Conference, 2019 

 At the end of the CEO/Registrars’  conference held on December 5-7, 

2018, the CDA and CDSPI announced that the 2019 conference would be 

held in New Orleans, LA, in December. The Executive Director of CDA 
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advised that a survey was sent to DRAs and PDAs to canvass their 

choices of locat ion, but some of the Registrars did not receive the 

survey.  

 

 The fol lowing Registrars advised that they would not be attending the 

2019 conference, given the opt ics of a Canadian nat ional meeting being 

held in the U.S.: 

 

 Carol ine Daoust,  Quebec 

 Irwin Fefergrad, Ontario 

 Mart in Gil l is,  Nova Scotia 

 Chris Hacker, Bri t ish Columbia 

 

 Paul O’Brien also supported the decision of those four provinces. 

 

 Besides having poor opt ions, a question was raised as to why are we 

support ing the U.S. economy at this t ime? 

 

 I t  was reported that the CEO/Registrars’  conference has been histor ical ly 

held in the U.S. as per the guidel ines establ ished several years ago. 

However, i t  was agreed that the guidel ines should be revised that would 

al low the meetings to be held in Canada. 

 

 2018 was the f i rst  year to have the conference in Canada and i t  was 

agreed i t  was successful . There was ful l  attendance, including the 

Associat ion des chirurgiens dentistes du Québec, who decl ined to attend 

in recent years. 

 

 After ful l  discussion, the CDRAF agreed that a strong statement should 

be made that i f  future CEO/Registrars conferences are held in the U.S.,  

the Registrars wi l l  not attend. I t  was recommended that future 

conferences be held in Canada to al low al l  Registrars to attend. 

 

 During the discussion, Claude Paul Boivin (CDA) and Jocelyn Johnston 

(Dental Association of Bri t ish Columbia) requested to meet with the 

CDRAF Board. 
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 Dr. Gi l l is welcomed them to the meeting. He reported that the CDRAF 

Board was pleased with the 2018 conference and asked them to 

reconsider the decision to hold the 2019 meeting in New Orleans.  

 

I t  was fel t  that there needs to be a new format for the conference and i t  

should be located anywhere in Canada. He added that Registrars from 

four provinces would defini tely not attend. As wel l ,  the representatives 

from CDRAF and CDAC would also not attend. 

 

 Mr. Boivin and Ms. Johnston agreed that the 2018 conference was both 

col legial  and informative and there was great enthusiasm to maintain the 

relat ionship. They suggested a working group be struck with two 

members from each of the DRAs and PDAs to look at a new approach for 

future conferences. They advised that they would proceed with organizing 

the 2019 conference in New Orleans. 

 

 I t  was agreed that Jack Gerrow and Mart in Gil l is would be the CDRAF 

representat ives on the joint working group to try and establ ish a new 

approach for future CEO/Registrars’  conferences. 

 

  

9. NEXT MEETINGS 

 There was discussion on where to hold the CDRAF meetings for 2019, 

and the fol lowing arrangements were agreed upon: 

 

(a) Friday, February 8, 2019 – RCDSO off ice, 6 Crescent Road, Toronto 

  The Working Group on Alternatives to RCDC wil l  meet in the 

morning. 

 

(b) Saturday, February 9, 2019 – RCDSO off ice, 6 Crescent Road, 

Toronto 

  The CDRAF Board meeting wi l l  be held at 8:30 am unti l   

2:00 pm. 

 

(c) Wednesday, Apri l  10, 2019 – NDEB Boardroom (tentat ive),  Ottawa 

  The CDRAF Board meeting wi l l  be held at 8:30 am unti l  3:30 

pm. 
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(d) Thursday, August 22 and Friday, August 23, 2019, St.  Johns, NF, 

(Venue to be arranged, possibly Delta Hotel) .  

  The CDRAF Board meeting wi l l  be held on two days from 8:30am to 

3:30pm each day. 

 

(e) Friday, October 18, 2019, RCDSO off ice, 6 Crescent Road, Toronto 

  CDRAF Member Representat ives meeting at 8:30am to 11:30am. 

  CDRAF Board member meeting, 12:30pm to 4:30pm. 

 

( f) There wi l l  not be a meeting scheduled in December. 

 

   

10. ADJOURNMENT 

 There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 2:55 p.m. 

 

 

 

AMS:853033  



 

CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 

Saturday, February 9, 2019 

RCDSO Off ices, 6 Crescent Road, Toronto, ON  M4W 1T1 

             

            

A meeting of the CDRAF Board of Directors took place on Saturday, February 9, 

2019 at 8:30 a.m. 

 

PARTICIPANTS: 

Dr. Randal l  Croutze, Chief Executive Off icer,  Alberta Dental  Associat ion and 

Col lege 

Ms. Carol ine Daoust,  Directr ice générale et secretaire, L’Ordre des dentistes du 

Québec 

Dr. Mart in Gil l is,  Registrar,  (CDRAF Chair) Provincial  Dental  Board of Nova 

Scotia 

Mr. Dan Leger, Registrar, (CDRAF Vice-Chair) New Brunswick Dental Society 

Dr. Patt i  Ling, Registrar,  Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Chris Hacker, Registrar,  Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Bri t ish Columbia 

Dr. Maurice Coady, Registrar,  (CDRAF Treasurer),  Dental Counci l  of Prince 

Edward Island 

 

STAFF: 

Dr. Jack Gerrow, CDRAF Executive Director 

Ms. Angie Sherban, CDRAF Executive Assistant 

 

REGRETS: 

Mr. Irwin Fefergrad, Registrar,  Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Paul O’Brien, Registrar, Newfoundland and Labrador Dental  Board 

Dr. Bernie White, Registrar, Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Saskatchewan 

 

OBSERVERS: 

Dr. Paul Al l ison, President, Association of Canadian Facult ies of Dentistry 

Mr. Frédéric Duguay, Director, Commission on Dental Accreditat ion of Canada 

Ms. Andréa Foti ,  Assistant Registrar, Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of 

Ontario 

Dr. Doug Mackey, Past-President,  National Dental Examining Board of Canada 

Dr. Kirk Preston, Board representative, New Brunswick Dental Society 
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1. CALL TO ORDER 

The Chair, Dr. Gi l l is, cal led the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m.  

 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 The fol lowing i tem was added to the agenda: 

 

  Regional Licensing 

 

  MOTION:  Daoust/Ling 

 

THAT the agenda of the meeting of February 9, 2019 be 

approved, as amended. 

CARRIED  

(Unanimously) 

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

(a) CDRAF Board Meeting – December 7, 2018 

The draft minutes of the CDRAF Board meeting of December 7, 2018 

were provided to the CDRAF Board electronical ly for approval,  but only 

four responses were received at that t ime. A typographical error was 

identi f ied on page 8 of the draft  minutes and the Board unanimously 

approved them (as amended). The minutes wi l l  be posted on the CDRAF 

website. 

 

 MOTION:  Coady/Croutze 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board meeting minutes of December 7, 2018 

be approved, as amended.  

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

(b) Appointment of Auditor 

I t  was reported that there was unanimous approval to appoint the auditor,  

Hendry Warren, for the f iscal year through December 31, 2018. This was 

obtained through a mail  vote on December 18, 2018. 
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4. BUSINESS ARISING 

 

 4.1 Royal Col lege of Dentists of Canada (RCDC) 

 Dr. Gi l l is referred to the materials circulated in the Board meeting 

resources. 

  

 He reported that he and Dr. Gerrow met with the RCDC Counci l  in 

Toronto on Saturday, December 8, 2018 and proposed that there be a 

new beginning for the National Dental Special ty Examination (NDSE). On 

behalf  of the working group and CDRAF Board, they requested that RCDC 

communicate with the National Dental Examining Board of Canada 

(NDEB) to transfer the responsibi l i ty of the NDSE to NDEB.  

 

 On December 21, 2018, CDRAF received a letter from Dr. Hugh Lamont, 

Chair,  RCDC Board of RCDC, conf irming that RCDC would begin 

consultat ion with NDEB respecting the provision of NDSE. The CDRAF 

Board was encouraged by Dr. Lamont’s response. CDRAF sent 

acknowledgement letters to RCDC and NDEB which conf irmed that 

CDRAF would assist in any way i t  could to help this process. 

 

 CDRAF received a letter from NDEB President Dr. Dennis Fuchs dated 

February 5, 2019, expressing concerns with the concept of NDEB 

assuming the responsibi l i ty for the NDSE. Furthermore, NDEB expressed 

the opinion that RCDC should continue to administer the NDSE. 

 

Dr. Doug Mackey, Past NDEB President, was present and was informed 

by mult iple members of the CDRAF Board that the current process of 

RCDC administering NDSE has to change. Ms. Foti advised that the 

RCDSO Executive Committee had been adamant in giving f i rm direct ion 

to look at al ternative options to RCDC administer ing the NDSE. 

 

 Dr. Mackey apologized for the confusion and tone of the letter of 

February 5, 2019 and acknowledged that i t  lacked clari ty. He stated that 

NDEB is not looking to take on an examination process. He stated that 

this ini t iat ive was not included in the recent NDEB strategic plan, but that 

NDEB is wi l l ing to work towards an agreement. 
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 Dr. Mackey reported that there are rumours NDEB is administering the 

examination in 2020. He stated that such rumours are i l l - founded 

part icularly with no agreement to develop an agreement.  

  

 Dr. Gi l l is rei terated CDRAF’s offer of assistance. Dr. Mackey thanked 

CDRAF and stated that assistance may be required at a later date. 

 

Mr. McCutcheon cautioned CDRAF that i t  may take several years for a 

new organization to bui ld an examination that RCDC has been 

administering for the past 15 years. I t  may not be feasible to put i t  in 

place as quickly as CDRAF would l ike. 

 

Dr. Mackey asked CDRAF i f  i t  would reconsider i ts decision and have 

RCDC continue, but he was told this was not an option. Ms. Foti  advised 

that the RCDSO Executive Committee had been adamant in giving f i rm 

direct ion to look at al ternative options to RCDC administering the NDSE. 

 

 NDEB was asked and agreed to put together a prel iminary plan for 

presentat ion to the CDRAF Board at i ts meeting in Ottawa on Apri l  10, 

2019. 

 

RCDC has advised that i t  wi l l  administer the examination for 2019, but 

there was discussion on what i t  would take to br idge those years unt i l  

another examination is developed. I t  was agreed that the CDRAF Working 

Group would discuss this further at i ts meeting fol lowing the CDRAF 

Board meeting and report back to the NDEB. 

 

I t  was suggested that CDRAF meet with Dr. Marie Dagenais and the 

NDEB Finance Committee. Dr. Gerrow undertook to contact Dr. Dagenais 

to arrange for the meeting. 

 

  4.2 Report on Meeting of RCDSO/ODQ/CDAC, January 19, 2019 

Dr. Gi l l is reported that this meeting was held in Montreal on Saturday, 

January 19, 2019. Attendees included: Irwin Fefergrad, Andréa Foti ,  

Flavio Turchet, Marianne Park (RCDSO), Carol ine Daoust, Barry Dolman, 

Alain Boisvert, Françoise Rol l in, Veronique Gagnon, Véronic Deschênes 

(ODQ), Frédéric Duguay and Amarj i t  Rihal (CDAC), Mart in Gi l l is and Jack 

Gerrow. 
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The meeting was arranged to address concerns that ODQ and RCDSO 

raised, in part icular, concerning the accreditat ion process, CDAC’s 

governance structure, and relat ionship between CDAC and CDA. 

 

Dr. Gi l l is stated that i t  was a col legial  meeting and two of the outcomes 

from the meeting were suggestions to form two joint CDRAF/CDAC 

working groups: one to review the governance structure; and the second 

working group to review the current processes for accreditat ion, si te 

visi ts and international reciprocal agreements and to look at ways to 

enhance them for more eff ic iency. 

 

As a result  of progress made during that meeting, RCDSO and ODQ 

agreed that i t  would be wi l l ing to fund $15.00 per member to CDAC for 

2019 on the understanding that further funding could be considered in the 

future when CDAC del ivered on certain ini t iat ives. 

 

The CDRAF Board was asked to confirm the formation of two working 

groups as detai led above. 

 

 MOTION:  Daoust/Croutze 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approves the formation of a joint 

working group with CDAC to review governance. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

The next meeting of this working group was tentatively scheduled on the 

afternoon of Tuesday, Apri l  9,  2019 in Ottawa. 

 

 MOTION: Ling/Daoust 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approves the formation of a joint 

working group with CDAC to review CDAC’s accreditation 

process. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 
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Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia, Manitoba, Bri t ish Columbia and Alberta 

wished to be included on the working groups. Dr. Gerrow undertook to 

check with Dr. White and Dr. O’Brien to see i f  they wished to be included. 

 

For the second working group, Presidents and publ ic members wi l l  be 

included. The f i rst  meeting of this working group is scheduled in Montreal 

on Saturday, March 2, 2019. 

 

The CDRAF Board was asked to approve the prel iminary payment of 

$15.00 per member per province for the CDAC grant for 2019 on the 

understanding that further funding may be released at a later date. 

 

 MOTION: Daoust/Ling 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approves payment of $15.00 per 

member per province to CDAC for the 2019 grant. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

CDAC was asked to issue invoices to each of the DRAs in the amount of 

$15.00 per member. 

 

4.3 National Competency Standards for General Dentists 

Ms. Foti  reported that one of the major outcomes from the workshop held 

on November 9-10, 2018 was the acknowledgement of publ ic input 

required for competency standards. RCDSO volunteered to organize a 

meeting of i ts Patient Relat ions Committee to meet with some publ ic 

members from ODQ and RCDSO for a brainstorming session on 

competencies and to develop a consultat ion framework. Any template 

developed could be shared with other provinces to perform their own 

consultat ion. A meeting has been arranged for March 13, 2019 in 

Toronto. 

 

Based on the feedback from publ ic members at that meeting, Ms. Foti  wi l l  

prepare materials for disseminat ion to the working group that attended 

the workshop. 
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The CDRAF Board agreed that i t  is important to include publ ic input, 

part icularly from under-represented groups, for example, Indigenous 

peoples, ethnic minori ty and people with disabi l i t ies. 

 

Dr. Gerrow was invited to attend the meeting on March 13, 2019, but he 

had to decl ine because of another commitment. 

 

Dr. Gerrow was asked i f  the working group could continue with i ts 

development of competencies before the results of the publ ic 

consultat ions are received. He thought i t  was the intent ion of the working 

group to wait for the information from the publ ic. 

 

4.4 CDRAF/ACFD Joint Working Group on Academic Licensure 

Dr. Gi l l is reported that the f i rst meeting of this joint working group was 

held by teleconference on February 7, 2019. There was discussion on the 

concerns that dental schools are experiencing with regard to academic 

l icensing. I t  appears to di f fer from province to province. 

 

Dr. Al l ison asked DRAs to provide him with information on the l icensing 

status in each province that wi l l  be col lated and brought back to a future 

meeting. 

 

4.5 Working Group re CEO/Registrars’  Conference 

Dr. Gerrow reminded the CDRAF Board that at the 2018 conference, a 

joint working group of CDRAF and CDA was struck to look at the process 

for determining future locations of the CEO/Registrars’  conferences. The 

working group is comprised of Claude Paul Boivin and Jocelyn Johnson 

(PDA representatives) and Mart in Gi l l is and Jack Gerrow (CDRAF 

representat ives).  A teleconference meeting was postponed, but wi l l  be 

rescheduled in due course. 

 

4.6 Direct to Consumer Ini t iat ives 

The CDRAF Board discussed an email  message that was sent to them via 

Dr. Ling. The email  included a Release form from the SmileDirectClub. 

 

Board members agreed that the information requested by SmileDirectClub 

could impact l icensees. I t  was suggested that the Release form be shared 

with DRAs’ Counci ls/Boards to get feedback on how to deal with i t  with 
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respect to messaging to members. I t  was fel t  that i t  would be more 

appropriate for dent ists to release records to pat ients direct ly. 

 

Ms. Foti  reported that the RCDSO has been contacted by the President of 

SmileDirectClub and asked for a meeting with the Registrar. The RCDSO 

Executive Committee felt  that there would be value in a meeting in order 

to f ind out more information on SmileDirectClub’s business model.  The 

meeting has been arranged for early March and she advised that any 

information obtained would be shared with the other DRAs. She also 

offered to share any legal opinion that has been received. 

 

Ms. Foti  also reported that the RCDSO is looking at the role of tele-

dentistry and the Qual i ty Assurance Committee has been asked to 

consider developing a standard. 

 

Ms. Foti  undertook to consult with col leagues in the medical profession 

for information on virtual care. 

 

4.7 Restr ict ive Permits (ACFD)  

This was discussed in i tem 4.4. 

 

4.8 Engl ish Prof iciency Assessment (NDEB)  

There were no updates at this t ime.  

 

4.9 Review of Equivalency Process (NDEB)  

There were no updates at this t ime.  

 

4.10 Guidel ines on Sedation 

Ms. Foti  reported that the RCDSO’s Guidel ines on Sedation are now 

f inal ized and posted on the Col lege’s website. 

 

Dr. Croutze reported that the ADA+C Guidel ines should be avai lable in 

September. 

 

Dr. Gerrow asked DRAs to provide their Sedation guidel ines to him/Angie 

to col late and they wi l l  be included in the resource materials for the 

August 2019 meeting. 
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4.11 National Recognit ion of Dental  Special ty 

Dr. Hacker reported that he and Dr. Gerrow are scheduled to meet with 

the CDSBC Executive off icers in early Apri l .  In 2018, the CDSBC 

undertook to present to the CDRAF Board a revised process and Dr. 

Hacker hoped to have a draft document ready for the Apri l  10 Board 

meeting for input and then bring a f inal copy to the August meeting for 

approval.  

 

 

5. CDRAF REPRESENTATIVES AND OBSERVERS OF OTHER MEETINGS 

 A l ist ing of upcoming stakeholder/external meetings with CDRAF 

representat ives was provided to the CDRAF Board for information 

purposes. 

 

  

6. CDRAF BY-LAWS 

 The CDRAF By-Laws was provided for resource material .  

 

 

7. CDRAF STRATEGIC PLAN 2017-2020 

 The CDRAF strategic plan for 2017-2020 was provided for resource 

material .  

 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS 

  

8.1 Regional Licensing 

 Dr. Gi l l is referred to a news art ic le he circulated ent i t led “Atlant ic Canada 

could lead effort  to ease mobi l i ty for doctors, nurses between provinces.” 

The Premiers in each of the four At lantic Provinces are cal l ing for 

common l icensing for doctors, nurses and other health professionals that 

would al low them to move more easi ly between provinces as a way of 

addressing access to care issues. 

 

 Dr. Gi l l is advised that the Federation of Medical Regulatory Authori t ies of 

Canada (FMRAC) has been looking at this matter for some ten years and 

that this is an issue being addressed by the Nova Scotia Regulated 

Health Professions Network which is comprised of the 26 health 

regulators in Nova Scotia. 
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 The CDRAF Board discussed how this might impact portabi l i ty across the 

country. 

 

 CDRAF Board members were asked to bring any information they may 

have on this issue for further discussion at the Apri l  10 Board meeting. 

Ms. Foti  undertook to obtain information from FMRAC and pol icies from 

the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO). 

 

 

9. NEXT MEETINGS 

 The next CDRAF Board meeting wil l  be held at the Lord Elgin Hotel in 

Ottawa on Wednesday, Apri l  10, 2019. 

 

 The CDRAF Board meeting on August 22-23, 2019 wil l  be held in St.  

John’s, NL (venue to be conf irmed). I t  is antic ipated that on the second 

day of the meeting, the provincial  dental associat ions wi l l  be invited to 

attend in place of the usual CEO/Registrars’  conference format. 

  

 The 2019 CEO/Registrars’  conference has been scheduled in New 

Orleans, LA. Dr. Gerrow reminded the Board of the decision by Ontario, 

Quebec, Nova Scotia, Newfoundland and Bri t ish Columbia not to attend 

because the locat ion of the meeting is outside of Canada. 

 

 The CDRAF Board meeting and member representat ives meeting wil l  be 

held at the RCDSO Off ices in Toronto on October 11, 2019. 

 

 

10. CORRESPONDENCE 

  

(a) NDEB Judicial  Reviews  

The CDRAF Board was provided with the fol lowing judicial  reviews for 

information: 

o  Dr. Kamyar Arizadeh vs NDEB, June 26, 2017 

o  Dr. Mark Ibrahim vs NDEB, January 8, 2019 

o  Dr. Hao (Hol ly) Wan vs NDEB, January 11, 2019 

o  Dr. Benjamin Kabir i  vs NDEB, November 6, 2018 

o  Sher Fazl i  vs NDEB (Human Rights Tribunal of Ontario),   

      September 8, 2014 
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(b) Canadian Dental Special t ies Associat ion (CDSA) 

Dr. Gerrow and Dr. Gi l l is received an invitat ion from the President of 

CDSA, Dr. Frank Hohn, to attend i ts Annual General Meeting in Ottawa 

on Apri l  11, 2019. Dr. Hohn stated that CDSA was interested in learning 

more about proposed changes to the administrat ion of the National 

Dental  Specialty Examination.  

 

I t  was reported that NDEB and RCDC have also received invi tat ions to 

attend. Mr. McCutcheon fel t  i t  would be beneficial  to have a joint 

statement from CDRAF, NDEB and RCDC for CDSA. RCDC and NDEB 

agreed to prepare a draft  joint statement for the meeting. 

 

The CDRAF Board members agreed that Dr. Gerrow and Dr. Gi l l is attend 

the meeting on behalf  of CDRAF. 

 

 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:55 

a.m. 

  MOTION:  Ling 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board meeting of February 9, 2019 be 

adjourned. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 
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CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 

Wednesday, Apri l  10, 2019 

Lord Elgin Hotel,  MacDonald Room, 100 Elgin Street, Ottawa, ON 

             

            

A meeting of the CDRAF Board of Directors took place on Wednesday, Apri l  10, 

2019 at 10:40 a.m. 

 

PARTICIPANTS: 

Dr. Maurice Coady, Registrar,  (CDRAF Treasurer),  Dental Counci l  of Prince 

Edward Island 

Dr. Randal l  Croutze, Chief Executive Off icer,  Alberta Dental  Associat ion and 

Col lege 

Ms. Carol ine Daoust,  Directr ice générale et secretaire, L’Ordre des dentistes du 

Québec 

Mr. Irwin Fefergrad, Registrar,  Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Mart in Gil l is,  Registrar,  (CDRAF Chair) Provincial  Dental  Board of Nova 

Scotia 

*Dr. Chris Hacker, Registrar, College of Dental  Surgeons of Bri t ish Columbia 

Mr. Dan Leger, Registrar, (CDRAF Vice-Chair) New Brunswick Dental Society 

Dr. Patt i  Ling, Registrar,  Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Paul O’Brien, Registrar, Newfoundland and Labrador Dental  Board 

 

STAFF: 

Dr. Jack Gerrow, CDRAF Executive Director 

Ms. Angie Sherban, CDRAF Executive Assistant 

 

REGRETS: 

Dr. Bernie White, Registrar, Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Saskatchewan 

 

OBSERVERS: 

Dr. Paul Al l ison, President, Association of Canadian Facult ies of Dentistry 

Dr. Marie Dagenais, Registrar/Executive Director,  National Dental Examining 

Board of Canada 

Dr. Barry Dolman, President,  L’Ordre des dentistes du Québec 

Mr. Frédéric Duguay, Director, Commission on Dental Accreditat ion of Canada 
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Ms. Andréa Foti ,  Assistant Registrar, Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of 

Ontario 

Dr. Dennis Fuchs, President, National Dental  Examining Board of Canada 

Dr. Hugh Lamont, Chair,  Royal Col lege of Dentists of Canada 

Dr. Doug Mackey, Past-President,  National Dental Examining Board of Canada 

*Dr. Peter McCutcheon, Executive Director, Royal Col lege of Dentists of 

Canada 

Dr. Amarj i t  Rihal, President,  Commission on Dental Accreditat ion of Canada 

 

*Part ic ipated via teleconference 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

The Chair, Dr. Gi l l is, cal led the meeting to order at 10:30 a.m.  

 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 The agenda was approved, as circulated: 

 

  MOTION #1:  Coady/O’Brien 

 

THAT the agenda of the meeting of April  10, 2019 be approved, 

as circulated. 

CARRIED  

(Unanimously) 

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

CDRAF Board Meeting – February 9, 2019 

 

 MOTION #2:  Daoust/Croutze 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board meeting minutes of February 9, 2019 be 

approved, as circulated.  

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

Dr. Gerrow reminded Board members that the draft  minutes of meetings 

are sent out electronical ly for approval. He encouraged Board members 

to respond electronical ly with their comments/approval. 
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4. BUSINESS ARISING 

 

 4.1 Working Group to Explore Alternatives to RCDC 

 Dr. Gi l l is reported on the work of the Working Group to Explore 

Alternatives to RCDC to-date. 

 

 He added that the Working Group met earl ier that morning before the 

CDRAF Board meeting for a robust and ful l  discussion on which direct ion 

to recommend. The RCDC has agreed to continue administering the 

National Dental Special ty Examination (NDSE) for 2019. The Working 

Group considered several opt ions that graduates could uti l ize start ing in 

2020 and decided that the group would recommend that mult iple 

pathways be considered as equivalent to the NDSE beginning in 2020. 

 

Pathways to Cert i f icat ion for Graduates of Accredited Special ty 

Programs: 

  RCDC examination 

  A capstone examination administered in a course in the program. 

  Mentorship/  programme de stages 

  U.S. Special ty Board examination. 

 

The RCDC and U.S. Boards examinations are already in place providing 

that RCDC continues to offer an examination.  

 

A “programme de stages” is currently in place for general dentists in 

Quebec and ODQ is considering implementing one for special ists.  

 

A capstone examination is a comprehensive examination process 

administered during an educational program. The intent of the 

examination is to ensure that the residents consol idate al l  of the content 

in the program by examining material  from al l  courses in al l  years. The 

capstone examination must be included in a course in the program and 

should include input from special ists who are external to the program. 

Supplemental examinations must be avai lable in accordance with the 

insti tut ion’s pol ic ies. 

 

The next steps wi l l  be for DRAs in each jur isdict ion with a Dental  Faculty 

to have conversations with the Deans with respect to developing and 



 
CDRAF BOARD 
Minutes 
April 10, 2019 
Page 4 
 

 

providing capstone examinations in the special ty programs offered by 

their Faculty.  This wi l l  need to take place within the fol lowing month. 

 

Fol lowing those discussions, a teleconference meeting wi l l  be arranged 

with the Registrars to report on the feedback from the dental facult ies. A 

formal wri t ten request for revisions to the Accreditat ion Standards wil l  

then be made to CDAC and Program Directors wi l l  be informed. CDRAF 

wil l  also ask CDAC to request that CODA revise their Standards to 

include a capstone examination. 

 

I t  was reported that the Associat ion of Canadian Facult ies of Dentistry 

(ACFD) wil l  be holding i ts Annual General Meeting in Vancouver in June. 

To that end, Dr. Gi l l is advised that a number of CDRAF Board members 

would l ike to attend the Deans Committee meeting at that t ime and he   

asked Dr. Al l ison i f  CDRAF could be included on the agenda to discuss 

this and other issues. Dr. Al l ison agreed.  

 

Individual DRAs wi l l  develop a process for l icensure/registrat ion of dental 

special ists in their jur isdict ion. There wil l  be portabi l i ty through the 

Agreement on Internal Trade (AIT). 

 

Dr. Lamont asked i f  the RCDC examination referred to was for an oral or 

wri t ten examination. Dr. Gi l l is conf irmed that RCDC could determine the 

most appropriate examination format. 

 

Graduates from non-accredited programs, wi l l  st i l l  be required to take the 

Dental Specialty Core Knowledge Examination (DSCKE), a Dental  

Special ty Assessment and Training Program (DSATP) and one of a 

capstone examination, RCDC examination or U.S. Boards Examination.  

 

Mr. McCutcheon commented that the RCDC examination and the U.S. 

Boards examination are not equivalent and he asked what assurance 

there would be that everyone has the same level of qual i f icat ions. He 

asked i f  the publ ic interest has been taken into account. 

 

Ms. Foti  explained that the capstone examination would test the key 

requirements of the specif ic dental programs. There wi l l  be basic cri ter ia 

set and eventual ly there wil l  be consistency across the country. 
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Since dif ferent provinces have di fferent perspectives of this issue, 

CDRAF is not prepared to deny individual regulators what they would l ike 

to have as an examination. There are some provinces who are in favour 

of a number of al ternatives.  

 

There were many questions raised by the third-party providers on the 

suggested pathways, and how they wi l l  be accepted by the Fairness 

Commissioners. 

 

Dr. Al l ison agreed that i t  is good to look at di f ferent models to gain 

competencies, but he fel t  i t  is important to have an evaluat ion of the 

outcome. 

 

 MOTION #3:  Fefergrad/Croutze 

 

THAT CDRAF move forward with the multiple pathway model for 

the certification of dental specialists: 

 

  Royal College of Dentists of Canada (RCDC) 

  Capstone examination process 

  U.S. Boards examination 

  Mentorship model. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

Ms. Daoust noted that some of the opt ions may not be possible in some 

provinces because of legislat ive requirements. For example, she added 

that the U.S. Boards examinations wi l l  not be acceptable in Quebec. The 

L’Ordre des dentistes du Québec indicated that they wi l l  develop one 

option init ial ly. 

 

Dr. Dolman emphasized that the RCDC examination would not be an 

option in Quebec. In Quebec, the number of dental special ists going 

through the programs wi l l  be small  and the mentorship program would be 

a good opt ion, given the experience with the Quebec/France Accord.  

 

Al l  provinces agreed that once they registered/l icensed as a special ist  in 

any province, an individual would then be portable to any other province 

no matter which pathway they used ini t ial ly. 
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 MOTION #4:  O’Brien/Fefergrad 

 

THAT CDRAF requests CDAC to set basic cr i teria and procedures 

for the establ ishment of a capstone examination. 

 

There was discussion on whether or not to send this request to CDAC 

before the meeting with the Deans and Program Directors. Dr. Rihal 

advised that CDAC would require the request in wri t ing from CDRAF for 

consideration at CDAC’s Annual General Meeting in November. The 

request would be circulated to al l  stakeholders then the Documentat ion 

Committee would consider the request pr ior to the AGM. 

 

The CDRAF Board agreed to table Motion #4 at this t ime pending the 

outcome of the discussion with the Deans Committee.  

 

Mr. Duguay suggested that proposed draft amendments to CDAC’s 

Accreditat ion Requirements be sent to CDAC for comment before sending 

the f inal request. 

 

  4.2 Joint CDRAF/CDAC Working Group re Governance 

Dr. Gi l l is reminded the CDRAF Board of i ts motion to establ ish two joint 

Working Groups with CDAC: one Working Group was to review CDAC’s 

governance structure and one was to review CDAC’s accreditat ion 

process. I t  was recommended that the two Working Groups be combined 

into one and this was agreed to by the CDRAF Board. 

 

 MOTION #5:  Ling/Daoust 

 

THAT the joint CDRAF/CDAC Working Group on Governance 

and the joint CDRAF/CDAC Working Group on Accreditation be 

combined into one Working Group. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

Ms. Daoust reported on the work of the joint CDRAF/CDAC Working 

Group meetings on Governance and Accreditat ion to-date. 
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At the meeting of March 2, 2019, CDRAF met with CDAC and i t  was 

understood that CDAC would make accreditat ion reports avai lable to the 

DRAs. She advised that CDAC undertook to provide the reports by March 

12. However, on March 12 CDRAF received a message from CDAC to the 

effect that the Dental Facult ies were not wi l l ing to release the reports.  

 

During a recent meeting of the Deans, there was discussion and concerns 

around why the DRAs were request ing the reports. 

 

In some provinces, Registrars had conversations with Deans in their 

provinces to clari fy the reason for requesting the reports. I t  was agreed 

that a meeting with al l  the Deans wi l l  be necessary in order to provide 

clari f ication. 

 

Ms. Daoust expressed frustrat ion with the response from CDAC after 

attending three meetings where del ivery of the reports was discussed and 

agreed to. Subsequently,  during a teleconference meeting of the 

Registrars, two provinces (Ontario and Quebec) agreed to withhold 

paying fees to CDAC for 2019 pending receipt of the reports. 

 

Mr. Fefergrad reported that he met with the Dean of the Faculty of 

Dentistry, Universi ty of Toronto on March 21 and was told that the f i rst  

t ime he learned of the request from CDAC for the reports was on March 

7. This was some t ime after CDAC advised that the dental Facult ies were 

agreeable. 

 

The Dean had many questions about the reason why DRAs required the 

reports, but eventual ly understood and offered to provide a summary. I t  

was understood that i f  the Fairness Commissioner of Ontario required a 

copy of the ful l  report,  the Faculty would comply. Mr. Fefergrad rei terated 

again that accreditat ion and CDAC are cr i t ical  and that Ontario has 

always been in favour and support ive of accreditat ion. 

 

Dr. Rihal apologized for the miscommunication and assumed 

responsibi l i ty for the confusion. He advised that CDAC has had 

subsequent conversat ions with the Deans with regard to sharing the 

accreditat ion reports. He advised that CDAC has spoken with eight of the 

ten Deans and most Deans have said they are agreeable to sharing the 

reports (or summaries) with their own DRA. 



 
CDRAF BOARD 
Minutes 
April 10, 2019 
Page 8 
 

 

 

CDAC was arranging a teleconference meeting with the Deans of the 

Quebec dental facult ies within a few days. 

 

Dr. Rihal added that this is not a CDAC issue and in some cases, i t  is 

already common practice to share the reports with the DRA. 

 

Dr. Rihal reported that eight of the ten DRAs have paid their 2019 fees to 

CDAC; however, without payment from Ontario and Quebec, CDAC does 

not have suff ic ient funds to cont inue i ts work. 

 

Dr. Al l ison agreed that there had been a misunderstanding and 

miscommunication. I t  may have been more appropriate for the DRAs to 

contact the Deans directly for the reports instead of via CDAC. The 

Deans received a request for the reports in March and expressed the 

fol lowing concerns: 

 

1. The accreditat ion reports may not be current and up-to-date. 

2. Issues of conf idential i ty and discomfort of reports being posted on 

publ ic websites. 

3. There is a lot of documentation leading up to reports, as wel l  as 

fol low-up fol lowing the si te visi ts. 

4. He asked why observers attending si te visi ts sent by DRAs do not 

report back on the results of the si te surveys. Dr. Al l ison was told 

this was not possible because of a Confidential i ty Agreement 

between CDAC and the observer. 

 

Dr. Rihal understood the need for DRAs to receive the reports. Dr. 

Dolman asked for a commitment from CDAC that DRAs would receive the 

complete reports. CDAC decl ined to give that commitment. 

 

Dr. Al l ison suggested a meeting with the Deans via Zoom 

videoconferencing in order to expedite the meeting instead of wait ing for 

the Deans Committee meeting in June. He was thanked for the offer, but 

i t  was fel t  that a meeting in person would be more beneficial .  

 

Fol lowing a brief lunch break, the meeting reconvened at 1:10 p.m. 
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Mr. Fefergrad reported that he was asked by Dr. Al l ison to have an ACFD 

Deans Committee representat ive on the joint CDRAF/CDAC Working 

Group as an observer. The CDRAF Board was in agreement with an 

ACFD representative being included. Dr. Al l ison asked for CDRAF to 

send him an off ic ial  request in wri t ing, together with motion/mandate of 

the Working Group and a schedule of meeting dates. Mr. Fefergrad said 

that ACFD would be advised of meeting dates, but no future dates had 

been scheduled. 

 

Dr. Rihal addressed the CDRAF Board. He stated that in November 2018, 

DRAs were asked for $22.71 per member per province as a 2019 fee for 

CDAC to have a balanced budget. After much discussion, DRAs agreed to 

pay $15.00 per member per province. He added that 8 provinces have 

paid their 2019 fees; Ontario and Quebec have advised their intention to 

withhold funding pending receipt of the accreditat ion reports. 

 

He advised that i f  the funds from Ontario and Quebec are paid, CDAC wil l  

st i l l  have a defici t  of $150,000 at the end of the year. There is a reserve 

amount of $165,000. Current ly,  with the funds from the other 8 provinces 

there wi l l  be a net loss of $67,000. Dr. Rihal oral ly confirmed that in 

order to maintain regular act ivi ty for the rest of the year, CDAC requires 

$67,000.  

 

Dr. Rihal added that i f  $15.00 funding per member from Ontario and 

Quebec is not received by CDAC by Wednesday, Apri l  17, 2019 

accreditat ion for dent istry would be shut down. 

 

Mr. Fefergrad and Ms. Daoust advised that because CDAC did not del iver 

what i t  promised, their respect ive Executive Committees withheld the 

funds. 

 

The DRAs agreed that i t  wi l l  be important to have a meeting with the 

Deans as soon as possible for discussion on releasing the accreditat ion 

reports. Dr. Al l ison undertook to faci l i tate a face to face meeting as 

quickly as possible, with those Deans unable to attend in person 

part ic ipate via teleconference. 
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Ms. Daoust asked Dr. Rihal i f  CDAC would release the reports i f  the 

Deans do not give their permission to share. Dr. Rihal would not agree to 

share the reports without the Deans’ permission. 

 

Dr. Gi l l is stated that i t  would not be possible to provide the addit ional 

funds to CDAC by Apri l  17. There was discussion with the DRAs on 

bridge funding. 

 

Dr. Fuchs and Dr. Dagenais stated that the National Dental Examining 

Board of Canada (NDEB) would be wil l ing to faci l i tate gap funding, 

pending approval from the NDEB Board. 

 

Dr. Coady suggested provinces paying the balance of $8.00 per member 

per province (the difference between $22.71 per member and $15.00 per 

member that was paid). 

 

The third-party providers, ACFD, RCDC and CDAC were asked to leave 

the room for in-camera  discussion. The representat ives from NDEB 

remained in the meeting. Dr. Gerrow left the meeting as wel l .  

 

IN-CAMERA 
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Dr. Gerrow returned to the meeting. 

 

  

  Fol lowing lunch, the meeting resumed in open session. 

 

Dr. Gi l l is reported to CDAC the outcome of the Board discussion and the 

motion made to provide $67,000 on a per capita basis to CDAC to cover 

i ts shortfal l  and in order for i t  to continue i ts work unti l  the end of the 

year. 

 

  MOTION #6:  Ling/O’Brien 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board will  provide $67,000 on a per capita 

basis to CDAC and future funding will  be considered when 

survey reports are made available, concrete progress on 

separation from the Canadian Dental Association has been 

made and a detailed line-by-line budget are provided. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

He advised that,  in addit ion to provision of the accreditat ion reports 

(summaries or otherwise), the CDRAF Board also requires a detai led l ine-

by-l ine budget from CDAC, and concrete progress on separat ion from the 

Canadian Dental Association. 

 

Fai lure to provide this information wi l l  result  in the DRAs not funding 

CDAC for 2020. With respect to the reports, the expectation is that there 

wi l l  be a meeting arranged with the Deans which wi l l  permit the reports to 

be released. 

 

I f  and when the accreditat ion reports/summaries are released from al l  

dental schools, Ontario and Quebec wi l l  forward funds of $15.00 per 

member per province. Ontario reaff i rmed that i t  would be sat isf ied with 

summaries of the reports. 

 

Dr. Rihal asked for a wri t ten request from the CDRAF and, when 

received, CDAC wil l  give i t  consideration to determine whether the 

funding offered wi l l  be feasible to cont inue i ts operation. 
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Dr. Al l ison added that he wi l l  report back to the Deans on the discussion 

at this meeting and coordinate a meeting with them.    

 

4.3 Working Group on National Competency Standards for  

General Dentists 

The CDRAF Board was provided with a copy of the notes from the CDRAF 

Workshop on National Competencies for General Dentists that was held 

in Montreal on November 9 and 10, 2018. Also provided was a copy of 

the minutes of the RCDSO and ODQ meeting of March 13, 2019. 

 

This i tem was deferred for further discussion at the next CDRAF Board 

meeting. 

 

4.4 CDRAF/ACFD Joint Working Group on Academic Licensure 

Dr. Al l ison reported that the f i rst  video-conference meeting of the 

ACFD/CDRAF Working Group was held in February and information is 

being col lated for discussion at i ts next meeting. 

 

This i tem was tabled and deferred for discussion at the next CDRAF 

Board meeting. 

 

4.5 Working Group re CEO/Registrars’  Conference 

The CDRAF Board was provided with an email  message from Claude Paul 

Boivin of CDA that conf irmed the CEO/Registrars’  Conference for 2019 

wi l l  be held in New Orleans, as planned. The meeting is being organized 

by CDA and CDSPI and al l  Registrars wil l  be invited. 

 

There was brief discussion on this at the meeting. As stated in the 

December meeting, the Registrars from Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia 

and Bri t ish Columbia wi l l  not attend a CEO/Registrars Conference held 

outside of Canada. Dr. O’Brien advised that,  al though he supports the 

decision of those provinces not to attend, Newfoundland may attend, 

depending on the decision of future Registrars in that province. 

 

Dr. Gerrow asked the CDRAF Board i f  i t  wished to invite the Provincial  

Dental  Associations (PDAs) to meet with the Registrars during their 

Board meeting scheduled in Newfoundland in August.  There did not 

appear to be a reason to do that. 
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4.6 Regional Licensing 

This i tem was tabled and deferred for discussion at the next CDRAF 

Board meeting. 

 

4.7 Direct to Consumer Ini t iat ives 

Mr. Fefergrad made reference to the recent decision from the Ontario 

Court of Appeal that stated Ontario regulators have no r ight to block a 

company legal ly operating elsewhere in Canada from sel l ing prescript ion 

eyewear to onl ine customers in the province. This decision means that 

Ontario consumers can continue to order corrective glasses and contact 

lenses from Bri t ish Columbia-based onl ine retai ler Essi lor,  which sel ls 

Coastal and Clearly products. 

 

Mr. Fefergrad offered to forward a copy of the decision to anyone who 

wished to see i t .  The court commented that there was no evidence of 

patient harm. 

 

4.8 Virtual Dentistry 

This i tem was tabled and deferred for discussion at the next CDRAF 

Board meeting. 

 

4.7 Restr ict ive Permits (ACFD)  

This i tem was tabled and deferred for discussion at the next CDRAF 

Board meeting. 

 

4.8 Engl ish Prof iciency Assessment (NDEB)  

This i tem was tabled and deferred for discussion at the next CDRAF 

Board meeting. 

 

4.9 Review of Equivalency Process (NDEB)  

This i tem was tabled and deferred for discussion at the next CDRAF 

Board meeting. 

 

4.10 Guidel ines on Sedation 

This i tem was tabled and deferred for discussion at the next CDRAF 

Board meeting. 
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4.11 National Recognit ion of Dental  Special ty 

This i tem was tabled and deferred for discussion at the next CDRAF 

Board meeting. 

 

 

5. CDSPI – MALPRACTICE COVERAGE MINIMUMS 

 Dr. Gi l l is welcomed Mr. Ed Dermit,  President of CDSPI to the meeting, to 

address the CDRAF Board on the work of CDSPI. Mr. Dermit gave a 

PowerPoint presentat ion and he encouraged CDRAF Board members to 

send him any questions they may have in wri t ing and he would be 

pleased to address them. 

 

 

6. FINANCIAL 

 The CDRAF Board was provided with a copy of the letter from the Auditor 

and draft f inancial  statements, December 31, 2018. There no questions 

raised. 

 

  MOTION #7:  Coady/Leger 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board accept the financial statements of 

December 31, 2018. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

 Dr. Coady presented the Treasurer’s Report.  He advised that there has 

been increased act ivi ty,  including working group meetings, for CDRAF 

and this wi l l  result  in a projected def ici t  of $110,139 for 2019. I t  is 

antic ipated that the reserve wil l  have $29,000 at the end of 2019. 

 

 Dr. Coady asked the CDRAF Board for i ts approval of an addit ional fee of 

$3.00 per member per province for 2019. This would provide an 

addit ional revenue of $69,000. 

 

  MOTION #8:  Coady/Leger 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approve the addit ional fee of $3.00 per 

dentist per province. 
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 The CDRAF Board gave i ts unanimous approval in pr incipal,  but i t  was 

understood that the f inal decision has to be made by the individual 

Boards/Counci ls.  A fr iendly amendment was made to the motion: 

 

  MOTION #8a: 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board members will  propose to their 

Boards/Council for consideration an additional fee of $3.00 per 

dentist per province for 2019. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

    

  

7. CDRAF REPRESENTATIVES AND OBSERVERS OF OTHER MEETINGS 

 A l ist ing of upcoming stakeholder/external meetings with CDRAF 

representat ives was provided to the CDRAF Board for information 

purposes. 

 

  

8. CDRAF BY-LAWS 

 The CDRAF By-Laws was provided for resource material .  

 

 

9. CDRAF STRATEGIC PLAN 2017-2020 

 The CDRAF strategic plan for 2017-2020 was provided for resource 

material .  

 

10. NEW BUSINESS 

  

10.1 Canadian Pain Care Forum 

 The CDRAF Board was provided with email  correspondence from Dr. 

Norm Buckley, Co-Chair of the Canadian Pain Care Forum (CPCF), 

requested Dr. David Mock (of Ontario) to part ic ipate in the CPCF for a 

Canadian pain strategy as a nat ional representat ive of dentistry. 

 

 The CDRAF Board agreed i t  would be beneficial  to have Dr. Mock 

part ic ipate in the CPCF, given his past involvement with the Canadian 

Centre on Substance Use and Addict ion on a national level. 
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  MOTION:  Fefergrad/O’Brien 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approves Dr. David Mock as a national 

representative of the Canadian Pain Care Forum (CPCF). 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

11. NEXT MEETINGS 

 The next CDRAF Board meeting wil l  be held in St. John’s, Newfoundland 

on Thursday, August 22 and Friday, August 23, 2019. Detai ls on the 

venue wi l l  be avai lable in due course. 

 

 As reported in i tem 4.5, the 2019 CEO/Registrars’  conference has been 

scheduled in New Orleans, LA. Dr. Gerrow reminded the Board of the 

decision by Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia and Bri t ish Columbia not to 

attend because the locat ion of the meeting is outside of Canada. 

 

 The CDRAF Board meeting and member representat ives meeting wil l  be 

held at the RCDSO Off ices in Toronto on Friday, October 18, 2019. 

 

 

12. CORRESPONDENCE 

  

 12.1 Lloyd’s Insurance Policy, Apri l  2019-2020 

The CDRAF Board was provided for i ts information with a copy of the 

insurance pol icy for Directors, Off icers and Employees l iabi l i ty for the 

period Apri l  2019 to Apri l  2020. 

 

13. ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 3:00 p.m. 

 

  MOTION:  Coady 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board meeting of April  10, 2019 be adjourned. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 
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CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 

Thursday, August 22, 2019 

 

Delta St.  John’s Hotel and Conference Centre, Salon G, 120 New Gower Street,  

St.  John’s, NL 

             

            

A meeting of the CDRAF Board of Directors took place on Thursday, August 22, 

2019 at 8:30 a.m. 

 

PARTICIPANTS: 

Dr. Maurice Coady, Registrar,  (CDRAF Treasurer),  Dental Counci l  of Prince 

Edward Island 

Dr. Randal l  Croutze, Chief Executive Off icer,  Alberta Dental  Associat ion and 

Col lege 

Ms. Carol ine Daoust,  Directr ice générale et secretaire, L’Ordre des dentistes du 

Québec 

Mr. Irwin Fefergrad, Registrar,  Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Mart in Gil l is,  Registrar,  (CDRAF Chair) Provincial  Dental  Board of Nova 

Scotia 

Dr. Chris Hacker, Registrar,  Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Bri t ish Columbia 

Mr. Dan Leger, Registrar, (CDRAF Vice-Chair) New Brunswick Dental Society 

Dr. Patt i  Ling, Registrar,  Manitoba Dental Associat ion 

Dr. Paul O’Brien, Registrar, Newfoundland and Labrador Dental  Board 

 

STAFF: 

Dr. Jack Gerrow, CDRAF Executive Director 

Ms. Angie Sherban, CDRAF Executive Assistant 

 

REGRETS: 

Dr. Bernie White, Registrar, Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Saskatchewan 

 

OBSERVERS: 

Dr. Paul Al l ison, Executive Director,  Association of Canadian Facult ies of 

Dentistry 

Dr. Barry Dolman, President,  L’Ordre des dentistes du Québec 
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Ms. Andréa Foti ,  Assistant Registrar, Royal Col lege of Dental Surgeons of 

Ontario 

Dr. Dennis Fuchs, President, National Dental  Examining Board of Canada 

Dr. Kirk Preston, Board representative, New Brunswick Dental Society 

Dr. Amarj i t  Rihal, President,  Commission on Dental Accreditat ion of Canada 

Dr. Flavio Turchet, President,  Royal Col lege of Dental  Surgeons of Ontario 

Dr. Kevin Walsh, Chair,  Provincial Dental  Board of Nova Scotia 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

The Chair, Dr. Gi l l is, cal led the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m. The 

meeting started with an in-camera  discussion by Board members. 

Observers/elected members joined the meeting at 8:45 a.m. resuming in 

open session. 

 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 Dr. Hacker asked to add an i tem under “New Business”: 

  Col lege of Dental Surgeons of Bri t ish Columbia By-Law 

Amendments. 

 

 The agenda was approved, as amended: 

 

  MOTION #1:  Hacker/Daoust 

 

THAT the agenda of the meeting of August 22, 2019 be 

approved, as amended. 

CARRIED  

(Unanimously) 

 

 Dr. Gi l l is noted that much of the discussion during the meeting would be 

confidential  and the expectation is that attendees refrain from using 

social  media to report on outcomes of the meeting. 
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3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

CDRAF Board Meeting – Apri l  10, 2019 

 

 MOTION #2:  O’Brien/Fefergrad 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board meeting minutes of April  10, 2019 be 

approved, as circulated.  

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

Dr. Gerrow reminded Board members that the draft  minutes of meetings 

are sent out electronical ly for approval. He encouraged Board members 

to respond electronical ly with their comments/approval. 

 

 

4. BUSINESS ARISING 

 

4.1 National Dental Examining Board of Canada (NDEB) and the 

National Dental Specialty Examination (NDSE) 

Dr. Gerrow referred Board members to the recent correspondence with 

NDEB. He asked Dr. Fuchs to provide an update on the transit ioning of 

the NDSE from the Royal Col lege of Dentists of Canada (RCDC) to 

NDEB. It  was reported that weekly conference cal ls between NDEB and 

RCDC have been implemented to stay apprised of progress. 

 

Dr. Fuchs referred to his wri t ten report in the resource materials. He 

reported that NDEB has had several meetings with RCDC to create the 

transit ion plan. NDEB wil l  administer the NDSE in 2020, going to a 

wri t ten format and changing the NDEB by-laws. Dr. Fuchs confirmed that 

there wi l l  not be an oral  component to the examination. 

 

A f ive-year service contract wi l l  be developed with RCDC by legal 

counsel.  

 

Due to logist ics, NDEB feels that a f ive-year schedule is reasonable. 

When drafted, i t  wi l l  be the roadmap to assist NDEB with i ts human 

resources, f inancing and budgeting processes, etc. When asked why i t  
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would take f ive years, Dr. Fuchs explained that there are a large number 

of examinations to consider. I t  wi l l  take some t ime to have by-law 

changes approved and arrange for Chief Examiners to be placed. 

 

Dr. Gerrow discussed concerns that have been expressed by some 

special ty program directors regarding the NDSE in 2019. He offered the 

assistance of DRAs to NDEB in recommending names of dental  

special ists for val idat ing questions, i f  i t  would be helpful.  The CDRAF 

representat ives were provided with a copy of the letter dated August 9, 

2019 from the Canadian Association of Oral and Maxi l lofacial  Surgeons. 

 

Dr. Fuchs reported that the registrat ions for the 2020 NDSE wil l  be 

avai lable on-l ine and NDEB is working on that process. 

 

He added that this is di f f icul t  task because of the amount of people 

involved in a short period of t ime. However, he added that NDEB’s 

approach has been col legial  and col laborative. He undertook to provide 

CDRAF with regular updates on progress during the transit ion period. 

 

Board members applauded Dr. Fuchs and NDEB for taking on this 

ini t iat ive and for i ts work plan. There was discussion on what messaging 

wi l l  be given to universi t ies for the students. Dr. Fuchs was asked to 

provide CDRAF with a brief draft message that could be sent to the 

dental facult ies/schools. 

 

Dr. Fuchs confirmed that NDEB wil l  be responsible for the NDSE, 

including qual i ty control .  

 

Dr. Gi l l is advised that when the proposal was original ly discussed in 

December 2018, i t  was understood that NDEB would make the necessary 

arrangements with RCDC. CDRAF would not micro-manage the 

examination, but i t  would assist i f  necessary. I t  was suggested and Dr. 

Fuchs agreed that NDEB update Dr. Gerrow and the Chair and Co-Chairs 

of the CDRAF Working Group every two weeks ini t ial ly. 

 

Dr. Fuchs was thanked for his fulsome report and looked forward to 

hearing more on the progress of the transit ion of NDSE. 
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4.2 CDRAF/CDAC Joint Working Group 

Dr. Gi l l is reported that since the Apri l  10, 2019 Board meeting, some of 

the Registrars attended the ACFD Deans Committee meeting in 

Vancouver on June 18, 2019. The President and Director of CDAC also 

attended the meeting. He reported that i t  was a very productive and 

col legial  meeting. 

 

The Deans agreed to provide summaries of the accreditat ion reports to 

the local DRA. A working group has been struck, represented by CDRAF, 

CDAC and ACFD, to move forward in developing a template for the 

summaries. As a result  of this agreement, Ontario and Quebec released 

funds in ful l  to CDAC for 2019. 

 

Mr. Fefergrad referred to the letter dated July 12, 2019 from Dr. Paul 

Al l ison to Mr. Frédéric Duguay. He advised that Ontario and Quebec were 

concerned by the comment that CDAC’s inabi l i ty to funct ion was caused 

by those two provinces. He advised that he would circulate a copy of the 

response letter from Ontario and Quebec to the Board for i ts information. 

 

He stated that the meetings with ACFD in Vancouver were very 

product ive and col laborat ive. CDRAF met with CDAC prior to the ACFD 

Deans meeting and there was a unif ied approach prepared. The Deans 

asked for better communication direct ly from CDRAF, part icular ly with 

issues involving regulatory matters that might impact the 

facult ies/schools. 

 

Dr. Gi l l is advised that ACFD asked to have a representat ive on the 

CDRAF/CDAC working group. The Board agreed to having an ACFD 

representat ive. 

 

Mr. Fefergrad reported that he and Dr. Al l ison discussed having a fol low-

up meeting of CDRAF and the Deans in the fal l  of 2019. Dr. Al l ison 

reported that the Deans have a meeting scheduled with the American 

Dental Education Association (ADEA) in Charleston, SC, on Saturday, 

November 9, 2019. It  was real ized that because of the logist ics, most 

Registrars wi l l  not be avai lable to attend. A meeting wi l l  also be arranged 

via Zoom. 
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In order to keep the momentum going with the Deans, i t  was fel t  that a 

meeting in person would be more beneficial ;  however, Dr. Al l ison stated 

that the Deans hold meetings via Zoom on a regular basis and they would 

be comfortable using that format. Several Registrars expressed an 

interest in attending the meeting in Charleston. Dr. Al l ison advised that 

he would send out further information on the meeting. 

 

There were concerns expressed about CDRAF attending a meeting in the 

U.S., part icularly over the controversy with CDRAF attending 

CEO/Registrars’  meetings out of Canada. Mr. Fefergrad explained that 

the circumstances are di fferent in that ACFD is attending a U.S.-based 

meeting with the ADEA. 

 

I t  was also noted that the Deans wil l  meet during the Pacif ic Dental 

Conference in Vancouver in March 2020. 

 

Dr. Al l ison asked that there be regular interface meetings between the 

President/Chair and Executive Directors of CDRAF and ACFD. 

 

The Board was referred to the wri t ten proposal from CDAC on ‘Becoming 

an independent legal organizat ion’.  Dr. Rihal reported that the t imel ine 

for complet ion wi l l  be March 2021. He stated that human resources wi l l  

be one of the biggest chal lenges in working on this ini t iat ive. 

 

Dr. Rihal added that CDAC wil l  ask for input from the working group and 

DRAs. He confirmed that CDRAF wil l  be included at the ini t ial  stages of 

developing a revised governance structure for CDAC. ACFD wil l  also be 

included at that stage. 

 

In the meantime, CDAC is continuing with i ts work for 2019. Some 40 si te 

surveys have been delayed, but should be completed by the end of the 

year. 

 

I t  was suggested that the CDRAF/CDAC working group meet in Toronto 

prior to the CDRAF Board meeting that is scheduled for Friday, October 

18, 2019. I t  was therefore proposed that the working group meet on 

Thursday, October 17. 
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4.3 Working Group on National Competency Standards for General 

Dentists 

Dr. Gerrow reminded the Board that a workshop was held in Montreal on 

November 10-11, 2018 to discuss and develop a revised document on 

national competencies for general dent ists. At the workshop, in addit ion 

to the Working Group on National Competency Standards, were 

representat ives from various stakeholder groups.  

 

During the meeting, i t  was agreed that there needed to be thorough 

consultat ion with the publ ic. The RCDSO, in consultat ion with i ts Patient 

Relat ions Committee and with members of the ODQ, volunteered to 

prepare consultat ion materials to provide to the Working Group. The 

original Working Group on this project is comprised of Dr. Chris Hacker 

(Bri t ish Columbia), Dr. Randal l  Croutze (Alberta), Dr. Patt i  Ling 

(Manitoba), Dr. Larisa Naderiani (Ontario),  Dr. Sébastien Greiche 

(Quebec), Dr. Mart in Gi l l is (Nova Scotia) and Dr. Jack Gerrow. 

 

Ms. Andréa Foti  managed the RCDSO meetings and provided the CDRAF 

Board with a brief ing note, together with a survey and stakeholder l ist for 

CDRAF’s considerat ion. The Board was asked for the fol lowing decisions: 

 

  Any feedback on the consultat ion toolki t? Ms. Fot i  added that there 

may be modif icat ions required from province to province. 

  How should the consultat ions on non-cl inical  and cl inical  

competencies be held, i .e.  should they be done simultaneously? 

Ms. Foti  stated that the cl inical  competencies st i l l  need to be 

developed and included in the consultat ion tool ki t .  

  Who would be responsible for the translation of the consultat ion 

toolki t  into French? 

  How the consultat ion wi l l  be faci l i tated, ei ther having each DRA 

conduct i ts own consultat ion and col late the feedback or have the 

RCDSO prepare the consultat ion on behalf  of the DRAs. I f  the 

latter choice is selected, each DRA would be required to provide 

stakeholder names and contact information. RCDSO would col late 

the feedback received. 

 

Ms. Foti  and Mr. Fefergrad were thanked for the assistance of RCDSO in 

compil ing the information. The DRAs wil l  need to consult  with the 
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respective Boards/Counci ls for approval before proceeding, but the 

consensus was that RCDSO conduct the consultat ion on behalf  of the 

DRA. 

 

I t  was fel t  that in order to keep the momentum going, the process on the 

cl inical  competencies should proceed and not wait  for the consultat ion on 

the non-cl inical competencies. 

 

The consultat ion wi l l  be for 60 days and the t imel ine wi l l  depend on the 

feedback that is received. 

 

Ms. Daoust offered to undertake the French translat ion of the toolki t  and 

materials. 

 

The Registrars were asked to obtain approval from Boards/Counci l  and 

provide Ms. Foti  with any wordsmithing, etc.,  together with stakeholder 

contact information for the consultat ion. She asked for this information by 

Friday, September 20, 2019. Ms. Foti  ant icipated that a f inal document 

could be ready by December-January 2020. 

 

The feedback wi l l  be brought back to the Working Group for analysis. Dr. 

Al l ison asked that ACFD be included in Working Group. The Board agreed 

to this request. ACFD wil l  confirm the name of the ACFD observer in due 

course. 

 

In the meantime, Dr. Gerrow agreed to arrange for a meeting of the 

Working Group to work on developing cl inical competencies for 

consultat ion. I t  was suggested that the meeting be held in Toronto on 

Wednesday, October 16, 2019 in the afternoon. 

 

4.4. CDRAF/ACFD Joint Working Group on Academic Licensure 

Dr. Al l ison reported that the Working Group met by Zoom, but there is 

nothing further to report at this t ime. It  was agreed to table this i tem for 

the next Board meeting. 

 

4.5 Direct to Consumer Ini t iat ives 

There was a discussion on each of the issues arising from direct to 

consumer ini t iat ives. 
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Manitoba: 

Dr. Ling provided the Board with copies of messaging sent to MDA 

registrants, together with a cease and desist order dated June 14, 2019 

and the response from MDA’s legal counsel dated July 11, 2019. She 

added that MDA wil l  continue with i ts messaging, as i t  is supported in 

legislat ion and by-laws.  

 

To-date there have not been any complaints in Manitoba. 

 

Ontario: 

Mr. Fefergrad reported that the RCDSO received one complaint from the 

Canadian Dental Association, who forwarded i t  f rom a patient;  however, 

the pat ient does not wish to pursue the complaint. He confirmed that 

there have not been any other complaints received at this t ime. 

 

RCDSO has had two interviews with Marketplace  ( to be aired soon) and 

for a Globe and Mail  podcast,  looking at issues of tele-dentistry. 

 

Brit ish Columbia: 

Dr. Hacker reported CDSBC has a strong communication message for 

registrants. So far,  there have been no complaints. 

 

Quebec: 

Dr. Dolman reported that in Quebec, there are more complaints received 

around general dentists performing work using Invisi l ign than any direct 

to consumer issues. 

 

Alberta: 

Dr. Croutze reported that the ADA+C has a Working Group looking at 

tele-dentistry and standards of practice. 

 

Newfoundland & Labrador: 

Dr. O’Brien reported that there is l i t t le act iv i ty in Newfoundland; however, 

there have been issues with general dentists performing orthodontic 

work. 
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Nova Scotia: 

Dr. Walsh reported that there have not been any complaints received. He 

has been informed that a l icensed dentist in Nova Scotia is involved in 

the treatment planning. 

 

Al l  agreed that as long as there is a dentist  involved to sign off  on 

approving or providing treatment, the responsibi l i ty wi l l  rest with the 

dentist.  

 

This topic wi l l  be added to future Board agendas for updates. 

 

Dr. Gerrow referred to the letter dated July 16, 2019 received from the 

Publ ic Service Dental Care Plan (PSDCP) via Dr. James Taylor. The 

letter asked CDRAF for i ts views regarding healthcare del ivery by SDC. 

 

The CDRAF Board agreed that no response would be provided and that 

PSDCP be directed to contact individual provincial  DRAs directly.  Mr. 

Leger undertook to draft  a CDRAF response to PSDCP. 

 

4.6 Virtual Tele-Dentistry 

Much of the discussion on this i tem was covered in i tem 4.5. Mr. 

Fefergrad reported that the RCDSO Working Group is scheduled to have 

i ts f i rst meeting in September and i t  wi l l  l ikely be at least a year before a 

document is drafted. The Working Group is comprised of cl inicians, publ ic 

members and academics. Ms. Foti  advised that she wi l l  report back to the 

CDRAF Board fol lowing the Working Group meeting. 

 

Ms. Daoust asked i f  other provinces could be included on the Working 

Group. Mr. Fefergrad advised that i t  was a motion of Counci l  and would 

have to go back to Counci l  to amend the composit ion of the Working 

Group. He agreed that a national document would be beneficial  in the 

future. Each DRA was asked to ascertain whether i ts Board/Counci l  

wished to have CDRAF proceed with a nat ional project. 
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 MOTION:  Leger/Hacker 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board confirm at the October Board meeting 

whether or not it wishes to pursue a national project on virtual 

tele-dentistry.  

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

Ms. Foti  reminded the CDRAF Board that the Federat ion of Medical 

Regulatory Authori t ies of Canada has developed standards on tele-

medicine and she undertook to resend the document to Board members.  

 

Dr. Croutze asked Ms. Fot i  to provide him with the Terms of Reference of 

the Working Group, when avai lable. 

 

4.7 National Recognit ion of Dental  Special t ies 

As directed by the CDRAF Board, Dr. Hacker and Dr. Gerrow drafted a 

revised ‘Process for Recognit ion of a New Dental Special ty’ .  A copy was 

provided to the CDRAF Board for i ts review and comment. 

 

I t  was recommended that under Appendix A of the document, the 

consultat ion not include the individual provincial  dental associations and 

special ty association, but rather only be sent to the Canadian Dental 

Associat ion for feedback. Also, i t  did not feel that i t  was necessary to 

include provincial  medical regulatory authori t ies or the Royal Col lege of 

Dentists of Canada. Dr. Gerrow advised that he would revise the 

document accordingly. 

 

The CDRAF Board approved the document, as revised, in principle. When 

Boards/Counci ls have reviewed the document and i t  has been translated, 

i t  wi l l  be posted on the CDRAF website. I t  was agreed for this to occur 

after the Board meeting on October 18, 2019. Dr. Gerrow and Ms. Daoust 

undertook to arrange for the translation of the document. 

 

Dr. Gerrow and Dr. Hacker were thanked for their efforts in revising the 

document. 
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 MOTION:  Fefergrad/Leger 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board adopt, in principle, the Process for 

Recognition of a New Dental Specialty’,  with the requested 

amendments to Appendix A of the document. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

4.8 I tems tabled from previous meetings 

There was no update avai lable on Engl ish Prof iciency Assessment or 

Review of the Equivalency Process. 

 

With regard to Guidel ines on Sedation: 

 

Alberta: 

Dr. Croutze reported that sedation guidel ines are under legal review and 

should be ready to be circulated to stakeholders for comment in late 

October. 

 

Ontario: 

Mr. Fefergrad advised that RCDSO updated i ts Standard of Pract ice on 

Sedation in November 2018, and i t  is avai lable on the Col lege’s website. 

He reported on a survey with general dentists to f ind out who is 

administering sedation. Off ice visi ts for cert i f icates of authorization have 

been increased. There have been some issues with faci l i ty permits. 

 

Quebec: 

Ms. Daoust reported that i t  is ant icipated that Quebec wi l l  have sedation 

guidel ines adopted in January 2020. She quest ioned whether there 

should be a national standard on sedation and, i f  so, should i t  be bui l t  

into the accreditat ion process. 

 

Newfoundland and Labrador: 

Dr. O’Brien reported that in Newfoundland they are going into dental 

off ices and applying present guidel ines, test ing equipment, reviewing 

records and charts. 
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Prince Edward Island: 

Dr. Coady reported that sedation guidel ines have not changed in some 

t ime and are working well .  There are off ice visi ts. 

 

New Brunswick: 

Mr. Leger reported that New Brunswick has sedation guidel ines that are 

mirrored to those of the RCDSO’s. 

 

Brit ish Columbia: 

Dr. Hacker reported that i ts documents are updated regularly.  I t  is a 

sedation standard of pract ice rather than guidel ines. I t  is a continuum 

and what happens when a dentist goes beyond their level for giving 

sedation. 

 

Manitoba: 

Dr. Ling reported that by-laws have been in effect since 2017 and there 

wi l l  be some minor changes made over the next couple of years because 

MDA is revamping i ts assessment program. 

 

5. Financial 

The CDRAF Board was provided with the Treasurer’s Report,  together 

with the f inancials and draft  budget for 2020. 

 

A membership fee of $10.00 per member per province was proposed for 

2020, giving a minor def ici t .  In 2021, the membership fees wi l l  need to be 

increased to $12.00 per member per province. 

 

Dr. Gerrow reported that in discussions with some of the Registrars, they 

have already f inal ized their budgets for 2020 using a membership fee of 

$9.00 per member, as was proposed last year for 2020. Therefore, i t  was 

agreed to recommend $9.00 per member per province for the coming 

year. 

 

Dr. Gerrow advised that he would revise the draft budget to ref lect this 

revision and include with the draft minutes. 
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MOTION:  Coady/Fefergrad 

 

THAT the CDRAF Board approve a membership fee of $9.00 per 

dentist per province for 2020. 

CARRIED 

(Unanimously) 

 

6. CDRAF Representat ive and Observers at Meetings 

I t  was agreed that the fol lowing representatives wi l l  attend the 

stakeholder external meetings: 

 

a. NDEB Annual General Meeting, October 26, 2019 

  Mart in Gil l is wi l l  attend as Board member and Jack Gerrow. 

  I rwin Fefergrad and/or Carol ine Daoust wi l l  also attend this 

year due to the NDSE issue. 

 

b. CDAC Dentistry Committee Meeting, November 17, 2019 

CDAC Annual General Meeting, November 18, 2019 

  I rwin Fefergrad and Carol ine Daoust 

 

b. ACFD Annual General Meeting, March 2020 

  Jack Gerrow and Chris Hacker (I f  Chris is not avai lable, 

Carol ine to attend). 

 

c. CDA Annual General Meeting, Apri l  17, 2020 

  Dan Leger, Chris Hacker 

 

At noon, the meeting was moved in-camera  for discussion of a 

conf idential  nature. The third-party providers left the meeting for this 

discussion. 

 

IN-CAMERA 
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The in-camera  session adjourned at 12:30 p.m. The open session of the 

meeting resumed at 1:15 p.m. 

 

7. CDRAF By-Laws 

This document was provided as resource material .  

 

8. CDRAF Strategic Plan 2017-2020 

This document was provided as resource material .  

 

9. New Business 

 

9.1 Interface Meetings with Stakeholders 

Dr. Gerrow recommended that the Chair and Executive Director of 

CDRAF hold regular meetings with third-party providers’ President 

and Executive Director.  The Board was in agreement. 

 

9.2 Regional Licensing 

I t  did not appear that there was any new act ivi ty to report on in this 

area and i t  was agreed to table for future meetings. 

 

9.3 Platelet Rich Plasma 
It  was reported that there was an onl ine art ic le from The Globe and 
Mail  regarding a posit ion paper on autologous cel l  therapy 
publ ished by Health Canada. Mr. Fefergrad canvassed the CDRAF 
Registrars for information on what is being done in other 
jurisdict ions. 

 
In discussions with Health Canada, a teleconference cal l  was 
arranged to discuss the posit ion paper. I t  was reported that in 
Health Canada’s posit ion paper, Platelet Rich Plasma (PRP) is not 
within the scope of the pol icy posit ion paper. However, recent 
media attent ion created confusion between PRP and autologous 
cel l  therapies by putt ing both in the same category. Pursuant to 
this and other enquir ies, Health Canada agreed to post an 
Information Update as publ ic communicat ion and the DRAs were 
given the opportunity to comment on the document. 

 
The draft document was circulated short ly fol lowing the 
teleconference meeting. 
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The CDRAF Board was impressed with the responsiveness of 
Health Canada regarding this issue. 

 
9.4 CDSBC By-Law Amendments 
Dr. Hacker reported that the CDSBC Communicat ions team sent an 
invitat ion to DRAs updating on i ts work on governance and by-law 
amendments. As part of the Col lege’s Action Plan, this had to be 
done within 60 days. Dr. Hacker summarized some of the 
governance changes ordered by the Minister of Health. 

 
  New composit ion of Board reduced to 12 members to include 

6 publ ic members, 4 dentists and 2 cert i f ied dental 
assistants. 

  Massive undertaking by staff  – Dr Hacker was very 
complimentary of the work done by staff  in a short t imel ine. 

  27 out of the 28 recommendations met in the Harry Cayton 
report.  

  Minister gave 30 days for CDSBC to prepare an Action Plan. 
  The CDSBC Board moved forward with draft ing 52 actions 

regarding the implementat ion plan. 
  Massive by-law revisions. 
  CDSBC wil l  cease col lecting associat ion fees by Apri l  2021. 
  New el igibi l i ty requirements to include three-year cool ing off 

period before a member can be nominated to the Board. 
  Elections wi l l  be done through an independent Nominating 

Committee. 
  Changes wi l l  be in effect as at September 16, 2019. 

9.5 Royal Col lege of Dentists of Canada (RCDC) Board of 

Directors Meeting, September 28, 2019 

Dr. Gerrow reported that the CDRAF received an invitat ion from 

RCDC to send two observers to at tend i ts Board of Directors 

meeting in Quebec on September 28, 2019. He asked CDRAF 

Board members i f  anyone was interested in attending. I t  was 

agreed that Dr. Gerrow wi l l  attend the meeting. 
 

10. Next Meetings 

The CDRAF Board meeting and member representat ives’ meetings wi l l  be 

held at the RCDSO off ices on Friday, October 18, 2019. 
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11. Proposed Meeting Dates 2020 

The fol lowing meetings dates were agreed upon: 

 

  Monday, January 20, 2020 – ODQ off ices, Montreal.  

  Wednesday, Apri l  15, 2020 – Ottawa (venue TBD). 

  Thursday/Friday, August 20-21, 2020 – Edmonton (venue TBD). 

  Fr iday, October 16, 2020 – RCDSO off ices, Toronto. 

 

12. Correspondence 

The fol lowing documents were provided for information: 

  FDI Draft Pol icy Statements:  

o  Primary carious lesions and restorat ive treatment decisions  

o  Malocclusion in Orthodontics and Oral Health 

o  Ant ibiot ic Stewardship in Dentistry 

o  Access to Oral Healthcare Among Vulnerable and 

Underserved Populat ions  

o  Repair of Restorat ions  

o  Continuing Education via eLearning  

  Canadian Dental Association: Future of the Profession Status 

Report #5  

  National Model Act for Licensing or Cert i f icat ion of Dental 

Therapists, January 2019 

  Letter from Paul Al l ison, ACFD, July 13, 2019     

  PGY1 Task Force Report        

  Email  correspondence with André Gariépy, July 31, 2019  

  

There was some discussion on the PGY1 Task Force Report.  Dr. Al l ison 

was congratulated on the work of the Task Force. He advised that the 

Deans are exploring ways on how to move this ini t iat ive forward. There 

wi l l  be a report sent to the various stakeholder groups to decide what 

next steps need to be taken. 

 

When the national competency work is completed and CDAC updates i ts 

accreditat ion standards, i t  might be an opportune t ime for ACFD to use 

PGY1 at that t ime.   

 

13. Adjournment 

Dr. Gi l l is thanked everyone for a productive and col laborative meeting. 
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There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 3:30 p.m. 
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October 7, 2019 

 

CDRAF Board of Directors Report  

 

 

The CDRAF Board of Directors is pleased to present this update on act ivi t ies 

during the past 12 months.  

 

 

1. National Dental Specialty Examination (NDSE) 

The CDRAF and al l  member Dental Regulatory Authori t ies (DRAs) have been 

concerned about the governance structure of the Royal Col lege of Dentists of 

Canada (RCDC) for a number of years. The RCDC governance structure as 

establ ished by the RCDC Act does not al low for oversight by the DRAs and has 

no mechanism for ensuring that the publ ic interest is paramount in i ts decision 

making. This governance problem became part icular ly obvious in 2018 when the 

RCDC Counci l  uni lateral ly raised fees and reported that the Part 2 (Oral 

Component) was unsustainable. 

 

As a result ,  the CDRAF Board unanimously determined that the RCDC could no 

longer be the organization responsible for administering the NDSE. The 

fol lowing is an excerpt from a presentat ion by CDRAF Chair,  Dr Mart in Gil l is to 

the RCDC counci l  and provided to NDEB in December 2018: 
 

Jack and I come before you to let you know the posit ion of the CDRAF 

Board on the future of the administrat ion of a special ty cert i f ication 

process and to suggest a new beginning for entry level Special ty 

Cert i f ication Examinations.  

 

Fol lowing the events in July, August and September, the CDRAF Board 

formed a working group to identify al ternatives to having an RCDC 

administered NDSE as the cert i f ication process for dental special t ies. 

The working group has met 3 t imes and identi f ied a number of potential  

options. Yesterday afternoon the working group reported i ts activ i t ies to 

the CDRAF Board which unanimously endorsed our message to you 

today.  

 

BernieWhite
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The working group and the CDRAF Board agree that having a “capstone” 

process fol lowing a special ty program is the most desirable opt ion and 

recognize the dedicat ion of RCDC volunteers in providing a “capstone” 

examination for the past number of years.  

 

The working group and the CDRAF Board have thoroughly reviewed the 

legislat ion establ ishing the RCDC and the NDEB and have determined 

that the publ ic interest can only be served i f  the NDSE is administered by 

the NDEB because the NDEB’s governance structure al lows direct 

oversight of the examinat ion process by the provincial  dental regulatory 

authori t ies. In addit ion, el iminat ing the dupl icat ion of having 2 entry level 

examination organizat ions wi l l  al low the development and administrat ion 

of entry level special ty cert i f icat ion examinations in an eff ic ient and cost-

effect ive manner. For example, using NDEB’s contracts and experience 

with electronic examinations.  

 

The CDRAF Board recognizes that there is a dif ference between 

evaluating for entry level competence for a beginning special ist  and 

evaluating excel lence for fel lowship. The CDRAF is support ive of 

development and administrat ion of exams by RCDC for fel lowship. I t  is 

not the intention of the DRAs to diminish the proud tradit ions and culture 

that the RCDC has bui l t  during i ts history.  

 

The working group has held discussions with NDEB and the NDEB wil l  

only consider this i f  i t  is a col legial undertaking. The CDRAF is therefore 

recommending and request ing that RCDC and NDEB ini t iate a col legial  

consultat ion to develop an agreement that would result in NDSE being 

administered under the governance of NDEB. The CDRAF is confident 

that this new beginning wi l l  serve the publ ic interest and maintain the 

mandates of both NDEB and RCDC.  

 

The ten provincial  regulators are unanimous in their support of this 

direct ion and recognize that this wi l l  require discussion in your counci l  

and with NDEB. They wil l  support a col legial  process that results in the 

RCDC approving and support ing the NDSE being administered by the 

NDEB and a fel lowship process developed and administered by the 

RCDC.  
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The Working Group subsequent to a presentat ion by NDEB in February 2019 

understood that NDEB would not be able to administer the NDSE in 2020. This 

resulted in four dist inctly di f ferent al ternat ive pathways being proposed by the 

Working Group to the CDRAF Board in Apri l  2019. The mult iple pathway 

approach to special ty cert i f icat ion created unease among some stakeholders. 

The NDEB revisi ted and is pursuing the December 2018 proposal in which i t  

would work with RCDC to del iver the NDSE in 2020. 

 

At the August 2019 CDRAF Board meeting an update was provided by NDEB to 

the Board. NDEB had several meetings with RCDC to create the transit ion plan 

to administer the NDSE in 2020, going to a wri t ten format with no oral 

component and changing the NDEB by-laws as required. 

 

A f ive-year service contract wi l l  be developed for NDEB - RCDC as NDEB felt 

that due to logist ics this schedule is reasonable. The Service Agreement wi l l  be 

a roadmap to assist NDEB with i ts human resources, f inancing and budgeting 

processes to del iver exams for the nine national dental special t ies. The 

registrat ions for the 2020 NDSE wil l  be avai lable on-l ine and NDEB is working 

on that process. CDRAF wil l  be provided with regular updates on progress 

during the transit ion period. 

 

The CDRAF is support ive of NDEB assuming responsibi l i ty for the NDSE, 

commencing in 2020.  

 

2. National Dental Specialty Recognit ion 

Fol lowing receipt of feedback on a process for the recognit ion of Dental 

Special t ies adopted in early 2018, the CDRAF rescinded the adoption and 

developed a new process. A revised draft  document has been approved, in 

pr inciple, by the CDRAF Board and is await ing acceptance by the 

Boards/Counci ls of the provincial  Dental  Regulatory Authori t ies (DRAs). Final 

approval wi l l  be considered at the CDRAF Board meeting in October 2019. 

 

3. Working Group on National Competency Standards for General Dentists 

The CDRAF Strategic Plan includes developing National Competency Standards 

for General Dentists. In consultat ion with ACFD, NDEB and CDAC, CDRAF 

establ ished a Working Group on National Competency Standards for General 

Dentists. The Working Group has establ ished a process to develop Standards 

including receiving input from al l  provincial  DRAs and workshops with 

stakeholders.  
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The f i rst  workshop was held in November 2018. During the review of current 

documents, i t  was determined that publ ic interest input on cl inical and non-

cl inical  competencies was required early in the process. The Royal Col lege of 

Dental  Surgeons of Ontario (RCDSO), through i ts Patient Relations Committee 

and with members of the L’Ordre des dentistes du Québec (ODQ), prepared 

consultat ion materials on “non-cl inical” competencies for the Working Group 

and Board’s consideration. Assuming approval from respective 

Boards/Counci ls, the Board recently agreed that the RCDSO should conduct the 

consultat ion on behalf of DRA’s. Feedback from the consultat ion wi l l  be 

analyzed by the Working Group. A representat ive from the Associat ion of 

Canadian Facult ies of Dentistry (ACFD) has now been included on the Working 

Group. 

 

When publ ic interest input has been received and analyzed on both cl inical  and 

non-cl inical competencies, a draft  document wi l l  be developed and circulated to 

al l  stakeholders pr ior to i t  being considered for approval by the CDRAF Board. 

Once approved, CDAC wil l  be requested to include the CDRAF competencies in 

the Accreditat ion Standards. 

 

4. CDAC Init iat ives 

The two joint Working Groups of CDRAF and CDAC have been amalgamated 

into one with two objectives: One is to review the current governance structure 

of CDAC with a main prior i ty to establ ish CDAC as an independent not-for-profi t  

corporation. The second focus wi l l  be on reviewing the processes for 

accreditat ion, si te visi ts and international reciprocal agreements and 

investigate methods to improve eff ic iency and cost effectiveness. These 

object ives wi l l  be pursued once the governance structure has been revised.  

 

In June 2019, a number of Registrars and representat ives of CDAC attended 

the ACFD Deans Committee meeting in Vancouver. Fol lowing thorough 

discussion, CDRAF, CDAC and the Deans supported CDAC governance 

changes including the establ ishment of CDAC as an independent organizat ion. 

Al l  three groups also agreed that summaries of CDAC accreditat ion reports wi l l  

be provided to the provincial  DRA where the dental school is located. A 

Working Group, comprised of Frédéric Duguay (CDAC), Jack Gerrow (CDRAF), 

Dr. Dan Haas (Universi ty of Toronto) and Dr. Cathia Bergeron (Laval 

Universi ty),  is developing a template for these summaries. 
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A fol low-up meeting of CDRAF and the Deans wi l l  take place in the fal l  of 2019. 

 

At the August 2019 Board meeting, the Board reviewed the wri t ten proposal 

from CDAC on ‘Becoming an independent legal organization’.  I t  was noted that 

human resources wi l l  be one of the biggest chal lenges in working on this 

ini t iat ive and that CDAC wil l  asking for input from the working group and DRAs. 

I t  was confirmed that CDRAF and ACFD wil l  be included at the ini t ial  stages of 

developing a revised governance structure for CDAC. There were approximately 

40 si te surveys delayed in 2019 which should be completed by the end of the 

year. 

 

5. Direct to Consumer Ini t iat ives 

CDRAF has received correspondence expressing concerns regarding direct to 

consumer (DTC) ini t iat ives. While regulation is a provincial  responsibi l i ty,  

CDRAF is a forum which faci l i tates discussion among the DRAs. Al l  provincial 

DRAs are aware of DTC ini t iat ives and are careful ly reviewing this care del ivery 

model to ensure that the publ ic ’s interest is protected. 

 

6. Virtual and Tele-Dentistry 

The CDRAF Board wi l l  give considerat ion to developing national guidel ines for 

vir tual and tele-dentistry. Some of the provinces are already working on 

guidel ines within their jur isdict ions, but the Board feels that a national 

document would be beneficial .  

 

7. Platelet Rich Plasma (PRP) 

An onl ine art icle from The Globe and Mail  regarding a posit ion paper on 

autologous cel l  therapy publ ished by Health Canada was brought to the 

attention of the CDRAF Board. Registrars were canvassed for information on 

what is being done in other jurisdict ions. 

 

In discussions with Health Canada, a teleconference cal l  was arranged to 

discuss the posit ion paper. I t  was reported that in Health Canada’s posit ion 

paper, Platelet Rich Plasma (PRP) is not within the scope of the pol icy posit ion 

paper. However, recent media attention created confusion between PRP and 

autologous cel l  therapies by putt ing both in the same category. Pursuant to this 

and other enquir ies, Health Canada agreed to post an Information Update as 

publ ic communication and the DRAs were given the opportunity to assist in the 

development of this document. 
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The document was circulated short ly fol lowing the teleconference meeting. 

 

8.  Malpract ice Coverage Minimums 

Mr. Ed Dermit, President of CDSPI, attended the Apri l  10, 2019 Board meeting 

and gave a presentat ion on Malpractice Coverage Minimums.  

 

9. Canadian Pain Care Forum (CPCF) and Opioids Crisis 

CDRAF was asked by the Co-Chair of the Canadian Pain Care Forum if  Dr. 

David Mock would part ic ipate in the CPCF for a Canadian Pain Strategy as a 

national representat ive of dentistry. The Board authorized Dr. Mock to be 

involved in this ini t iat ive, given his prior work on the Canadian Centre on 

Substance Use and Addict ion on a national level. 

 

The CDRAF Board continues to work with the Canadian Centre on Substance 

Abuse (CCSA) and faci l i tates the distr ibut ion of information in this important 

area. Dr. David Mock, an RCDSO Counci l  member and representat ive on 

opioids, has also agreed to be the CDRAF representative on this issue. He 

provides reports to CDRAF on a regular basis. 

 

10. Website 

The mission of CDRAF has changed substantial ly with the adoption of the 

Strategic Plan (2017-2020). To ref lect this change, a new CDRAF website, 

www.cdraf.org, was launched in January 2019. 

 

11. Request from ACFD to consider Academic Licenses 

Fol lowing the adoption of the MRA on General Dentistry and the MOU on Dental 

Special t ies, academic pathways for unrestr ict ive l icensure have been 

el iminated. ACFD has indicated that the Facult ies of Dentistry are experiencing 

increased chal lenges in recruit ing academics. A joint ACFD/CDRAF working 

group has been created to review current legislat ion and pol ic ies and 

investigate the potent ial  for common regulatory pract ices. 

 

12. National Repository 

CDRAF is support ive of NDEB providing a national repository for al l  documents 

required for ini t ial  cert i f ication for both graduates of accredited and non-

accredited dental  programs. The NDEB was asked to proceed with establ ishing 

the National Repository but cont inue to accept the letters from the Deans 

indicating individuals recommended for graduation as an acceptable al ternat ive 

to a f inal transcript of record for graduates of accredited Canadian 
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undergraduate dental programs only. NDEB wil l  continue to require a f inal 

transcript of record for al l  other graduates. 

 

Respectful ly submitted, 

 

 

 

 

 

Dr. Mart in Gi l l is,  DDS 

Chair 

 

 

AMS:924990 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
In 2016, the Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation (CDRAF) initiated the 
development of their Strategic Plan. 
 
Strategic Planning involves re-examining the vision, mission and guiding principles of an 
organization, setting out strategies for achieving its objectives over several years. The strategic 
plan sets a very clear direction for staff and members and serves as a decision-making tool for the 
organization. All activity, guided by the principles, should support the strategic mission and vision 
of the organization.  
 
Data was collected, information gathered, and surveys conducted. A current state analysis was 
completed based on the data, information and surveys. Board Directors and observers from 
Provincial Dental Regulatory Authorities (DRA) were invited to participate in a preliminary planning 
session which helped to develop the framework for the plan. 
 
A steering committee consisting of several registrars, elected officials, as well as the Executive 
Director was formed to consider all the data and to formulate the plan. Steering Committee 
meetings were held virtually and face to face and many volunteer hours were contributed to 
effectively complete the plan.  
 
The next steps for the organization include creating an operational plan, which will provide a road 
map for how the strategies will be achieved, and implementing a measurement and follow up 
process that will keep the plan at the forefront.  
 
The time frame for this Strategic Plan is three years. In 2020 the CDRAF will revise the Strategic 
Plan and continue to meet the challenges and opportunities that the future will bring. 
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HISTORY OF THE CDRAF 

 
The Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation (CDRAF) is a forum constituted of the 
provincial dental regulatory authorities (DRAs). These bodies hold the exclusive, legislated 
mandate of public protection. 
 
The Letters Patent of the Federation were issued on March 3, 2004 marking the official creation 
date of the CDRAF. 
 
In April 22, 2004, the first meeting of the Federation as a legally constituted organization was held 
in Ottawa.  
 
At that first meeting in April 2004, Dr. Gordon Thompson was elected by the Federation board as 
its first President and Chair. Dr. Thompson was at the time the Executive Director and Registrar of 
the Alberta Dental Association and College. 
 
Since then, the organization benefitted from the talents, dedication and leadership skills of six 
Presidents country-wide. 
 
Since its inception, the CDRAF has experienced success on very important initiatives notably by 
ratifying a Mutual Recognition Agreement (2009) for the profession of dentistry in Canada with 
respect to general dentistry and dental specialties and developing a Memorandum of 
Understanding (2014) with respect to a uniform Canadian process for the certificate and licensure 
of internationally trained dental specialists.  
 
These achievements were possible because of the CDRAF’s members’ vibrant determination to 
act in the public interest and their willingness to work together in a generous spirit.  
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MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT  

 

Dear Colleagues and Friends of the Dental Community,  

It is my sincere pleasure to present you with the Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities 
Federation’s first Strategic Plan 2017-2020. I would like to recognize and thank every one involved 
in its development.  

Over the past decade, our Board made great strides and dedicated time and energy to address 
issues of common interest for our members. Tangible successes were achieved. Nevertheless, we 
have realized in recent years, that CDRAF’s “business as usual” approach was no longer possible. 
We needed to pull together not only to increase CDRAF’s effectiveness and agility but also to 
create additional membership value and better serve the public interest. 

I strongly believe that this ambitious plan will assist in sustaining a collaborative environment that 
is critical to CDRAF’s future and will enhance its leadership role amongst the Canadian dental 
community. 

Dr. Cliff Swanlund, Alberta Dental Association and College 

CDRAF President 
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STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK 
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GUIDING PRINCIPLES 

 

We recognize and respect the breadth of expertise within our Federation and we support 
collaboration that contributes to shared knowledge. 

 

We seek every opportunity to share freely and with a generous spirit. 

 

We are sensitive to individual jurisdictional and legislative differences as we strive for consensus. 

 

We practice, in good faith, a willingness to be open and honest with each other. 
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CDRAF MISSION AND VISION 

 

MISSION 

 

The Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation fosters collaboration, consistency of 
approach and supports best practices in dental regulation. 

 

 

 

VISION  

 

The CDRAF serves, protects and acts in the interest of the public. 
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CDRAF STRATEGIC INITIATIVES 

 

Competency Standards 

Develop national competency standards for dentists including dental specialists. 

 

Governance 

Create a model that enables and supports the mandate of the CDRAF by Spring of 2018. 

 

Relationships 

Form alliances and partnerships with others to achieve our mission. 

 

Trends and Special Topics 

Develop regulatory responses to emerging trends in a timely manner. 
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STRATEGIC INITIATIVE # 1: COMPETENCY STANDARDS 

 

Goal: Develop national competency standards for dentists including dental specialists. 

 

Objectives: 

 
1. Lead the development of a national document describing the set of skills, knowledge and 

abilities required to obtain an initial licence to practice as an entry level dentist. 
 
 

2. Lead the development of a national document describing the set of skills, knowledge and 
abilities required to obtain a specialist certificate for every specialty.  

 

3. Create a common system or process of measuring continuing competence to allow for 
mobility. 
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STRATEGIC INITIATIVE # 2: GOVERNANCE 

 

Goal: Create a model that enables and supports the mandate of the CDRAF by Spring of 2018 

 

Objectives: 

1. Determine appropriate legal structure.  
 

2. Re-brand the organization to reflect the nature of the organization’s main purpose as a 
Forum. 
 

3. Create new Bylaws to reflect new structure if necessary. 
 

4. Create terms of reference and responsibilities for all functional groups and staff. 

 
5. Develop a plan for dealing with unforeseen circumstances and emergency responses. 

 
6. Determine processes for reporting on Forum activity. 
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STRATEGIC INITIATIVE # 3- RELATIONSHIPS 

 

Goal: Form alliances and partnerships with others to achieve the mission of the CDRAF. 

 

Objectives: 

1. Enhance awareness and understanding of the role and the purpose of the CDRAF.  
 
 

2. Define consistent processes and mechanisms for flow of communication with 
members and other parties. 

 

3. Broaden base of knowledge and share best practices by seeking out and cultivating 
relationships with health professional organizations and other regulatory authorities. 
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STRATEGIC INITIATIVE # 4: TRENDS AND SPECIAL TOPICS 

 

Goal: Develop regulatory responses to emerging trends in a timely manner. 

 

Objectives: 

 

1. Establish mechanisms for validating and prioritizing topics. 
 
 

2. Establish mechanisms for gathering and analysis of data. 
 

 
3. Establish mechanisms for generation of response. 
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STATEMENT OF PURPOSES AND PRINCIPLES  
 
A. OVERVIEW  
The Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation (CDRAF), incorporated under the 
Canada Corporations Act, was created by Letters Patent issued on March 3, 2004 under the Seal 
of the Federal Ministry of Industry. It is a Corporation without share capital and is not-for-
profit.  
 
CDRAF provides a leadership and responsive infrastructure and forum where dental regulatory 
authorities in Canada can anticipate and respond to current regulatory challenges on 
interprovincial/territorial, national and global levels, in effective and efficient ways.  
 
As a discerning information coordinator for dental regulatory authorities, CDRAF examines the 
impact of regulatory trends, policy and legislation in the public interest and keeps its Members 
informed of similar regulatory forces in other professions, industries, and for major 
stakeholders, in Canada and other jurisdictions. CDRAF facilitates the collective generation of 
strategies and options for responding to global regulatory forces and their impact in Canada.  
In addition to being an advisory service and supportive network, it provides one voice for dental 
regulatory authorities with the federal government, external regulatory regimes and other 
major stakeholders, and is the official spokesperson for Canadian dental regulatory authorities 
on interprovincial/territorial, national and global matters.  
 
B. PURPOSES  
CDRAF is the national forum and collective voice of provincial and territorial dental regulatory 
authorities regarding interprovincial/territorial, national and global regulatory matters for the 
dental profession and was incorporated under the Canada Corporations Act and will continue 
pursuant to the Canada Not-For-Profit Corporations Act.  
 
C. OBJECTS  
CDRAF will achieve its purpose by pursuing the following objects:  

• Creating and maintaining an effective forum for the exchange of information 
regarding regulatory trends, policy and legislation.   

• Tracking and reporting on interprovincial/territorial, national and global issues 
related to the regulation of dental practice.   

• Developing and promoting harmonized and global perspectives on inter-
jurisdictional matters that relate to mobility and the regulations related to dental 
practice.   

• Providing one voice in Canada for regulatory matters for dentists, in 
interprovincial/territorial, national and global matters.   

• Advising on and promoting best regulatory practices and standard approaches to 
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assessment and regulation of initial and continuing competence for dentists.   
• Undertaking research and projects of shared interest to the Members in 

collaboration with other national and global entities.   
• Identifying those advisory, research and support services to be made available to 

its Members.   
• Establishing external liaisons and partnerships to assist its Members to deal 

effectively with new and innovative regulatory challenges.   
• Monitoring the effectiveness of its purpose, stated objects and guiding 

principles.   
 

D. GUIDING PRINCIPLES   
At all times, CDRAF will be guided by the following principles:   

o The intact authority and regulatory autonomy of each Member will be 
recognized as foundational and considered paramount in all CDRAF deliberations 
and decisions.   

o In keeping with the mandate of its Members and its purposes and objects, the 
context for all CDRAF's recommendations, support, and external relations will be 
a focus on regulation and the role of regulatory authorities.   

o Formal decision making of the CDRAF will be by the applicable majority vote and 
will include an attempt to seek consensus on all issues.   

o As the national voice for dental regulatory authorities, Members collectively 
acknowledge the importance of one voice on dental regulatory matters. CDRAF 
will be a voice that reflects and respects diversity among its Members, while 
speaking externally with an agreed harmonized voice to external stakeholders, 
or engaging in external liaisons and partnerships.  

o CDRAF will exercise due diligence with respect to ethics and fiduciary duties in its 
overall decision making and management of human and fiscal resources on 
behalf of its Members.  

o CDRAF members recognize and respect the breadth of expertise within the 
Federation and support collaboration that contributes to shared knowledge.  

o CDRAF members seek every opportunity to share freely and with a generous 
spirit. They are sensitive to individual jurisdictional and legislative differences as 
they strive for consensus. They practice, in good faith, a willingness to be open 
and honest with each other.  
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By-Law No. 2 - relating generally to the conduct of the affairs of  
CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION/ FÉDÉRATION CANADIENNE 
DES ORGANISMES DE RÉGLEMENTATION DENTAIRE (the "Corporation") BE IT ENACTED as 
a by-law of the Corporation as follows:  
 
 
I. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION  

 
1.  Definition  
In this By-Law and all other By-Laws of the Corporation, unless the context otherwise requires:  
"Act" means the Canada Not-For-Profit Corporations Act S.C. 2009, c. 23 including the 
Regulations made pursuant to the Act, and any statute or regulations that may be substituted, 
as amended from time to time;  
 
“Annual Meeting” means the meeting of the Members held between September 1st

 
and 

November 30th at which time elections of Officers is held;  
 
"Articles" means the original or restated Articles of incorporation or Articles of amendment, 
amalgamation, continuance, reorganization, arrangement or revival of the Corporation;  
 
"Board” means the Board of directors of the Corporation and "Director" means a Member of 
the Board;  
 
"By-Law" means this by-law and any other by-law of the Corporation as amended and which 
are, from time to time, in force and effect;  
 
"Corporation" means the Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation/Fédération 
canadienne des organismes de réglementation dentaire and may include “CDRAF”, “FCORD’ 
and “Federation”;  
 
"Meeting of Members" includes an Annual Meeting or a special meeting of Members; "special 
meeting of Members" includes a meeting of all Members entitled to vote at an Annual Meeting;  
"Member" means the provincial or territorial body established by provincial or territorial 
statute responsible for the professional regulation of dentists within the province or territory 
who has been granted Membership in the CDRAF; 
 
"Observer" means an individual, other than a Director, who is entitled to attend a meeting of 
the Board or the meeting of Members but who is not entitled to vote at any such meeting;  
"ordinary resolution" means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than 50 percent plus 1 
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of the votes case on that resolution;  
 
"proposal" means a proposal submitted by a Member of the Corporation that meets the 
requirements of section 163 (Shareholder Proposals) of the Act; 
  
"Regulations" means the regulations made under the Act, as amended, restated or in effect 
from time to time;  
 
"special resolution" means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of 
the votes cast on that resolution;  
 
“strong majority vote” means a resolution with requires not less than 4/5th of the votes capable 
of being cast by the full Membership of CDRAF or the CDRAF Board.  
 

2.  Interpretation  
In the interpretation of this by-law, words in the singular include the plural and vice- versa, 
words in one gender include all genders, and "person" includes an individual, body corporate, 
partnership, trust and unincorporated organization.  
 
Other than as specified above, words and expressions defined in the Act have the same 
meanings when used in these By-Laws.  
 
3.  Corporate Seal   
The Corporation may have a corporate seal in the form approved from time to time by the 
Board. If a corporate seal is approved by the Board, the secretary of the Corporation shall be 
the custodian of the corporate seal.   
 
4. Execution of Documents   
Deeds, transfers, assignments, contracts, obligations and other instruments in writing requiring 
execution by the Corporation may be signed by any two of its officers or directors. In addition, 
the Board may from time to time direct the manner in which and the person or persons by 
whom a particular document or type of document shall be executed. Any person authorized to 
sign any document may affix the corporate seal (if any) to the document. Any signing officer 
and the executive director may certify a copy of any instrument, resolution, by-law or other 
document of the Corporation to be a true copy thereof.  Any payment by CDRAF to its 
Members, Directors or Observers shall not be executed by an officer or director from the same 
province (i.e. payment by CDRAF to an individual from New Brunswick is executed by any two 
officers or directors who are not from New Brunswick.)  
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II. FINANCIAL MATTERS  

 
5.          Financial Year   
The financial year of the Corporation shall be December 31 in each year unless otherwise 
determined by the Board.   
 
6.          Banking Arrangements   
The banking business of the Corporation shall be transacted at such bank, trust company or 
other firm or corporation carrying on a banking business in Canada as the Board may designate, 
appoint or authorize from time to time by resolution. The banking business or any part of it 
shall be transacted by an officer or officers of the Corporation and/or other persons as the 
Board may by resolution from time to time designate, direct or authorize.   
 
7.           Borrowing Powers   
If authorized by a by-law which is duly adopted by the directors and confirmed by a strong 
majority vote of the Members, the directors of the corporation may from time to time:  

o borrow money upon the credit of the Corporation;   
o limit or increase the amount to be borrowed;   
o issue debentures or other securities of the Corporation;   
o pledge or sell such debentures or other securities for such sums and at such 

prices as may be deemed expedient; and   
o secure any such debentures, or other securities, or any other present or future 

borrowing or liability of the Corporation, by mortgage, hypothec, charge or 
pledge of all or any currently owned or subsequently acquired real and personal, 
movable and immovable, property of the corporation, and the undertaking and 
rights of the Corporation.   

 
Any such by-law may provide for the delegation of such powers by the directors to such officers 
or directors of the Corporation to such extent and in such manner as may be set out in the by-
law.  Nothing herein limits or restricts the borrowing of money by the Corporation on bills of 
exchange or promissory notes made, drawn, accepted or endorsed by or on behalf of the 
Corporation.   
 
8.          Management of Corporate Funds   
An ordinary resolution of the Board shall be required for the adoption of the budget.  
 
A strong majority vote of the Board shall be required for approval of expenditures exceeding 
the budget.  
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All monies received by the Corporation shall be deposited in an interest bearing account in the 
name of CDRAF at a financial institution approved by the Board.  
 
9.         Annual Financial Statements  
The Corporation shall send to the Members a copy of the annual financial statements and other 
documents referred to in subsection 172(1) (Annual Financial Statements) of the Act or a copy 
of a publication of the Corporation reproducing the information contained in the documents. 
Instead of sending the documents, the Corporation may send a summary to each Member 
along with a notice informing the Member of the procedure for obtaining a copy of the 
documents themselves free of charge. The Corporation is not required to send the documents 
or a summary to a Member who, in writing, declines to receive such documents.  
 
 
III. MEMBERS  
 
10.      Membership Conditions  
Subject to the Articles, there shall be one class of Members in the Corporation. Each Member 
shall be entitled to receive notice of, attend and exercise at least one vote at all meetings of the 
Members of the Corporation.  
 
Membership in the Corporation shall be available to a provincial or territorial body established 
by statute, and responsible for the provincial or territorial regulation of dentists within said 
province or territory, which has an interest in furthering the Corporation’s purposes and which 
has applied for and been accepted into Membership of the Corporation by resolution of the 
Board or in such other manner as may be determined by the Board. 
 
Membership acceptance includes a commitment to remain a Member for two years and pay 
the required annual fees for two years.  
 
There shall be a minimum of eight Members of the Corporation at all times.  
 
Each Member shall promptly be informed in writing by the secretary of their admission as a 
Member.  
 
Membership vote allocations are based on the following formula:  
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Number of Dentists Within the Province-Territory/Number Votes Accorded to the 
Member  

o up to 1,000/1 vote 
o 1,000 to 4,999/2 votes 
o 5,000 and over/3 votes 
 

Pursuant to subsection 197(1) (Fundamental Change) of the Act, a strong majority vote of the 
Members is required to make any amendments to this section of the By-Laws if those 
amendments affect Membership rights and/or conditions described in paragraphs 197(1)(e), 
(h), (l) or (m).  
 
11.       Termination of Membership by Member  
A Member who wishes to terminate its Membership shall give one full year’s notice of such 
termination. All fees assessed or due are required to be paid by the terminating Member in full 
until the termination is complete.  
 
Pursuant to Section 197(1) (Fundamental Change) of the Act, a strong majority vote of the 
Members is required to make any amendment to add, change or delete this section of the By-
Laws.  
 
12.        Notice of Members Meeting  
Notice of the time and place of a meeting of Members shall be given to each Member entitled 
to vote at the meeting by the following means:  
 
1. by mail, courier or personal delivery to each Member entitled to vote at the meeting, during 

a period of 21 to 60 days before the day on which the meeting is to be held; or   
2. by telephonic, electronic or other communication facility to each Member entitled to vote at 

the meeting, during a period of 21 to 35 days before the day on which the meeting is to be 
held.   

 
Pursuant to subsection 197(1) (Fundamental Change) of the Act, a strong majority vote of the 
Members is required to make any amendment to the By-Laws of the Corporation to change the 
manner of giving notice to Members entitled to vote at a meeting of Members.  
 
13.        Members Calling a Members' Meeting  
The Board shall call a special meeting of Members in accordance with Section 167 of the Act, on 
written requisition of Members carrying not less than 5 percent of the voting rights. If the 
directors do not call a meeting within 21 days of receiving the requisition, any Member who 
signed the requisition may call the meeting.  
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Pursuant to subsection 197(1) (Fundamental Change) of the Act, a strong majority vote of the 
Members is required to make any amendment to the By-Laws of the Corporation to change the 
manner of giving notice to Members entitled to vote at a meeting of Members.  
 
14.        Absentee Voting at Members' Meetings  
Pursuant to section 171(1) (Absentee Voting) of the Act, a Member entitled to vote at a 
meeting of Members may vote by mailed-in ballot or by means of a telephonic, electronic or 
other communication facility if the Corporation has a system that:  
 
1. enables the votes to be gathered in a manner that permits their subsequent verification; and 
2. permits the tallied votes to be presented to the Corporation without it being possible for the 

Corporation to identify how each Member voted.  
  
Pursuant to subsection 197(1) (Fundamental Change) of the Act, a special resolution of the 
Members is required to make any amendment to the By-Laws of the Corporation to change this 
method of voting by Members not in attendance at a meeting of Members.  
 
15.      Membership Dues  
There should be no Membership fees or dues unless otherwise directed by the Board.  
The Membership fee shall mean annual fee paid by each Member based on a formula approved 
by the Board that accords a dollar amount for each dentist regulated by the Member in their 
respective province or territory excluding short-term, emergency, pro bono, or similar 
classifications of licensure.  
 
Membership fees or dues levied must be paid in full by February 1 in any year.  
 
In the event of default, monies plus interest at the prime rate, calculated, compound not 
simple, are due. Non-payment for a year for a payment not remitted by February 1 in each year 
is an act of default.  
 
Where a Member defaults on payment of Membership fees, the Member is automatically 
suspended and shall be terminated unless all outstanding monies and interest are paid within 
sixty 60 days of default.  
 
16.      Termination of Membership by Board– Except Non-Payment of Fees  
Membership in the Corporation may be terminated on a strong majority vote of the Board for a 
Member’s breach of the By-Laws or other deficiency, except the non-payment of dues, and is 
automatically terminated when:  

o in the case of a Member that is a corporation, the corporation is dissolved;  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o a Member resigns by delivering a written resignation to the chair of the Board of the 
Corporation, such resignation shall be effective one full year following delivery of the 
resignation;   

o a Member’s Membership expires; or   
o the Corporation is liquidated or dissolved under the Act.   
 

17.      Effect of Termination of Membership  
Subject to the Articles, any termination of Membership means that the rights of the Member, 
including any right in the property of the Corporation, automatically cease to exist.  
 
18.        Place of Members' Meeting  
Subject to compliance with section 159 (Place of Members' Meetings) of the Act, meetings of 
the Members may be held at any place within Canada determined by the Board.  
 
19.        Cost of Attendance at Meetings  
Members of the Corporation shall attend meetings of the Corporation at the expense of  
the Member.  
 
20.        Members representatives and Persons entitled to be present at Members' Meetings  
Such representative appointed by the Members -up to three (3) representatives- holding the 
Member voting privileges. One of the Member’s representatives has to carry the function of 
Registrar, acting registrar, Secretary or Acting Secretary of the Board of the Member. 
 
Such other persons entitled, invited or required under any provisions of the Act, Articles or By-
Laws to be present at the meeting.  
 
21.       Chair of Members' Meetings  
In the event that the Chair of the Board and the Vice-Chair of the Board are absent, the 
members who are present and entitled to vote at the meeting shall choose one of their number 
to chair the meeting.  
 
22.       Quorum at Members' Meetings  
A quorum at any meeting of the Members (unless a greater number of Members are required 
to be present by the Act), shall be 60 percent (6 out of 10) of the Members of the Corporation 
present and eligible to vote at the meeting. Proxies are not allowed to contribute to the 
establishment of a quorum. If a quorum is present at the opening of the meeting of Members, 
the Members present may proceed with the business of the meeting even if a quorum is not 
present throughout the meeting.  
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23.        Votes to Govern at Members' Meetings  
At any meeting of Members every question shall, unless otherwise provided by the Articles or 
By-Laws or by the Act, be determined by a majority of the votes cast on the questions. In case 
of an equality of votes either on a show of hands or on a ballot or on the results of electronic 
voting, the chair of the meeting shall not have a second or casting vote.  
 
24.        Participation by Electronic Means at Members' Meetings  
If the Corporation chooses to make available a telephonic, electronic or other communication 
facility that permits all participants to communicate adequately with each other during a 
meeting of Members, any person entitled to attend such meeting may participate in the 
meeting by means of such telephonic, electronic or other communication facility in the manner 
provided by the Act. A person participating in a meeting by such means is deemed to be 
present at the meeting. Notwithstanding any other provision of this by-law, any person 
participating in a meeting of Members pursuant to this section who is entitled to vote at that 
meeting may vote, in accordance with the Act, by means of any telephonic, electronic or other 
communication facility that the Corporation has made available for that purpose.  
 
25.      Members' Meeting Held Entirely by Electronic Means  
If the directors or Members of the Corporation call a meeting of Members pursuant to the Act, 
those directors or Members, as the case may be, may determine that the meeting shall be held, 
in accordance with the Act and the Regulations, entirely by means of a telephonic, electronic or 
other communication facility that permits all participants to communicate adequately with 
each other during the meeting.  
 
 
IV. DIRECTORS  
 
26.     Composition and Mandate of the Board 
The Board is comprised of 10 directors as refer to in article 30. The property and business 
affairs of CDRAF shall be managed by the Board. The Board shall oversee the direction and 
management of the objects, fiduciary duties, funds, external relations of CDRAF.  
 
27.      Election Policy  
Method of voting: Voting in an election for the Board Directors shall be secret ballot. 
Eligibility: Only representatives carrying the function of Registrar, acting Registrar Secretary or 
acting Secretary of the Members’ Board can be elected as a Director of CDRAF Board.  
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Vacancy at the CDRAF Board: Upon receipt of a written confirmation of a new appointment by a 
member (DRA) of an acting registrar, registrar, acting secretary of ODQ Board or Secretary of 
ODQ Board, CDRAF Executive Director calls for an election within 5 working days. 
 
28.      Cost of Attendance at Board Meeting  
Directors shall attend Board meetings at the expense of the Member that has appointed the 
Director.  
 
29.      Powers of the Board  
The Board shall administer the affairs of the Corporation in all things and may make or cause to 
be made for the Corporation, in its name, any kind of the contract which the corporation may 
lawfully enter into and, save as hereinafter provided, generally, may exercise all such powers 
and do all such other act and things as the Corporation, by its Articles, By-Laws or the Act, is 
authorized to exercise and do. The Board shall have the power to authorize expenditures on 
behalf of the Corporation from time to time and may delegate, by resolution, to any officer or 
officers of the Corporation the right to make such expenditures on such terms and conditions, 
as they may deem appropriate.  
 
30.      Director Qualifier, Number of Directors and Votes 
Only representatives carrying the function of Registrar, acting Registrars Secretary or acting 
Secretary of the Members’ Board can be elected as a Director of CDRAF Board. 
 
The Board is comprised of ten (10) directors holding one vote each. 
 
31.      Calling of Meetings of the Board 
Meetings of the Board may be called by the chair of the Board, the vice-chair of the Board or 
any two directors at any time.  
 
32.       Notice of Meeting of the Board 
Notice of the time and place for the holding of a meeting of the Board shall be given in the 
manner provided in the section on giving notice of meeting of directors of this by-law to every 
director of the Corporation not less than 30 days before the time when the meeting is to be 
held.  
 
Notice of a meeting shall not be necessary if all of the directors are present, and none objects 
to the holding of the meeting, or if those absent have waived notice of or have otherwise 
signified their consent to the holding of such meeting. Notice of an adjourned meeting is not 
required if the time and place of the adjourned meeting is announced at the original meeting.  
Unless the by-law otherwise provides, no notice of meeting need to specify the purpose or the 
business to be transacted at the meeting except that a notice of meeting of directors shall 
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specify any matter referred to in subsection 138(2) (Limits on Authority) of the Act that is to be 
dealt with at the meeting.  
 
33.       Regular Meetings  
The Board shall hold a minimum of three (3) meetings a year. Board meetings are open to 
Members representatives in an observer status. 
 
34.       Quorum & No Proxies  
Six (6) directors need to be present for a Board meeting to take place. No proxies are permitted 
to establish quorum at meetings of the Board.  
 
35.        Board Governance  
Recognizing the nature of regulation and the regulatory mandate of its Members, the Board will 
assume a public policy context for its deliberations, and operate in a policy governance style.  
As a policy governing Board, the Board will:  

o oversee the direction and management of the objects, fiduciary duties, funds, and 
external relations of the CDRAF;   

o manage the property, business, and affairs of CDRAF;   
o set strategic directions and responses to strategic issues regarding regulation;   
o establish parameters and benchmarks for demonstrating excellence in regulatory 

leadership, in the context of the pubic interest;   
o put in place operating guidelines to ensure due diligence and fulfillment of all fiduciary 

duties of the CDRAF; and   
o identify and negotiate the terms of relations, liaisons and partnerships with external 

stakeholders at interprovincial/territorial, national, or global levels.  
  

36.       Administrative Duties and Powers of the Board 
In accordance with the By-Laws, the Board shall carry out the following duties and exercise the 
following powers:  

1. elect the officers;   
2. insure oversight of statutory committees; 
3. set policies with respect to the election of officers;   
4. ratify decisions of the officers made on its behalf between meetings of the Board;   
5. set policies regarding expenses;   
6. approve financial statements;   
7. recommend appointment of auditors;   
8. approve a budget and oversee compliance with such a budget;   
9. set policies to diligently identify budget overruns and intervention to prevent overruns;  
10. approve the hiring, renewal or termination of CDRAF Executive Director; 
11. set such other policies and determine any positions taken by CDRAF on regulatory 
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matters as may be required from time to time;   
12. set the time, place and location of Board meetings;   
13. set agendas for meetings including annual meeting of the Members;   
14. except as otherwise provided in the By-Laws, generally, do all things necessary for the 

better administration of the affairs of CDRAF.   
 

37.       Board Reporting  
The Board will provide a report of each of its meeting to the Members and present an annual 
report at the Annual Meeting of the Members.  
 
38.      Votes to Govern at Meetings of the Board  
Except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws, every question and decision of the Board shall 
be decided by a majority of the votes cast on the question. In case of an equality of votes, the 
chair of the meeting shall not have a second or casting of vote.  
 
 
V. ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICERS 
 
39.       Elected Officers  
The Board may designate the offices of the Corporation, elect officers from its Directors on an 
annual or more frequent basis, specify their duties and, subject to the Act, delegate to such 
officers the power to manage the affairs of the Corporation. A Director may not hold more than 
one office at any given time.  
 
40.       Description of Elected Offices  
Unless otherwise specified by the Board (which may, subject to the Act modify, restrict or 
supplement such duties and powers), the offices of the Corporation, if designated and if officers 
are elected or appointed, shall have the following duties and powers associated with their 
positions:  
(a) Chair of the Board – The Chair shall be a director. The Chair, shall, when present, preside at 
all meetings of the Board and of the Members. The Chair of the Board shall have general 
supervision of the business of CDRAF and shall have such other duties and powers as the Board 
may specify.  
 
(b) Vice-Chair of the Board – The Vice-Chair shall be a director. If the chair of the Board is 
absent or is unable or refuses to act, the Vice-President, shall, when present, preside at all 
meetings of the Board and of the Members. The Vice-Chair shall have such other duties and 
powers as the Board may specify.  
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(c) Treasurer – The Treasurer shall be a director and shall have such powers and duties as the 
Board may specify.  
 
41.      Term of Elected Office  
Each officer shall hold office from the date of his or her election/appointment until the date of 
the election in the next year and may not hold any elected/appointed office for more one (1) 
term.  
 
42.       Vacancy in Elected Office  
In the absence of a written agreement to the contrary, the Board may remove, whether for 
cause or without cause, any officer of the Corporation by way of a strong majority vote. Unless 
so removed, an officer shall hold office until the earlier of:  

1. the officer's successor being appointed,   
2. the officer's resignation,   
3. such officer ceasing to be a director (if a necessary qualification of appointment) or   
4. such officer's death.   
 

43.      Executive Director  
The Board shall appoint an Executive Director who shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the 
CDRAF and subject to the authority of the Board shall have responsibility for the general 
supervision of the affairs of the CDRAF but whom will not have any voting rights at any meeting 
of the CDRAF or its Committees.  
 
The Board may remove the Executive Director without prejudice to any contract of 
employment or other right, statutory or otherwise at any time by a strong majority vote.  
 
 
VI. COMMITTEES  
 
44.        Committees of the Board  
The Board may appoint standing committees, ad hoc committees, special task forces and other 
Committees from time to time with such terms and conditions as the Board may determine.  
Committees, if appointed, will report to the Board at each meeting and each year regarding 
progress agreed upon activities, impact and outcomes, significant external relations on behalf 
of CDRAF, statement of incurred expenses, balance sheet and details of all expenditures.  
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VII. GENERAL  
 
45.        Method of Giving Any Notice  
Any notice (which term includes any communication or document), other than notice of a 
meeting of Members or a meeting of the Board, to be given (which term includes sent, 
delivered or served) pursuant to the Act, the Articles, the By-Laws or otherwise to a Member, 
director, officer or Member of a committee of the Board or to the public accountant shall be 
sufficiently given:  

1. if delivered personally to the person to whom it is to be given or if delivered to such 
person's address as shown in the records of the Corporation or in the case of notice 
to a director to the latest address as shown in the last notice that was sent by the 
Corporation in accordance with section 128 (Notice of directors) or 134 (Notice of 
change of directors);  

2. if mailed to such person at such person's recorded address by prepaid ordinary or air 
mail;   

3. if sent to such person by telephonic, electronic or other communication facility at 
such person's recorded address for that purpose; or   

4. if provided in the form of an electronic document in accordance with Part 17 of the 
Act.   

 
A notice so delivered shall be deemed to have been given when it is delivered personally or to 
the recorded address as aforesaid; a notice so mailed shall be deemed to have been given when 
deposited in a post office or public letter box; and a notice so sent by any means of transmitted 
or recorded communication shall be deemed to have been given when dispatched or delivered 
to the appropriate communication company or agency or its representative for dispatch. The 
secretary may change or cause to be changed the recorded address of any Member, director, 
officer, public accountant or Member of a committee of the Board in accordance with any 
information believed by the secretary to be reliable. The declaration by the secretary that 
notice has been given pursuant to this by-law shall be sufficient and conclusive evidence of the 
giving of such notice. The signature of any director or officer of the Corporation to any notice or 
other document to be given by the Corporation may be written, stamped, type-written or 
printed or partly written, stamped, type-written or printed.  
 
46.       Invalidity of any Provisions of this By-law  
The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this by-law shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of the remaining provisions of this by-law. 
 
47.       Omissions and Errors  
The accidental omission to give any notice to any Member, director, officer, Member of a 
committee of the Board or public accountant, or the non-receipt of any notice by any such 
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person where the Corporation has provided notice in accordance with the By-Laws or any error 
in any notice not affecting its substance shall not invalidate any action taken at any meeting to 
which the notice pertained or otherwise founded on such notice. 
  
48.       Liaison with Other Organizations  
The Corporation shall communicate as required with other organizations from time to time. The 
degree of formalization which will be arranged with such external relations, liaisons or 
partnerships will be determined by the Board.  
 
49.        Membership in Other Organizations  
The Corporation will from time to time seek affiliation of Membership in other organizations 
pertinent to its objects and purposes. 
 
50.        Spokesperson  
The Chair of the Board and/or the Executive Director, or any other persons as directed by the 
Board may speak on behalf of the Corporation. Such persons shall not bind the Corporation 
beyond the instructions from the Board or those implied in the Objects and Guiding Principles 
of the Corporation.  
 
51.        Consensus  
Unless otherwise required by the Act, the Articles, or these By-Laws, questions arising at any 
meeting of the Members, the Board, or its Committees shall be decided by the consensus.  
A consensus will be considered to have been reached when no Member objects to the question 
on the floor before the meeting. Should the Chair of the meeting determine, after a reasonable 
effort to achieve consensus has been made, that the consensus will not be reached regarding 
particular questions, then the Chair shall refer the question to be decided by a majority vote. 
  
52.      Rules and Policies  
The Board may, from time to time, establish rules and policies in matters such as, but not 
limited to, expense policy, election policy and such other rules and policies as may be required 
for the better administration of the affairs of the Corporation. CDRAF has enacted an Elections 
Policy and Expense Policy which it includes in the body of its By-Laws herein but which can be 
modified at any time by a simple majority of the Board.  
 
53.      CDRAF Expense Policy is as follows:  

1. Each Member is responsible for all expenses and any compensation for Directors 
appointed by that Member attending Board meetings or any other meeting.   

2. The CDRAF is not responsible for compensation, per diems or honorariums for 
Directors or officers at any meetings.   

3. The CDRAF will reimburse reasonable travel expenses incurred by the Executive 
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Director while engaged in CDRAF business to a maximum of $15,000 per year.   
4. To be eligible for reimbursement, expenses must be necessary, reasonable and 

effective. At all times, prudence should be exercised by using the most cost effective 
means of travel and accommodation.   

5. Whenever possible, arrangements should be made to take advantage of corporate 
or preferred rates.   

6. Expenses must be supported by original receipts.   
 

54.       By-Laws and Effective Date  
Subject to the Articles, the Board may, by resolution, make, amend or repeal any By- Laws that 
regulate the activities or affairs of the Corporation. Any such by-law, amendment or repeal shall 
be effective from the date of the resolution of the Board until the next meeting of Members 
where it may be confirmed, rejected or amended by the Members by ordinary resolution. If the 
by-law, amendment or repeal is confirmed or confirmed as amended by the Members it 
remains effective in the form in which it was confirmed. The by-law, amendment or repeal 
ceases to have effect if it is not submitted to the Members at the next meeting of Members or 
if it is rejected by the Members at the meeting.  
 
This section does not apply to a by-law that requires a special resolution of the Members 
according to subsection 197(1) (fundamental change) of the Act because such by-law 
amendments or repeals are only effective when confirmed by Members.  
 
ENACTED by a unanimous vote of the Members at a meeting of the Members of the 
Corporation held on the 13th day of October, 2017.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AMS:759169 



Guidelines for attendance at CDRAF Meetings 
(modified after the CDRAF Meeting June 6, 2018, draft revisions May 2019) 

 
 

Principles 
1. All CDRAF meetings are “open” meetings. An in camera period will be scheduled on the 

agenda for each meeting. The Board may also determine to proceed in camera when 
required to facilitate the discussion of an agenda item or when an agenda item has the 
potential for discussion of personal information. 

2. In order to facilitate discussion and continuity, in person attendance by member 
representatives at the Annual Members Meeting, Board Directors at Board meetings 
and committee/working group members at committee/working group meetings is 
highly encouraged but Member Representatives and Board Directors may attend 
meetings by telephone conference.  

 
 
Member Representatives 

1. If a Member Representative cannot attend a Members Meeting, the CDRAF bylaws state 
that they can vote “by mailed‐in ballot or by means of a telephonic, electronic or other 
communication facility if the Corporation has a system”.  

2. As Member Representatives are appointed by the Member (DRA), a Member can 
temporarily replace a Member Representative who cannot attend a meeting with 
another individual by informing CDRAF of the replacement and subsequently inform the 
CDRAF of another replacement which actually reappoints the original Member 
representative. 

 
 
Directors (Board Directors) 

1. The current Bylaws state: “Method of voting: Voting in an election for the Board 
Directors shall be secret ballot. Eligibility: Only representatives carrying the function of 
Registrar, acting Registrar Secretary or acting Secretary of the Members’ Board can be 
elected as a Director of CDRAF Board.”  

2. The current Bylaws go on to state: “Vacancy at the CDRAF Board: Upon receipt of a 
written confirmation of a new appointment by a member (DRA) of an acting registrar, 
registrar, acting secretary of ODQ Board or Secretary of ODQ Board, CDRAF Executive 
Director calls for an election within 5 working days. “ 

3. While the intent of the current bylaws is clear that the Board Members must be 
registrars, acting registrars or the ODQ Secretary or Acting Secretary, the voting rules 
are cumbersome at best. Therefore, as the intent is clear and to avoid reviewing and 
revising the Bylaws at this time, staff was directed to have a list of Board members for 
election at the annual meeting of Member representatives. 

4. Staff was also directed that in the event a Registrar/Secretary is replaced by their DRA 
either permanently or temporarily, the staff person carrying the function of Registrar, 
acting Registrar Secretary or acting Secretary for the DRA will become the Board 



Director. This will mirror the appointment process for the Member representatives and 
be less cumbersome.  
 
 

Attendance and Participation of Observers 
1. Members (DRAs) are welcome to send observers to any CDRAF meeting. They will be 

seated at an observers table and will not normally speak at meetings 
2. Observers from Third Party Providers (currently CDAC, ACFD, NDEB, RCDC) benefit from 

attending and provide valuable input to CDRAF Member and Board meetings and 
therefore will be invited and encouraged to attend all Board and Members meetings. 
They will be asked to submit a written report to the Members meeting. They may 
submit suggestions for agenda items and written resources to Members Meetings and 
Board Meetings. They will be seated at an observers table and will be asked to present 
reports and speak to agenda submitted by their organization. They will not normally 
speak at other times. 

3. Observers from other organizations benefit from attending and provide valuable input 
to the CDRAF annual Members Meeting and therefore will be invited to attend the 
annual Members Meeting. They will be asked to submit a written report to the 
Members Meeting. Observers from other organizations may attend other CDRAF 
meetings by submitting a written request to the Chair of the meeting through the 
CDRAF office. They will be seated at an observers table and asked to present their 
report. They will not normally speak at other times. 

4. In order to facilitate training and succession, a Deputy Registrar or equivalent senior 
staff may attend CDRAF meetings and sit with Registrar/Secretary.  
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1815 Alta Vista Drive, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada  K1G 3Y6    Tel: 613.523.1770    Fax: 613.523.7736    reception@cda-adc.ca    www.cda-adc.ca 

CDA Report  
 To the 

Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation  
 

 
This is a report of the Canadian Dental Association (CDA) on the major areas of activity in the past 12 
months.   
 
  

         Mission   

 
The Canadian Dental Association is the national voice for dentistry, dedicated to the promotion of optimal 
oral health, an essential component of general health, and to the advancement and leadership of a unified 
profession. 

 
 

           Vision   
 

A Healthy Public 
A Strong Profession 
A United Community 

 
 

        Priorities   
 

Knowledge – to capture, organize and disseminate relevant knowledge and information to Corporate 
Members and key stakeholders. 
 
Advocacy – to protect, promote and advance the dental profession.  
 

Practice Support – to support Corporate Members in dealing with practice management issues.   

 
 

  



 

2 
 

     Priority Projects   
 
In addition to its ongoing activities, the CDA Board has identified four priority projects for implementation in 
the short to medium-term. 

 
1. Future of the Profession – Implement the 12 Priority Recommendations from the CDA 

Task Force Report from the Future of the Profession. 

2. Oral Health for Persons with Special Health Care Needs – Develop advocacy and 
program strategies to enhance access to care. 

3. Indigenous Children’s Oral Health – Engage in dialogue with First Nations to explore 
how dentistry can work with Indigenous Peoples to improve the oral health of 
Indigenous Children through preventative measures and oral health education in a 
culturally appropriate manner.  

4. Practice Support – Lead consultations on dental benefits issues, including claims 
verification and operate support services to dentists including CDAnet; ITRANS; Secure 
Send. 

 

    Future of the Profession 
 

Report of the CDA Task Force 
In 2016, to implement one of its top strategic priorities, the CDA Board of Directors established a 25-
person Task Force on the ‘Future of the Profession’ which was representative of a cross-section of 
dentistry in Canada.  The mandate of the Task Force was to identify and analyze issues related to the 
longer-term prospects of the dental profession in Canada and propose innovative approaches that can 
address the opportunities and threats facing dentistry over the next 10 to 15 years and assist the 
profession in leading, managing and influencing change that will advance optimal oral health and the 
evolution of a strong dental profession. The Task Force report was submitted to the leadership of the 
profession at the April 2018 meeting of the Dentistry Leaders’ Forum. 
 
The report of the CDA Task Force on the Future of the Profession is a ‘call to action’ to Canadian 
dentists. Changing disease patterns, innovative technologies and evolving societal expectations 
combined with new practice models, the ever-increasing supply of dentists and the expanding role of 
mid-level providers are transforming dentistry. The profession needs to navigate these new realities if it 
is to meet its ultimate goal of providing optimal oral health care to all Canadians. The CDA Task Force 
report on the Future of the Profession is the starting point for the profession to collectively develop a 
set of action plans to ensure that dentistry remains a valuable and rewarding profession.  
 
12 Priority Recommendations 
After consultations with the CDA Corporate Members, constituent members and other dental 
stakeholders over the summer of 2018, 12 Priority Recommendations were identified, and they are: 
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Healthy Public Goal: Optimal Oral Health Care for everyone in Canada) 
 
1 The Canadian dental profession should articulate and promote a clear definition of oral health that enables 

the measurement of oral health and systemic health outcomes, and that helps to demonstrate the value of 
oral health care.  

 
2 The Canadian dental profession should promote the intrinsic importance of oral health and highlight the 

relationship between oral health and systemic health. It is the responsibility of the dentist to lead 
interdisciplinary teams in the collaborative management of oral diseases and conditions.  

 
3 The Canadian dental profession should take all possible steps to ensure that the basic oral health needs of 

the entire Canadian population are met, regardless of geography or individual socioeconomic circumstances.  
 

4 The Canadian dental profession should determine what constitutes a “basket” of essential oral health care 
services that everyone in Canada should be able to access.    

 
5 The Canadian dental profession should collaborate and create coalitions with health care and other 

professional groups as well as civil society groups interested in improving the oral health, overall health and 
social and living conditions of people in Canada.  

 
6 The Canadian dental profession should embrace the principle of person-centred care, and, encourage the 

delivery of oral health care to vulnerable patient groups in locations and by delivery methods that are most 
appropriate for these groups. 

 
Strong Profession (Goal: Support for the dentist of the future) 
 
1 The Canadian dental profession should ensure that all dentists licensed to practice have an excellent 

grounding in the principles of professionalism, ethics and empathic communication.   

2 The Canadian dental profession should facilitate the provision of business education and resources for 
dentists that are appropriate for their chosen model of practice.  
 

3 The Canadian dental profession should ensure that graduates are aware of the full range of career options 
available to them, including alternative practice models.  

 
4 The Canadian dental profession should establish a formalized mentorship program for new graduates to 

facilitate the transition into professional practice and to encourage lifelong learning.  
 

5 The Canadian dental profession should advocate for funding of health care technology assessment research 
that will help practicing dentists make wise choices when considering incorporating new technologies into 
practice.  

 
6 The Canadian dental profession should establish a national certification body for continuing dental education 

that assesses courses, to ensure that they are based on sound scientific evidence and free of funding bias and 
conflicts of interest.  
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Implementation of the 12 Priority Recommendations 
 
Two New CDA Board Priority Teams: To guide and oversee the implementation of the 12 Priority 
Recommendations, the CDA Board has established two new CDA Board Priority Teams which are:  
  
 The ‘Healthy Public’ Team  

Goal: Optimal Oral Health Care for everyone in Canada 
 
The CDA Board ‘Healthy Public’ Team is responsible for the coordination of the implementation 
of 6 of the 12 Priority Recommendations that deal with matters external to the profession and 
are focused on patients.  Its mandate is to address public health and access to care issues with 
the goal of achieving optimal oral health care for everyone in Canada. 
 
The ‘Strong Profession’ Team  
Goal: Support for the dentist of the future  

 
The CDA Board ‘Strong Profession’ Team is responsible for coordination of the implementation 
of 6 of the 12 Priority Recommendations that deal with matters internal to the profession and 
focus on dentists. Its mandate is to address professional issues with the goal of supporting the 
dentist of the future.  

 
Four Task Forces and their Immediate Priorities:  Four Task Forces have been established and each will 
address three Priority Recommendations.  At the June CDA Board Planning Session two priorities were 
set for each of the four Task Forces. Attached as Appendix B is the list of the Task Force Members.  

1) Delivery of Care Task Force – Chair, Dr. Lynn Tomkins 
 

Priority 1: Principles of essential oral health care for Canadians 
Priority 2: Access to care for the entire Canadian population 

 
2) Promotion of Care Task Force – Chair, Dr. Joel Antel 

 
Priority 1: Public facing statements on the adopted definition of oral health  
Priority 2: Relationship between oral health and systemic health 

 
3) Lifelong Learning Task Force – Chair, Dr. Bruce Ward 

 
Priority 1: Mentorship for new graduates  
Priority 2: Ethics and professionalism   

 
4) Practice Success Task Force – Chair, Dr. Heather Carr 

 
Priority 1: The range of career options for new graduates 
Priority 2: Business Education and resources 
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Environmental Scan  
 
The CDA’s annual environmental scan is a key instrument for identifying significant trends and emerging 
issues specific to dentistry in order to assess how they may impact the profession, either positively or 
negatively.  CDA does that through an analysis of the political, economic, social and technological 
environment as well as the health and dentistry landscape.  CDA’s current environmental scan has 
identified and prioritized 10 megatrends.   
 
Critical: 

Megatrend 1:   Human resources challenges in dentistry 
 
Significant:   

Megatrend 2:   Growing income inequality affecting access to care 
Megatrend 3:   Evolution of alternative dental care delivery models  
Megatrend 4:   Evolving concepts of the workplace and benefits  
 

Important:  
Megatrend 5:   Expansion of alternative health providers  
Megatrend 6:   Growing commercial nature of oral health care 
Megatrend 7:   The rise of empowered health consumers  
   

Emerging:   
Megatrend 8:    Evolution of alternative dental delivery models 
Megatrend 9:    Shifting care needs for an aging population 
Megatrend 10:  Transformational technologies changing everything 

 

         Access  
 

The CDA’s focus in this area is on three specific areas: 1) Oral Health for Persons with Special 
Health Care Needs; 2) Indigenous Children’s Oral Health and 3) First Visit to Dentist by Age One.  
 
In order to align its efforts and resources, the CDA has established a National Coordinating Working 
Group on Access to Care which brings together representatives from all of the Corporate Members, 
the specialty groups and the Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry (ACFD). The goal has 
been to advocate for access to care for children and seniors, and for 2018 the emphasis has been on 
access to care for persons with special health care needs and on indigenous children’s oral health.    
 
Over the past four years, the CDA has been coordinating an initiative to promote a “First Visit to 
Dentist by Age One” and is undertaking a communication campaign to inform Canadian dentists 
about the issue, and the benefits of making these visits a part of their practice.  
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    Practice Support  
 
Key activities under CDA’s practice support priority are the operation of the CDA ITRANS Claims 
Service and the CDA Secure Send messaging service. To maintain its position in the electronic dental 
benefit claims market, CDA developed ITRANS 2.0 and initiated a pilot in 2018.  To improve its user-
friendly, secure electronic document transmission system, and in response to user feedback, CDA 
released version 2 of Secure Send.  Another key activity was the development of best practices for 
the verification of dental benefit claims by insurance companies.  CDA also concluded negotiations 
with CHLIA to renew the CDAnet agreement with national claims processors.   
 
 

    Policy Issues 
 
CDA serves as a facilitator in the development of common national policy statements to ensure that the 
profession speaks with one voice on key oral health issues.  Under the current governance and 
membership model, CDA and the Corporate Members are committed to working together on questions 
of national policy.   
 
Currently, CDA has official position statements on:    
 

• Access to Oral Health Care for Canadians  
• Association between Periodontal Disease and Systematic Disease 
• Dental Amalgam  
• Breastfeeding and Early Childhood Caries 
• Dental Patients with Total Joint Replacement  
• Delivery of Oral Health Care  
• Early Childhood Caries  
• First Visit to the Dentist  
• Use of Fluorides in Caries Prevention  
• Frequency of Dental Care 
• Provincial Funding of Hospital-Based Dental Services and Post-Graduate Dental Education 
• Junk Food and Oral Health  
• Lasers  
• Use of Latex  in Dentistry 
• Oral Appliance Therapy for Snoring and Sleep Apnea  
• Oral Jewellery 
• Personal Data Protection 
• Prevention of Infective Endocarditis  
• Prevention of Traumatic Oral Facial Injuries 
• Oral Health Care Standards for Residents in Long-Term Care in Canada  
• Pit-and-Fissure Sealants 
• Sweeteners in Medication 
• Tobacco Cessation  
• Tobacco Products and Health  
• Tooth Bleaching and Whitening  
• X-Radiation in Dentistry 

 

http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/amalgam.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/antiobiotic_prophylaxis_joint.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/antiobiotic_prophylaxis_joint.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/delivery_care.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/Early_Childhood_Caries_2010-05-18.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/first_visit.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/Fluorides-English-2010-06-08.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/funding_hospital_dental_services.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/junk_food.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/lasers.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/latex.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/snoring_sleep_apnea.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/oral_jewellery.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/personal_data_protection.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/infective_endocarditis.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/injury_prevention.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/Residents-in-LTC-Facilties-EN.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/sealants.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/sweeteners_medication.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/tobacco_cessation.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/tobacco_products.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/bleaching_whitening.pdf
http://www.cda-adc.ca/_files/position_statements/xradiation.pdf
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Dental Stakeholders 
 
In the past year, the CDA has maintained its strong relationships with all dental stakeholders in Canada 
by ensuring ongoing dialogue with the leadership of the various national dental groups, including the 
Canadian Dental Specialties Association (CDSA) and the dental specialty groups, the Canadian Dental 
Regulatory Authorities Federation (CDRAF), the Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry (ACFD), 
the National Dental Examining Board (NDEB), the Royal Canadian Dental Corps (RCDC), Canadian 
Association of Hospital Dentists (CAHD) and the Federation of the Canadian Dentistry Student 
Associations (FCDSA). The CDA also has ongoing communications with other oral health-related 
organizations including the Dental Industry Association of Canada (DIAC) and the Canadian Life and 
Health Insurance Association (CLHIA).  The CDA maintained its ongoing communication with the 
Canadian Dental Hygienists Association (CDHA) and the Canadian Dental Assistants Association (CDAA).  
 
 

Healthcare Stakeholders 
 
CDA has been active in establishing strong links to the health care community in Canada including the 
Canadian Medical Association (CMA) and the Canadian Pharmacists Association (CPhA).  CDA is also a 
member of a number of health coalitions including the Health Action Lobby (HEAL), the Canadian 
Coalition for Public Health in the 21st Century (CCPH21), the Canadian Health Leadership Network 
(CHLnet), the Canadian Patient Safety Institute (CPSI), the Canadian Coalition for Action on Tobacco 
(CCAT), the Canadian Institute of Health Information (CIHI), the Standards Council of Canada (SCC), the 
Canadian Standards Association (CSA) and Canada Health Infoway.  CDA is also working closely with the 
Assembly of First Nations (AFN) and its NIHB caucus in making representations to the federal 
government on health and oral health services. CDA has also invited Diabetes Canada and the College of 
Family Physicians of Canada to join the Canadian Oral Health Roundtable as participants. 

 

 Key Activities – Knowledge 
 

• Environmental Scan:  produced the 2018 edition  

• State of Oral Health in Canada:  disseminated the companion publication to the CDA 
Environmental Scan to external audiences  

• FDI Congress and Parliamentary Meetings:  contributed to the development of global position 
statements  

• Oasis:  published regular online postings of practical articles that support the clinical work of 
dentists 

• CDA essentials:  produced 16 issues of the CDA magazine (8 English – 8 French) 

• JCDA.ca:  continued to operate the JCDA.ca website to house the online peer-reviewed scholarly 
journal that contributes to the body of knowledge of the profession 

• Seal Program:  implemented a new marketing strategy for the program  

• Dental Aptitude Test: conducted two exams  

• Identification of Future Dentists:  the CDA is collaborating with the ACFD towards the 
evaluation of tests that are either used or could be used to assess the aptitude of candidates for 
entry into dental schools 
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Key Activities – Advocacy 

 

• Pharmacare: Developed strategic approach to the government’s consultations on pharmacare, 
working with other stakeholders and developing a submission that established the important 
role of dentists as prescribers 

• Non-Insured Health Benefits:  Working with the Assembly of First Nations and First Nations and 
Inuit Health Branch to address the actions from the Joint Review of the NIHB program 

• Access to Care for Persons with Disabilities: Conducted outreach to patient, caregiver and 
stakeholder groups, as well as research with dentists on challenges and opportunities to provide 
better care to patients with cognitive and intellectual challenges 

• Days on the Hill:  conducted the 2018 edition of Days on the Hill, with a focus on federal funding 
for provincial oral health programs, oral health research and the Canadian Health Measures 
Surveys, and tax issues 

• Indigenous Children’s Oral Health:  Conducted outreach to indigenous groups and agencies to 
identify issues. Began process of creating culturally safe and appropriate preventative education 
materials   

• Small Business Tax Rate:  conducted a major advocacy campaign on corporate tax issues dealing 
with income sprinkling; passive investments and capital gains working closely with Corporate 
Members and an alliance of external like-minded stakeholders  

• Taxing of Health and Dental Benefits: as a top priority, developed a series of collaborative 
advocacy tools and a network of strategic alliances with other organizations to oppose the 
taxing of health and dental benefits by the federal government  

• Marketing of unhealthy foods to kids: in collaboration with external national organizations, 
participated in an advocacy campaign to limit advertising targeting children 

• Media response: on a priority basis, responded in a timely manner to all media inquiries, 
including significant preparation for a two-hour national CBC radio program focused on dentistry  

• Media monitoring:  on a daily basis, prepared a summary of media stories with an oral health 
component 

• First Visit/First Tooth:  ongoing coordination and support of this education program 

• Trust and Value:  continued to coordinate sharing of resources with communications experts 
and dentist volunteers representing each of the Corporate Members 

 
 

Key Activities - Practice Support 

 

• CDA ITRANS: Completed the development of ITRANS 2.0 which is currently in pilot testing.  

• CDA Secure Send: Completed version 2 of CDA Secure Send, responding to members’ feedback. 
Collaborated with Alberta Blue Cross who now accepts Secure Send messages for the receipt of 
radiographs and other support materials. Developed certification process for dental practice 
management vendors to implement Secure Send directly into their software. Completed legal 
review to ensure intellectual property is maintained when the service is implemented by third 
parties. Started working with dental labs to extend Secure Send to additional parties. 

• CDAnet: Concluded the negotiation of a new CDAnet agreement with the insurance industry.  
One new vendor was certified for CDAnet.  Assisted two claims processors in their upgrade to 
version 4 of CDAnet. Worked with claims processors to facilitate the transmission of co-
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ordination of benefits claims by dental offices. Processed over 16,000 updates to the CDAnet 
subscriber list, transmitting data to claims processors on a weekly basis. 

• CDA Digital ID: In 2018, over 31,000 CDA Digital IDs, that are used to secure CDAnet 
transmissions on the internet, were issued through CDA’s Practice Support Services website.  

• Practice Support Services:  Streamlined many aspects of the Practice Support Services website 
enabling self-serve options for dental offices, which are increasingly being used.   

• Claims verification: worked with the insurance industry towards the development of best 
practices for the verification of dental benefit claims and the conduct of claim audits.  

• Dental Benefits Issues: worked with the Canadian Life and Health Insurance Association (CLHIA) 
and individual carriers on a variety of issues bringing to their attention the views of the 
profession. 

• USC&LS:  Published the annual USC&LS. Drafted a new preamble to the USC&LS that is currently 
being circulated for comments. Continued collaboration with Corporate Members to provide 
answers to USC&LS inquiries, with a view to seeking uniformity across the country.  

• ISO TC 106: CDA hosts the international secretariat for the International Organization for 
Standardization (ISO) technical committee for dentistry (ISO TC 106).  The key benefits of the work 
of ISO TC 106 include: improvements in the quality of care provided to patients, improvements 
in the quality of products in the market, the reduction of barriers to trade in a growing 
international market, the protection of the health and safety of dental patients, users and the 
environment and uniformity of terminology used in dentistry. 
 

 Key Activities - General 
 

• Joint Conventions: held a very successful convention with DAPEI for the 2018 joint convention 
and liaised with the CDSS for the 2019 joint convention 

• Affiliate Memberships:  conducted annual campaign for membership in Quebec 

• NDEB relationship:  implemented a framework for an interface committee for ongoing 
discussions of issues of common interest 

• Board Education: maintained the services of an external expert on governance for education 
sessions with the CDA Board 

• Students: continued to provide secretariat services to the Federation of Canadian Dental 
Students Associations (FCDSA) and provide general coordination support 

• Survey of Canadian Dental Schools:  conducted annual survey of dental schools 

• Common Membership Database with Corporate Members:  CDA’s association management 
system (AMS) continues to be available for Corporate Members. CDA, ODA and NBDS are 
already using the AMS and NBDS has transitioned their member website to the 
system.  Newfoundland is scheduled for onboarding in 2019 
 

 

CDAC 
 
CDA will be collaborating with the Commission of Dental Accreditation of Canada (CDAC) in its transition 
to an independent legal entity. 
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 CDA Committees 
 
The two CDA Board Teams are: 
 

The Healthy Public Team is composed of: 
Dr. Daniel Violette, Team Lead 
Dr. Lynn Tomkins 
Dr. Joel Antel 
Dr. Mike Prestie 
Dr. Roger Armstrong 
 
Dr. Benoit Soucy, staff resource  
Dr. Aaron Burry, staff resource 

 

The Strong Profession Team is composed of: 
Dr. Linda Blakey, Team Lead 
Dr. Richard Holden 
Dr. Heather Carr 
Dr. Tobin Doty 
Dr. Bruce Ward 
 
Dr. John O’Keefe, staff resource 
Mr. Geoff Valentine, staff resource 

 
CDA Committees, Task Force and Working Group 

• Finance and Administration Committee 

• Nominating Committee 

• Audit Committee 

• Awards Committee 

• ED Performance Assessment Committee 

• Committee on Clinical & Scientific Affairs 

• Seal Committee 

• Advocacy Committee 
o NIHB Sub-Committee 

• National Task Force on the Future of the Profession 
o Steering Group on the National Task Force on the Future of the Profession 

• National Coordinating Working Group on Access to Care  
o Task Force on Special Care for Persons with Disabilities 

• Committee on the Identification of Future Dentists  

• USC&LS Committee 

• Committee on Dental Benefits 
o Standard Dental Claim Form Working Group 
o Working Group in Insurance Company Audits 

• CDA/CDRAF Interface Committee 

• CDA/ACFD Interface Committee 

• CDA/CDSA Interface Committee 

• CDA/NDEB Interface Committee 

• Trust and Value Working Group 

• eClaims Working Group 
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 CDA Voting Representatives 
 
The Voting Representatives of the Canadian Dental Association are: 
 

Alberta Dental Association and College 
British Columbia Dental Association 
College of Dental Surgeons of Saskatchewan 
Dental Association of Prince Edward Island 
Manitoba Dental Association 
New Brunswick Dental Society 
Newfoundland and Labrador Dental Association 
Northwest Territories and Nunavut Dental Association and Yukon Dental Association 
Nova Scotia Dental Association 
Ontario Dental Association 
Canadian Dental Specialties Association 
Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry 
Royal Canadian Dental Corps 

 



 

 

 

 

Canadian Dental Specialties Association Report to the Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities 

Federation 

October 2019 
 

The Canadian Dental Specialties Association (CDSA) is now in its eighth year of operation. As the 

national voice of the collective of Canadian National Specialty Organizations, the CDSA is dedicated 

to the representation and advancement of: 

The Canadian dental specialties 

The profession of dentistry; and 

The achievement of optimal oral health, general health and quality of life of Canadians. 

 

2019-2020 CDSA Board of Directors 

 

Dr. Christina McCord Canadian Academy of Oral and 

Maxillofacial Pathology and Oral 

Medicine 

President 

Dr. Carlos Quiñonez Canadian Association of Public Health 

Dentistry 

Vice-President 

Dr. Paul Andrews Canadian Academy of Pediatric Dentistry Secretary-Treasurer 

Dr. Jean-Pierre Picard Canadian Academy of Periodontology Past-President 

 

Dr. Frank Hohn Canadian Association of Oral and 

Maxillofacial Surgeons 

Past-President 

 

Dr. Kevin Calzonetti Canadian Academy of Endodontics  

Dr. Catherine Dale Canadian Association of Oral and 

Maxillofacial Surgeons 

 

Dr. Caroline Nguyen Association of Prosthodontists of Canada  

Dr. Suzanne Perschbacher Canadian Academy of Oral and 

Maxillofacial Radiology 

 

Dr. Gerald Philippson Canadian Association of Orthodontists  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

Currently, there are three key areas of ongoing activity within our organization: 

 

The Future of the National Dental Specialties Examination 

 

The CDSA recognizes that one of our greatest strengths as an organization lies in our ability to 

provide support and counsel to several key stakeholders within the dental profession, including the 

Royal College of Dentists of Canada (RCDC), the Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities 

Federation (CDRAF) and the Canadian Dental Association (CDA). The CDSA had significant 

concerns about the 4 pathways to licensure proposal presented by the CDRAF in April as an 

alternative to the National Dental Specialties Examination (NDSE) for 2020. We recognize the 

significant progress that has been made between the RCDC, the National Dental Examining Board of 

Canada (NDEB) and the CDRAF since that time. The CDSA is encouraged by the collaboration that 

has been demonstrated by the RCDC and the NDEB in order to ensure that the NDSE will remain as 

the sole pathway to specialty licensure in Canada. 

 

CDSA Travel Award 

The CDSA established the Canadian Dental Specialties Association travel award in 2016 in order to 

help specialty trainees in Canadian programs cover the costs associated with presenting research at 

an international meeting. The CDSA is proud to report that to date, 7 awards have been granted.  

Survey on Generalist-Specialist Relationships 

In conjunction with the University of Toronto, Faculty of Dentistry, spearheaded by CDSA board 

member, Dr. Carlos Quiñonez, the CDSA is collaborating on a research study aiming to explore 

generalist-specialist relationships. The CDSA acknowledges and greatly appreciates the support of 

that the CDA has provided in this endeavor, with the goal of strengthening the relationships we view 

as fundamental to the success of dentistry in Canada. The survey is currently in the data collection 

and preliminary data analysis phase. 

The CDSA remains committed to the continued growth and development of our important 

relationship with the CDRAF. We will continue to strive to serve as a useful resource for matters 

pertaining to dental specialists and the dental profession. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Christina McCord, DDS, MSc, FRCD(C) 

President, CDSA  
  
 



CDAC Report to the 
Canadian Dental Regulatory 

Authorities Federation 

( CDAC ( CADC 
Commission on Dental Commission de !'agrement 

Accreditation of Canada dentaire du Canada 

October 2019 



~CDAC 
Commission on Dental 

Accreditation of Canada 

~CADC 
Commission de !'agrement 

dentaire du Canada 

The Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada (CDAC), in consultation with its 
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CDAC 

The Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada (CDAC) is a partnership with membership 
from the public and organizations representing oral health care professionals, educators who 
prepare them and regulators responsible for their competence and continuing safe practice. 

CDAC, in consultation with its partners, develops and approves requirements for educational 
programs preparing dentists, dental specialists, dental interns/residents, dental hygienists and 
dental assistants. CDAC also develops and approves requirements for institutional dental services. 

CDAC reviews educational programs and dental services by means of structured, on-site visits 
following receipt of submissions presenting detailed information in the required format. Programs 
and services meeting or exceeding the requirements are granted accredited status. 

CDAC accredits: 

• Undergraduate dental educational programs 
• Dental specialty educational programs 
• Dental Hygiene educational programs 
• Dental Assisting educational programs 
• Health facility dental services 
• Hospital and non-hospital dental residency educational programs 

Significant Activities since the October 2018 CDRAF Meeting 

Royal Canadian Dental Corps Accreditation Project 

CDAC has been working closely with the Canadian Armed Forces (CAF) and the Royal Canadian 
Dental Corps to conduct survey visits for the accreditation of the CAF dental clinics. 

Survey visits of the Canadian Armed Forces dental clinics began in September 2018 and were 
fmalized in mid-January 2019. This represents survey visits at 24 Detachments (251ocations) 
across Canada. 

• CFB Gagetown, NB (September 24, 20 18) 
• CFB Shilo, MB (October 1, 2018) 
• CFB Winnipeg, MB (October 2, 20 18) 
• CFB Edmonton, AB (October 3, 2018) 
• CFB Wainwright, AB (October 4, 2018) 
• CFB Cold Lake, AB (October 5, 2018) 
• CFB Kingston, ON (October 9, 2018) 
• CFB Trenton, ON (October 10, 2018) 
• CFB Borden, ON (October 11, 2018) 
• CFB Moose Jaw, SK (October 15, 2018) 



• CFB Esquimalt, BC (October 16, 2018) 
• BFC Valcartier, QC (October 18, 2018) 
• BFC Bagotville, QC (October 19, 2018) 
• CFB North Bay, ON (October 25, 2018) 
• CFB Ottawa, ON (October 30, 2018 - NDHQ) 
• CFB Ottawa, ON (October 31,2018- Montfort) 
• BFC Saint-Jean-sur-Richelieu, QC (November 2, 2018) 
• CFB Halifax, NS (November 5, 2018) 
• CFB Greenwood, NS (November 6, 2018) 
• CFB Petawawa, ON (November 7, 2018) 
• CFB Toronto, ON (November 22, 2018) 
• CFB Gander, NL (December 5, 2018) 
• CFB Comox, BC (December 12, 2018) 
• BFC Longue-Pointe, QC (December 13, 2018) 
• CFB St. John's, NL (January 14, 2019) 

Survey reports will be reviewed in November 2019 to determine the accreditation status of each 
Detachment. 

CDAC Funding 

Following several CDRAF meetings or meetings with CDRAF members, CDAC was advised that 
it would receive limited contributions from eight dental regulatory authorities (DRAs) and no 
funding from two DRAs for 2019, unless certain conditions were met: 

Making survey reports available to DRAs 
Concrete progress on separation from the Canadian Dental Association (CDA) 

CDAC was also informed that failure to meet the above conditions would result in DRAs not 
funding CDAC for 2020. 

Due to the uncertainty of CDAC's funding and the possible year-end deficit, CDAC held a joint 
meeting of the Dentistry Committee and the Health Facilities/Dental Residencies Committee on 
May 3, 2019, to discuss the impact on the scheduled 2019 survey visits. The committees voted to 
postpone the remaining 2019 survey visits to 2020 and extend the accreditation status of the 
impacted programs to November 30, 2020. 

Since most requests from the DRAs, including the two conditions stated above, were presented as 
obligations due to Fair Registration Practices Acts or Fairness Commissioners (Manitoba, Ontario, 
Quebec, Nova Scotia), CDAC met with the Office of the Manitoba Fairness Commissioner 
(OMFC) on May 23, 2019, to discuss, from their perspective (legislation and regulation), the 
obligations of an accrediting agency vis-a-vis the above conditions and other requests made by 
DRAs. Following the meeting, the Manitoba Fairness Commissioner also discussed these issues 
with her counterpart from Quebec. They confirmed that: "The assertion that DRAs are obliged as 
a matter of fairness legislation to ensure CDAC's accreditation practices are fair, transparent, 
objective and impartial and that CDAC needs to be separate from CDA is a bit of a stretch. The 
specific duty identified in Manitoba's fairness legislation speaks to a third parties' assessment of 



an individual's qualifications, not the assessment of academic programs and there is no mention 
of governance models. It is also unlikely that current CDAC certification practice will receive 
much scrutiny from a Fairness Commissioner, as we see this as outside our principal area of 
concern". 

However, following the meeting with the OMFC, further discussions occurred between CDAC, 
the DRAs, and the Deans to address the request for access to survey reports. As the meeting with 
the OMFC confirmed that providing accreditation reports to DRAs is not required, the Deans and 
the DRAs continued their conversation to find an agreement. It was proposed that the Deans would 
provide their own provincial DRA with a summary of the CDAC survey report. 

CDAC was then informed that following the agreement between the Deans and the DRAs, and 
after submission by CDAC of a plan to separate from CDA, the eight DRAs that provided only 
part of the 2019 funding would provide their remaining contribution and the two provinces that 
had not provided any funding would send their full contribution for 2019. 

Further discussions regarding the sustainability of CDAC's funding will need to occur as part of 
the project to become an independent legal entity. 

CDAC Governance and Accreditation Process 

In February 2019, CDRAF created a working group to look at CDAC's governance model and its 
accreditation process. CDAC representatives attended two meetings of this working group. 
Although CDAC's governance will ultimately be decided by the Commission and mechanisms are 
already in place to monitor and implement best practices related to accreditation, CDAC is always 
open to collaborate with its stakeholders to further enhance its service delivery. 

Stakeholder Meetings and Conferences 

Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation (CDRAF) 
• November 9-10,2018- Montreal, QC (Workshop on National Competencies) 
• January 19,2019- Montreal, QC (Meeting with ODQ andRCDSO) 
• February 8, 2019- Toronto, ON (Meeting with CDRAF Working Group) 
• February 9, 2019- Toronto, ON 
• March 2, 2019- Montreal, QC (Meeting with CDRAF Working Group) 
• AprillO, 2019- Ottawa, ON 
• June 16, 2019- Vancouver, BC (Meeting with ODQ and RCDSO) 
• August 22-23, 2019- St. John's, NL 

Federation ofDental Hygiene Regulators of Canada (FDHRC) 
• AprillO, 2019- Montreal, QC 

Canadian Dental Assisting Regulatory Authorities (CDARA) 
• Apri110, 2019- Ottawa, ON 



Canadian Dental Association (CDA) 
• April11-12, 2019- Ottawa, ON 

National Dental Hygiene Certification Board (NDHCB) 
• May2019 
• September 2019 

Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry (ACFD) 
• June 16-18, 2019 - Vancouver, BC (Biennal Conference and Annual General Meeting) 

Royal College ofDentists of Canada (RCDC) 
• September 28,2019- Gatineau, QC 

International Medical Education Leaders Forum 
• October 15-17, 2018 - Halifax, NS 

Annual Canadian CEOs and Registrars Meeting 
• December 5-7,2018- Montreal, QC 

Ontario Dental Hygienists Association I College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario Educators 
Forum 

• May 2, 2019- Toronto, ON 

International Activities 

For certification and licensure in Canada, programs that are accredited by either CDAC or the 
American Dental Association's Commission on Dental Accreditation (CODA) are considered 
accredited. In addition, the following general dentistry programs are also considered accredited: 

• Effective March 30, 2010, general dentistry programs accredited by CDAC or the 
Australian Dental Council (ADC). 

• Effective December 15, 2011, general dentistry programs accredited by CDAC or the 
Dental Council ofNew Zealand (DCNZ). 

• Effective December 5, 2012, general dentistry programs accredited by CDAC or the Irish 
Dental Council. 

Dental Council of New Zealand, Dental Council of Ireland and Australian Dental Council 

With respect to the Mutual Recognition Agreements between CDAC and the Dental Council of 
New Zealand (DCNZ), the CDAC Director participated, as an observer, on the site visit of the 
University of Otago Faculty ofDentistry (Dunedin, Otago, NZ- September 1-6, 2019). 

During this visit, several meetings were also organized with representatives of the Dental Council 
of Ireland (DCI), also attending the site visit as observers. The President, the Registrar, and the 
Education Manager attended for the DCI. 



The CDAC Director also attended the monthly meeting of the DCNZ in Wellington~ NZ on 
September 9, 2019. 

Also~ on September 9, in Wellington, the CDAC Director attended a meeting with DCI 
representatives and the Chief Executive Officer of the Australian Dental Council. 

Commission on Dental Accreditation (U.S.A.} 

Commission on Dental Accreditation (CODA) Closed and Open Sessions 
• August 1-2~ 2019 - Chicago, IL, US 

Other Meetings and Conferences 

American Dental Education Association (ADEA) Annual Session and Exhibition 
• March 16-18, 2019- Chicago, IL, US 



Accreditation Updates - 2018 

Survey Visits 

In 2018, CDAC conducted a total of 32 survey 
visits, excluding Canadian Armed Forces (CAF) 
visits, compared to 36 survey visits in 2017. 

In addition, CDAC conducted 26 survey visits of 
Dental Detachments of the Canadian Armed 
Forces between September 2018 and January 
2019. 

Including the CAF visits, CDAC conducted a total 
of 58 surveys in 2018. 

32+26 
L Survey visits in 2018 

35 
L Survey visits 

planned for 2019 

The following programs participated in an accreditation survey in 2018: 

Dental/Dental Speciality Programs (5) 

University of Saskatchewan 
(Saskatoon, SK) 

• Doctor of Dental Medicine (DMD) 

Universite de Montreal 
(Montreal , QC) 

• Doctor of Dental Medicine (DMD) 
• Pediatric Dentistry 
• Orthodontics 

University of Alberta (Edmonton, AB): 

• Oral Medicine 



Accreditation Updates - 2018 

Dental Assisting Programs (8) 

• Fanshawe College (London, ON • KDM Dental College (Edmonton, AB) 

• George Brown College (Toronto, ON) • CDI College Calgary North (Calgary, AB) 

• Oulton College (Moncton, NB) 

• Vancouver Island University (Nanaimo, BC) 

• Nova Scotia Community College (Halifax, NS) 

• KDM Dental College (Calgary, AB) 

Dental Hygiene Programs (9) 

• Fanshawe College (London, ON 

• George Brown College (Toronto, ON) 

• Oulton College (Moncton, NB) 

• Vancouver Island University (Nanaimo, BC) 

• College Edouard-Montpetit (Longueuil , QC) 

• Cegep Franc;ois-Xavier-Garneau (Quebec, QC) 

• Canadian Academy of Dental Health (Mississauga, ON) 

• Canadian National Institute of Health (Ottawa, ON) 

• Cegep de I'Outaouais (Gatineau, QC) 

Dental Internship 
Programs, Health 
Facilities, and 
Fellowships (10) 

• Alberta Children's Hospital- Dental Service (Calgary, AB) 

• Alberta Health Services Dental Public Health Clinic- Dental Service 

(Calgary, AB) 

• Alberta Health Services Foothills Medical Centre- Dental 

Service (Calgary, AB) 

• Alberta Health Services Foothills Medical Centre- Residency 

Program (Calgary, AB) 

• BC Cancer Agency Fraser Valley- Dental Service (Surrey, BC) 

• BC Cancer Agency Kelowna - Dental Service (Kelowna, BC) 

• BC Cancer Agency Vancouver - Dental Service (Vancouver, BC) 

• BC Cancer Agency Prince George- Dental Service (Prince George, BC) 

• Universite de Montreal- Residency Program (Montreal, QC) 

• Baycrest HSC- Dental Service (Toronto, ON) 



Accreditation Updates - 2019 

Survey Visits 

In 2019, CDAC had planned to conduct 35 
survey visits, compared to 58 in 2018. However, 
due to limited funding received for 2019 (as of May 
2019), 10 survey visits were rescheduled to 2020 
and an accreditation status extension was granted 
to impacted programs. 

In addition, one program opted to delay their initial 
survey visit; three limited survey visits were added 
and one program visited in April 2019 will be 
subject to another survey visit in September 2019. 

CDAC conducted 24 survey visits in 2019 (as of 
July) and will be conducting three visits in 
September, for a total of 27 surveys in 2019. 

27 
L 

30 

Survey visits in 2019 

L Survey visits 
planned for 2020 

The following programs participated in an accreditation survey in 2019: 

Dental/Dental Speciality Programs (4) 

University of Toronto 
(Toronto, ON) 

• Doctor of Dental Surgery (DDS) 
• Oral and Maxillofacial Su rgery (OMFS) 
• Orthodontics 
• Pediatric Dentistry 



Accreditation Updates - 2019 

Dental Assisting Programs (8) 

• College of New Caledonia (Prince George, BC) 

• SAlT/ University of Saskatchewan (Saskatoon, SK) 

• CDI College- Edmonton (Edmonton, AB) 

• Confederation College (Thunder Bay, ON) 

• Camosun College (Victoria, BC) 

• Columbia College (Calgary, AB) 

Dental Hygiene Programs (9) 

• Oxford College (Scarborough, ON) 

• College of New Caledonia (Prince George, BC) 

• A PLUS (Toronto, ON) 

• Confederation College (Thunder Bay, ON) 

• Camosun College (Victoria, BC) 

• Niagara College (Weiland, ON) 

• Toronto College of Dental Hygiene (Toronto, ON) 

• Niagara College (Weiland, ON) 

• Holland College (Charlottetown, PE) 

• CDI College- Edmonton (Edmonton, AB)

September 2019 

• Northeast Cancer Centre (Sudbury, ON) 

Dental Internship 
Programs, Health 
Facilities, and 
Fellowships (10) 

• Queen Elizabeth II Health Sciences Centre (Halifax, NS) 

• St. Joseph's Health Centre (London, ON) 

• London Health Sciences Centre (London, ON) 

• Western University Residency Program (London, ON) 

September 2019 

• Alberta Health Services- Foothills Medical Centre (Calgary, AB) 

• Alberta Health Services- Foothills Medical Centre Residency 

Program (Calgary, AB) 
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NDSE Transition 

The following is an update on the NDSE transition as of October 1, 2019. 

Actions Status 

NDEB will meet with RCDC to discuss 

transition 
• June 12, 2019 Conference call  

• June 18, 2019  Meeting in 
Vancouver, B.C. 

• July 25, 2019 Meeting at the RCDC 
office in Toronto, On. 

• August 7, 2019 Operational 
conference call.  

• Weekly calls between NDEB and 
RCDC were instituted to facilitate 
progression in a timely manner.  

NDEB will request RCDC provide a list 

of recommended examiners in all 

specialties to be appointed by NDEB 

 

Examiners were recommended to the 

Examinations Committee at the September 

2019 meeting. Examiners have been 

recommended for approval by the Board in 

October. 

NDEB will make a resolution to 

administer specialty exams and 

modify By-laws to include specialty 

exams and additional membership on 

the Examinations Committee for two 

members who must be specialists 

 

The resolution will be proposed at the 

October 26, 2019 Annual Meeting 

Revised Terms of Reference for the 

Examinations Committee have been 

recommended for approval by the Board in 

October. The revisions include the addition of 

two members, a requirement that two 

members of the Committee be specialists, and 

that all Committee members except those 

recommended by ODQ and ACFD be 

nominated from the list of approved NDEB 

examiners. 

Develop contract with RDCD as a 

third-party service provider for exam 

content, workshops and result 

production 

 

In progress 

NDEB has agreed to enter into a five-year 

service contract with RCDC. NDEB will 

determine what they want to accomplish each 

year of the five-year transition.  

A service agreement has been drafted and 

presented to RCDC for review and comment. 
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A list of RCDC “asks” was received by NDEB 

October 6, 2019 and are under revision. 

 

Meet with various departments at the 

RCDC offices to discuss operations 

including: 

- Investigating how credential 

verification of specialists is done 

- reviewing existing financials 

- meeting with Director of 

Examinations to obtain blueprints 

- reviewing the examiner composition 

of development workshops 

 

On July 25, 2019 NDEB met with the 

director of examinations, the person in 

charge of credential verification and the 

person in charge of IT.  

NDEB Executive Director held a meeting 

with RCDC’s psychometrician 

 

Obtain permission to use National 

Dental Specialty Examination (NDSE) 

including NDSE internet domain name 

 

IT and Communications from both NDEB and 

RCDC had a conference call in August to 

discuss the transfer of the domain and 

branding. 

NDEB has determined that it will provide all 

information regarding the NDSE through the 

NDEB website.  

Establish a detailed budget 

 

In progress.  

A detailed budget was reviewed by the NDEB 

Finance and Audit Committee in September 

2019.  

Establish a way to manually register 

candidates and collect fees 

 

In progress 

The NDEB would prefer to register candidates 

electronically and is currently investigating 

options. 

Review examination blueprints 

 

Blueprints and a passing standard for the 

NDSE were reviewed by the Examinations 

Committee in September and recommended 

for approval by the Board in October. 

Develop and approve examination 

protocol(s) 

 

In progress 

Protocols will be developed following approval 

of the blueprint and receipt of material such 
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as sample questions. It is expected these will 

be available for examinees in January 2020. 

Involve NDEB examiners in question 

development workshops 

 

NDEB has recommended the appointment of 

Dr. Robert Loney as Chief Examiner for the 

NDSE.  

Dr. Loney is expected to attend the 

development workshops to observe and 

advise on questions as needed. 

Dr. Daniel Turgeon has been appointed 

Assistant Chief Examiner by the Examinations 

Committee. 

Approve the French version of the 

examinations  

 

RCDC has outlined their process for 

translation of the examinations. NDEB will 

ensure that each of the examination 

translations are reviewed by a francophone 

specialist in that specialty.  

Determine method to communicate 

results to candidates 

 

 

NDEB rescore and compassionate 

appeal process will apply 

 

NDEB rescore process will apply for the 2020 

examinations and will be outline in the 

Protocols. NDEB By-Laws are currently being 

modified to include NDSE candidates and the 

NDSE. Modifications include application of all 

existing NDEB appeals processes to NDSE 

candidates.  

NDEB has determined that the cost of a 

rescore for an NDSE will be approximately 

$2000 in the initial year as it will require 

regrading by two examiners. 

 

Legal 

The NDEB continues to face legal challenges from participants who have failed assessments in 

the Equivalency Process. The NDEB is currently working with representatives from Dentons LLP 

on seven judicial review applications. To date the NDEB has received four favourable outcomes 

from judicial reviews. 
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Since the decisions have been rendered, two participants have appealed the decision of the 

Courts. The Court of Appeals denied the submission of one participant and the trial of the second 

appeal is scheduled to take place later this year. In addition to judicial reviews, the NDEB 

dedicates time to deal with copyright and trademark infringement by organizations suggesting 

association with the NDEB. 

The following table is a summary of the judicial reviews received by NDEB since 2016. 

Date received Assessment  Status  Cost* 

September 28, 2016 
 
Alizadeh 

ACS December 2015 
(Toronto) 

Dismissed 
Costs due to the NDEB 
$4,000.00 all inclusive. 

$200,979 

August 8, 2017 
 
Kabiri 

ACS December 2015 
(Vancouver) 

Dismissed 
(November 6, 2018) 
No costs due. 
 

Appealed  
Appeal hearing  
Scheduled November 6, 
2019  
 

$111,413.12 

October 4, 2017 
 
Wan 

ACS December 2015 
(Vancouver) 

Dismissed 
(January 11, 2019)  
 

$53,671.62 

November 7, 2017 
 
Ibrahim 

ACS December 2016 
(Dalhousie) 

Dismissed 
(January 10, 2019) 
 
Court of Appeals denied 
the participant’s appeal 
and had to pay $750.00 
to the NDEB. Dues were 

paid. (August 8, 2019) 
 

$120,476.17  

February 9, 2018 
 
Kaur 

ACS June 2016 
(Vancouver) 

In progress  
Hearing scheduled 
October 10, 2019 

$91,201.46 

May 16, 2018 
 
Pour 

ACS June 2017 
(Toronto) 

In progress 
Motion to require NDEB 
to release assessment 
teeth 

$79,981.23 

August 3, 2018 
 
Mattar 

ACS June 2017 
(Montreal) 

In progress $32,401.24 

August 14, 2018 
 
Metarchyan 

ACS December 2016 
(Toronto) 

Application withdrawn 
after the Affidavit of Dr. 
Dagenais was produced 

$34,581.46 

Octobre 22, 2018  
 
Verma 

ACS December 2017 
(UBC) 

In progress 
Hearing October 16, 
2019 

$28,557.55 

November 2, 2018 
 
Esmaili 

ACS December 2016 
(Alberta) 

In progress 
Dr. Dagenais was cross-
examined on August 1st, 
2019.  

$39,502.72 
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February 4, 2019 
 
Al-Amin 

Executive Committee 
decision not to hear in 
compassionate appeal 
of ACJ December 2017 
(Western) 

In progress  $22,078.40 

March 20, 2019 
 
Chauhan 

ACS June 2018 (UBC) In progress 
 
Hearing scheduled 
December 18 and 19, 
2019 
 

$11,537.29 

 
April 16, 2019 
 
Rashidan 

2018 Executive 
Committee decision not 
to hear in 
compassionate appeal 
of  
ACJ June 2012 

ACJ June 2013 
ACJ June 2014 

In progress  

 

Going Digital 

In September 2018, the NDEB celebrated a pivotal step in its transition to electronic delivery with 

the successful delivery of the Dental Specialty Core Knowledge Examination (DSCKE) at Prometric 

Test Centres in Canada.  

Leading up to the September delivery, the NDEB ran three pilot tests to gain feedback on the 

usability of the software and identify any issues. An orientation video was also created to provide 

examinees with an overview of the functionality in the electronic exam and the opportunity to 

take a practice test.  

In May 2019 the NDEB administered the Assessment of Clinical Judgement (ACJ) for the first 

time electronically across the country and in select international locations. 

Unfortunately, unanticipated technical problems occurred. Despite the technical issues, it was 

determined that the May 2019 ACJ was valid. The NDEB acknowledged; however, that the 

circumstances that occurred during the administration of the ACJ may have affected some 

participant’s performance. Considering these issues, all participants who were unsuccessful on 

the May 2019 ACJ had their result voided and were offered the opportunity to retake the 

Assessment on a one-time exceptional basis in August 2019 at no cost or receive a refund of the 

May 2010 Assessment fee.  
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The technical issues experienced during the May 2019 ACJ have been identified and resolved and 

the NDEB intends to continue with its plan to convert its paper and pencil examinations to 

electronic delivery. The electronic delivery scheduled for 2019-2020 is as follows. 

▪ DSCKE – September 13, 2019 

▪ ACJ – November 23 & 24, 2019 

▪ DSCKE – February 7, 2020 

▪ ACJ – May 8 & 9, 2020 

▪ NDSE – Tentatively scheduled for June 2020  
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Introduction 
The Royal College of Dentists of Canada was established in 1965 by a Federal Act of Parliament and that 
legislation serves as our Constitution. Two (2) of the four (4) objects of the College, set out in the Act, are: to 
promote high standards of specialization in the profession; and to set up qualifications and provide for the 
recognition and designation of properly trained dental specialists. The Board of Directors is made up of Fellows 
representing all of the dental specialties recognized by the Canadian Dental Association. Up until 2019, our 
major work consists of conducting t h e  N a t i o n a l  D e n t a l  S p e c i a l t y  E xaminations ( N D S E )  for all 
of the specialties. Over the last decade the results of the NDSE had become one (1) of the standards used by 
Canada's dental regulatory authorities to grant registration to dentists who wish to practice as specialists. In the 
next few months, the Board will assess the needs of our membership and will work on strategic planning in order 
to chart a course of action of the coming years.  

Definitions 
ACFD  Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry 
CDAC  Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada 
CDSA  Canadian Dental Specialties Association 
DPH  Dental Public Health 
DRA  Dental Regulatory Authority 
DS  Dental Sciences 
DSATP  Dental Specialty Assessment and Training Program 
NDEB  National Dental Examining Board of Canada 
NDSE  National Dental Specialty Examination 
OMOP  Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 
OMR  Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology 
OMS  Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 
ORTHO Orthodontics 
PEDO  Pediatric Dentistry 
PERIO  Periodontics 
PROS  Prosthodontics 
RCDC  The Royal College of Dentists of Canada 
USA  United States of America 

  



 

3 
 

Governance 

Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is comprised of the elected and appointed Directors. For further clarification, elected 
Board members are elected by the electing members of the College, representing each of the dental specialties 
recognized by the Canadian Dental Association. The appointed members (i.e.: Registrar, Examiner-in-Chief, 
Secretary and Treasurer) are appointed by the Board. 

The following list represents the membership of the Board for 2018-2019, as of the date of this report.  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 2018-2019 

Position Name  

Chair Dr. Hugh Lamont  

Registrar Dr. Leland McFadden  

Treasurer/Interim Secretary Dr. James Posluns  

Examiner-in-Chief Dr. Benjamin Davis  

Director, Dental Public Health Dr. Kalyani Baldota  

Director, Endodontics Dr. John Odai  

Director, Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Dr. Michel El-Hakim  

Director, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology Dr. Karen Burgess  

Director, Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology Dr. Daniel Turgeon  

Director, Orthodontics Dr. Tarek El-Bialy  

Director, Pediatric Dentistry Dr. Paul Andrews  

Director, Periodontics Dr. Carolyn Mason  

Director, Prosthodontics Dr. John Zarb  

 
The Board has also extended invitations to two (2) official observers each of the stakeholders listed below: 

• Association of Canadian Faculties of Dentistry 
• Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation 

• Canadian Dental Specialties Association 

• Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada 

• National Dental Examining Board of Canada 
  
The mandate of the Board is to exercise general supervision over the business and affairs of the College on 
behalf of the entire membership of the organization. The Board has the power to make such bylaws, rules and 
regulations, consistent with the Act of Parliament and within the bounds of applicable legislation, as it deems 
necessary or advisable for the government and management of the business and affairs of the College. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for: 

• The general conduct of the affairs of the College. 

• The enactment, amendment, suspension, or repeal of College bylaws. 

• The management of funds of the College and the establishment and collection of fees and dues. 

• The election of the Executive Officers and the appointment of an Executive Committee. 
• The approval of applicants for Fellowship, and the classification, admission and expulsion of Fellows. 

• The appointment of an Education Committee. 
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• The appointment of a Bylaw Committee. 
• The appointment of a Budget and Audit Committee. 

• The appointment of a Fellowship Affairs Committee. 

• The appointment of other committees as the Board determines to be necessary or desirable. 

• The appointment of an Auditor. 

• Any other duties not provided for in the College´s Constitution or bylaws. 

Committees 

Executive Committee 
The Executive Committee was disbanded in September 2018 and the Board of Directors took over direct 
supervision of the College. It is unclear at this time whether the College will return to a governance structure that 
includes an Executive Committee.  

Education Committee 
The Education Committee was disbanded in March 2018 in anticipation that it would be replaced by the National 
Dental Specialty Examination Board. However, in December 2018, RCDC was informed by CDRAF that the 
NDSE will not be administered by RCDC beyond 2019, as it is the desire of CDRAF to house all licensure 
examinations under the umbrella of the NDEB.  

NDSE Committee 
The NDSE Committee was a sub-committee of the Education Committee. Since the Education Committee has 
been disbanded, the NDSE Committee reports directly to the Board of Directors. The NDSE Committee is 
responsible for the final deployment of the NDSE (by RCDC) in June 2019. Following the last NDSE 
administration, the NDSE Committee was dissolved. The following list represents the membership of the NDSE 
Committee at its dissolution.  

NDSE COMMITTEE 2018-2019 
Position  Name 

Examiner-in-Chief / Chair  Dr. Benjamin Davis 

 Associate Examiner-in-Chief  Dr. Christine Corbeil 

Chief Examiner - DPH  Dr. Garry Aslanyan 

Chief Examiner - ENDO  Dr. Craig Tervit 

Chief Examiner - OMS  Dr. Brian Rittenberg 

Chief Examiner - OMOP  Dr. Riva Black 

Chief Examiner - OMR  Dr. K.C. Chan 

Chief Examiner - ORTHO  Dr. Susan Eslambolchi 

Chief Examiner - PEDO  Dr. Gordon Payne 

Chief Examiner - PERIO  Dr. Jean-Pierre Picard 

Chief Examiner - PROS  Dr. Izchak Barzilay 

Interim Executive Director  Dr. James Posluns 

Psychometrician  Dr. Brian Hess 

Director, Examinations  Ms. Anne-Amandine Perdebat 

Systems and Support Manager  Mr. Kyle Todt 
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The objective of the NDSE Committee was to maintain or enhance the organization’s high standards through 
program development and volunteer engagement for the National Dental Specialty Examinations. 

The NDSE Committee was responsible for: 

Program Development 

• Develop and maintain NDSE best practice criteria for consideration by the Board. 
• Advise on trends, information and statistics in relation to the NDSE for the purpose of policy and 

process development and evaluation. 
• Develop and recommend examination policies and procedures to the Board for approval. 
• Ensure that specialty Examination Teams comply with policy and procedures to minimize risk. 

 
      Volunteer Engagement 

• Review, on an annual basis, the position descriptions for all volunteers involved in the 
administration of the NDSE. 

• Advise on the need for task-related training for volunteers involved in all aspects of the NDSE. 
• Develop training materials as requested. 
• Recommend formal and informal recognition methods for volunteers involved in the NDSE. 

 

Credentials Committee 
The Credentials Committee was a sub-committee of the Education Committee. Since the Education Committee 
has been disbanded, the Credentials Committee now reports to the NDSE Committee. 

The objective of the Credentials Committee is to ensure that all NDSE candidates meet the eligibility 
requirements to ensure the organization operates effectively and achieves its vision mission and goals. 
 
The Credentials Committee is responsible for: 

• Assessing candidate applications when requested by the Admissions Officer. 
• Determining the ruling of an applicant’s eligibility and/or the conditions to be met by the applicant to 

attain eligibility to sit the NDSE. 
 

Appeals Committee 
The Appeals Committee was a sub-committee of the Education Committee. Since the Education Committee has 
been disbanded, the Appeals Committee now reports to the NDSE Committee. 

The Appeals Committee is responsible for: 
• Overseeing the appeals process and ensuring compliance with the formal review policy. 
•  Overseeing the appeal review and decision process carried out by the Examiner-in-Chief, 

Formal Review Panel and Oral Hearing Panel. 
 

Unsuccessful candidates may initiate an appeal of their examination results in the event that significant 

procedural irregularities negatively impacted their performance. These requests must be received within fifteen 

(15) days from the communication of examination results and include: (i) a written statement that clearly outlines 

the alleged procedural errors, and (ii) payment of the $500 administrative fee.  

 

As part of the appeal process, RCDC will consider the candidate's statement outlining the alleged procedural 

irregularities, available documentary evidence, e.g.: observer records and examiner notes, and examination 

marks.  
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Bylaw Committee 
The Bylaw Committee is responsible for the oversight of the organization’s bylaws. 

The Bylaw Committee is responsible to: 
• Ensure the bylaws are in accord with national and provincial legislation and expectations. 
• Ensure the bylaws are aligned with organizational priorities. 
• Ensure the bylaws are effective in achieving the organization’s mandate. 
• Ensure the bylaws are free of grammatical or typographical errors. 
• Ensure the bylaws are at all times current and published on the College website. 
• Ensure the bylaws are consistent with other existing requirements within the bylaws or other 

policies. 
• Review and present any proposed changes to the bylaws at the annual Board meeting. 
• Propose new bylaws to the Board. 
• Present approved bylaw changes to the membership at the Annual General Meeting. 

 
In September 2018, the Board of Directors voted unanimously to approve new bylaws, which are now in force. 
The reason for the update was to eliminate from the bylaws any clauses or sections that was a statement of 
policy or procedure. The sections eliminated from the bylaws were incorporated into Governance policies. These 
policies were approved at the March 2019 meeting.  

Budget and Audit Committee 
The Budget and Audit Committee is a sub-committee of the Board.  

The Budget and Audit Committee is responsible for the oversight of the organizations financial stability and is 
responsible to: 
 
 Budget 

• Ensure the financial stability of the organization. 
• Ensure appropriate financial controls are in place, and that the organization meets statutory and 

regulatory compliance. 
• Work with the Executive Director to develop the budget. 
• Review, on a monthly basis, the financial reports. 
• Review, on an annual basis, the Financial Management policies, and recommend changes to 

the Board. 
• Present the budget for the upcoming fiscal year at the annual Board meeting. 

 
 Audit 

• Oversee the external audit. 
• Recommend to the Board the appointment of an external auditor. 
• Present the Audited Financial Statements at the Annual General Meeting. 
• Review, and recommend to the Board for approval, the Audited Financial Statements. 

 
 
 Signing Authority 

• Approve authorized signing authorities. 
 
 Investments 

• Responsible to ensure professional management of the organization’s investment portfolio and 
any real property. 

  
 Fund Development 
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• Recommend to the Board strategies to increase the funding available to the organization. 
  Undertake a cost benefit analysis for fund development initiatives. 

Fellowship Affairs Committee 
The Fellowship Affairs Committee is a standing committee of the Board.  

The Fellowship Affairs Committee is responsible for the membership program, including professional 
development, communication and awards, ensuring that the needs of the membership are met. 

The Fellowship Affairs Committee is responsible to: 

 Membership Program 

• Develop and maintain a formalized membership program. 
• Define, and review on an annual basis, benefits available to members. 

 
 Professional Development 

• Develop a professional development strategy and process. 
  
 Communication 

• Develop and maintain a member communication plan.  
• Develop and maintain a feedback mechanism to ensure the membership has a voice. 

  
 Awards 

• Develop and maintain an awards program, including award policies and criteria.  
• Recommend award recipients to the Board of Directors. 

National Dental Specialty Examination 
The NDSE is a high-stakes examination which previously consisted of two (2) components: Component I 
(Written) and Component II (Oral). Component I was designed to test a candidate´s knowledge of the specialty; 
whereas Component II was designed to test candidates´ ability to diagnose and treat oral conditions and to 
evaluate the outcomes of care. Successful completion of Component I was a prerequisite to challenge 
Component II. 

In consultation with its stakeholders at the Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation, The Board of 
Directors canceled Component I and Component II of the 2019 NDSE. The Board of Directors determined that a 
single administration of the NDSE would be offered in Toronto at a cost of $6,500 in June 2019.  

The College’s Psychometrician, Examiner-in-Chief and Chief Examiners revised the examination to ensure that 
the NDSE continued to be a valid and sustainable competency assessment. 

Information on the revamped 2019 NDSE were published on the website on December 1, 2018. The application 
window for the 2019 administration of the examination opened on that day and closed on January 15, 2019.  

The final administration of the NDSE by RCDC was between June 14 and 16 at the Marriott Downtown at CF 
Toronto Eaton Centre.  

Examination Eligibility 
The following describes the eligibility requirements for candidates to challenge the NDSE: 

Application for Examination - Each applicant for examination shall: 

(a) Submit evidence of: 
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i. having completed or being, at the time of taking the examination, in the final year of a dental 
specialty training program which, during the course of the candidate´s enrolment in the program, 
was accredited by the Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada or an accreditation body 
with which the Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada has a reciprocal accreditation 
agreement; or 

ii. having completed or being, at the time of taking the examination, enrolled in a Dental Specialty 
Assessment and Training Program (DSATP) for internationally trained dental specialists which, 
during the course of the candidate´s enrolment in the DSATP, was a part of a specialty training 
program accredited by the Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada or an accreditation 
body with which the Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada has a reciprocal 
accreditation agreement, and having approval from the program director or the Dean, in the form 
of a letter, stating that the applicant is prepared academically to sit the examination; 

 (b) Submit the prescribed application form together with the requisite documentation to the College by the 
prescribed date; and 

(c) Pay the examination and application fees by the prescribed date. 

Documentary Evidence 
Proof of completion was required for applicants who have already completed an accredited dental specialty 
program or the DSATP for internationally-trained dental specialists.  
 
If enrolled in the final year of studies at an accredited program, applicants must submit a letter from the Dean or 
Program Director confirming their enrollment in the program and expected completion date. If the applicant is 
currently enrolled in a DSATP, the Dean or Program Director letter must also clearly state that the candidate is 
academically prepared to sit the examination.  
 
Only original documents or copies certified by the issuing institution will be accepted; photocopies, electronic 
copies, or those certified by a notary public will not be accepted. 

Fees  
Full payment of all applicable fees (listed below) is required to complete an application to challenge the NDSE.  
 
Application Fee1 $500 
Examination Fee $6,000 

 
Applications completed after the application deadline, if considered and approved by the Credentials Committee, 
will be subject to penalties. Late application fees are calculated from a base amount of $1,500 to which $100 will 
be added for every week the application is late subsequent to the closing of the application window. 

Credential Verification 
The purpose of verifying applicants’ credentials is to ensure that only those eligible, i.e.: those who meet the 
eligibility requirements prescribed, are accepted as candidates to sit the NDSE. Each application for examination 
is first reviewed by RCDC staff to determine whether the application meets the eligibility requirements. A second 
review is conducted by the Admissions Officer, who then approves each completed, eligible application. In cases 
where an application does not appear to meet the eligibility requirements, or is in any way questionable for 
whatever reason, the Admissions Officer will request that the Chair of the Credentials Committee convene a 
meeting of the Credentials Committee for further deliberations and a final decision.  
 

 
1 Required for new and returning applicants. 
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A candidate’s eligibility, following the approval of his/her application, is considered valid for one (1) examination 
cycle and only for the year in which it is granted.  

NDSE Candidate Statistics 
The following chart highlights the number of candidates who sat the 2019 session of the NDSE. 

Specialty Applications 
Dental Public Health 8 
Endodontics 23 
Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 2 
Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology 6 
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 28 
Oral Pathology 1 
Orthodontics 47 
Pediatric Dentistry 35 
Periodontics 30 
Prosthodontics 42 
Total Applications 220 
 

2015-2019 Rolling Pass Rates 
The 2015-2019 rolling pass rates for the NDSE can be found in the following charts. The first chart represents 
the pass rate of candidates sitting the NDSE for the first time from dental specialty training programs accredited 
by the Commission on Dental Accreditation of Canada (identified as Canadian First-Time Takers); the second 
chart represents the overall pass rates of candidates sitting the NDSE for the first time from dental specialty 
training programs accredited by the Commission on Dental Accreditation (identified as American First-Time 
Takers); the third chart represents candidates sitting the NDSE for the first time who were internationally-trained 
(identified as International First-Time Takers) and the fourth chart includes the tallies of charts 1-3. 

Prior to the single administration of the NDSE in 2019, candidates were required to challenge the Component I 
(written) examination followed by the Component II (oral) examination to be successful.  Therefore, for the years 
2015 through 2018, the number of candidates provided includes all those who challenged the NDSE. This 
includes (1) candidates sitting the NDSE for the first time, (2) returning candidates who challenged Component I 
and II, and (3) returning candidates who only challenged Component II. 

Canadian First-Time Takers  
Total Number of Candidates Passed Failed Passing Rate 

346 

350 

317 29 91.6% 
 

USA First-Time Takers from Accredited Programs 

Total Number of Candidates Passed Failed Passing Rate 
445 

443 

293 152 65.8% 
 

First-Time Takers from Non-Accredited Programs 
Total Number of Candidates Passed Failed Passing Rate 

29 

27 

23 6 79.3% 
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 Overall  

Total Number of Candidates Passed Failed Passing Rate 
1074 

932 

759 315 70.67% 

 

NDSE Transition 
In July 2019, the College embarked upon a five-year plan with the NDEB to ensure the smooth transition of the 
NDSE from one organization to another. This process is in its initial stages with the goal of having the two parties 
come to a mutual agreement on the terms of a service agreement between NDEB and RCDC.  

With input from the NDEB, the NDSE (ndse.ca) website has been updated to minimize confusion for individuals 
interested in sitting the NDSE in 2020. Additionally, the College provided a list of potential NDSE Examiners and 
blueprints to the NDEB for approval at their Examinations Committee meeting in September.  

It is the expectation and goal of NDEB and RCDC that the NDSE will be able to be deployed digitally across 
North America in Prometric testing centers. It is uncertain when NDEB development will be ready for this digital 
deployment.  

Membership 
The following chart represents RCDC’s membership (including Life Fellows and Life Members, but excluding 
eighteen (18) Honorary Fellows) by specialty as of the date of this report. 
 

Membership 2019 
Specialty Fellows Members Total 

Dental Public Health 36 4 40 
Dental Sciences 11 0 11 
Endodontics 348 12 360 
Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology 29 3 32 
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 436 43 479 
Oral Medicine 13 0 13 
Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 45 0 45 
Oral Pathology 14 0 14 
Orthodontics 668 30 698 
Pediatric Dentistry 355 22 377 
Periodontics 324 40 364 
Prosthodontics 224 18 242 

Total 2503 172 2675 
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The following chart represents suspensions for the current year for the non-payment of dues by specialty as of 
the date of this report. 

Suspensions 2019 
Specialty Total 

Dental Public Health  - 
Dental Sciences  -  
Endodontics 7 
Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology  -  
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 5 
Oral Medicine  2 
Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology  -  
Oral Pathology  -  
Orthodontics 22 
Pediatric Dentistry 5 
Periodontics 8 
Prosthodontics 10 

Total 59 
 
A total of one hundred and twenty-two (122) Fellows and/or Members have been suspended for the non-
payment of dues from 2015 to 2019. Our Membership renewal rate for 2019 is 97.3%, and this has remained 
almost consistent with the six year period subsequent to 2014. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Hugh Lamont 
Chair, Board of Directors 
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Financial Statements of 

CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY
AUTHORITIES FEDERATION

December 31, 2018



April 10, 2019

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of
Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation:

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities
Federation (the "Federation"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018,
and the statements of operations and changes in net assets and cash flow for the year then ended, as well
as a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Federation as at December 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Federation in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Federation for the year ended December 31, 2017 were audited by
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements dated February 8, 2018.



Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing these financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Federation’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to a going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Federation or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are
responsible for overseeing the Federation’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting

a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Federation’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 



 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Federation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report

to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Federation to cease to continue as a

going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in

a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

HENDRY WARREN LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
Ottawa, Ontario



CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION
Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017

2018 2017

Assets

Current assets
Cash $ 188,826 $ 254,813
Accounts receivable 316 -
Prepaid expenses 930 -

190,072 254,813

Capital assets (Note 4) - 490

$ 190,072 $ 255,303

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued charges $ 9,901 $ 3,609

Net Assets
Unrestricted 131,906 251,694
Restricted 48,265 -

180,171 251,694

$ 190,072 $ 255,303

Approved on behalf of the Board: 

Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 4



CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION
Statement of Operations

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017

2018 2017

Revenue
Fees $ 126,808 $ 405,954
Other income 2,625 317

129,433 406,271
Expenses 

Bank charges 674 927
ISDR membership 3,080 2,750
Meetings 28,578 38,795
Operating 156,889 233,917
Translation services - 3,409

189,221 279,798

(Deficit) excess of revenues over expenses before restricted
fund expenses (59,788) 126,473

Less: restricted fund expenses 11,735 -

(Deficit) excess of revenues over expenses $ (71,523) $ 126,473

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 5



CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017

  
Internally 2018 2017

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

Net assets, beginning of year $ 251,694 $ - $ 251,694 $ 125,221

Transfer to internally restricted
net assets (Note 3) (60,000) 60,000 - -

(Deficit) excess of revenue over
expenses (59,788) (11,735) (71,523) 126,473

Net assets, end of year $ 131,906 $ 48,265 $ 180,171 $ 251,694

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 6



CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION
Cash Flow Statement 

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017

2018 2017

Operating activities 
Excess of (expenses) over revenue $ (71,523) $ 126,473
Non cash items:

Amortization expense 490 490
Changes in working capital balances (Note 5) 5,046 3,793

Cash (used in) provided by operating activities (65,987) 130,756

(Decrease) increase in cash (65,987) 130,756

Cash, beginning of year 254,813 124,057

Cash, end of year $ 188,826 $ 254,813

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 7



CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION
Notes to the Financial Statements

December 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017

1. Statutes of incorporation and nature of activities 

Canadian Dental Regulatory Authorities Federation ("the Federation") was incorporated on March 3,
2004, without share capital under the laws of Canada. The Federation is the national forum and
collective voice of Provincial and Territorial dental regulatory authorities regarding inter-
provincial/territorial, national and global regulatory matters for the dental profession. The Federation is
a non-profit organization within the meaning of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and is exempt from
income tax under section 149(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act (Canada).

2. Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations and include the following significant accounting policies:

Revenue recognition 

The Federation follows the deferral method of reporting restricted contributions. Income from the
Federation fees are recorded when the amounts are due and collection is reasonably assured.

Capital assets 

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is recorded in the year when the asset is put into
use. Amortization for computer hardware is recorded on a three-year straight line basis.

Use of estimates 

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the current period.
These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are made to income as appropriate in the
year they become known. 

Financial instruments  

Measurement of financial instruments

The Federation initially measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value.

The Federation subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized
cost, except for cash, which is measured at fair value.

3. Internal restrictions 

In 2018, the Board of Directors internally restricted $60,000 of previously unrestricted net assets with
a plan to restrict an additional $240,000 ($60,000 per year) over each of the next four years.  These
internal restrictions have been contemplated to ensure ongoing financial stability of the Federation by
setting aside reserves for general contingencies and future national initiatives. The Federation may
not use these restricted amounts for any other purpose without the approval of the Board.

8



CANADIAN DENTAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES FEDERATION
Notes to the Financial Statements

December 31, 2018, with comparative figures for 2017

4. Capital assets 

2018 2017

Accumulated Net Book Net Book
Cost Amortization Value Value

Computer hardware $ 1,470 $ 1,470 $ - $ 490

5. Changes in working capital balances 

Changes in working capital balances have provided (used) cash as follows:

2018 2017

Accounts receivable $ (316) $ -
Prepaid expenses (930) 1,734
Accounts payable and accrued charges 6,292 2,059

$ 5,046 $ 3,793

6. Financial instruments 

Risk and concentrations 

It is management's opinion that the Federation is not exposed to any risks through its financial
instruments.
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POLICY ON INTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS 
(RESERVE FUND) 

The CDRAF must execute effectively, at a reasonable cost on a not for profit basis.  
The CDRAF Board maintains internally restricted net assets (reserve fund) in order to 
ensure ongoing financial stability and to provide funds for identified one time 
expenditures in the following areas:  

General contingencies 

Internal restricted assets designated in this area ensure continuous operations of the 
Board:  

Maintenance of consistent cash flow including 
allowing optimal timing of purchases, providing 
for salary continuity and unforeseen overtime 
expenses 

  

  

  

 

 

$100,000
Reserve required to meet obligations in the 
event of changes in government or regulatory 
policy that reduces of eliminates major 
responsibilities of the CDRAF.  These 
obligations would include salary commitments. 

  

  

  

  

 

 

$100,000

Initial Funding for Identified National 
Initiatives 

   

From time to time, the CDRAF Board may 
authorize expenditure of funds to enable work 
to start on a national initiative. The expectation 
is that eventually DRAs will eventually fund the 
initiative. 

  

  

  

  

 

 

$100,000

 TOTAL   $300,000

 Approved:          AMS:777127v2 



2016 2017 2018 2019 2019 Projected 2020 2021 2022
Actual Actual Actual Revised budget June 30 Actual 31-Dec-19 Budget 1st draft 1st draft

FUND BALANCE @ BEGINNING OF YEAR
Estimated number of Dentists 23056 23716 23716 23716 24000 24000 24000

Fee Rates 18.00$                      18.00$                       5.50$                      9.00$               9.00$                9.00$               9.00$             12.00$                  12.00$                      
REVENUES REVENUES

4020 CDRAF Fees: 395,946.00$            405,954.00$              126,808.00$           213,444.00$    208,956.00$    213,444.00$   CDRAF Fees: 216,000.00$  288,000.00$        288,000.00$            
Gov't of Canada 118.00$                    317.00$                     2,625.00$               -$                 -$                  -$                 Gov't of Canada -$               -$                      -$                          

4100 Interest -$                          -$                           -$                        -$                 -$                  -$                 Interest -$               -$                      -$                          
4050 Other Income -$                          -$                           -$                        -$                 7,668.00$        13,682.23$      Other Income -$               -$                      -$                          

Total Revenues 396,064.00$            406,271.00$              129,433.00$           213,444.00$    216,624.00$    227,126.23$   Total Revenues 216,000.00$  288,000.00$        288,000.00$            

EXPENSES EXPENSES
Meetings/Conferences Meetings/Conferences

5110     Board & Members meetings 40,992.00$              35,030.00$                21,122.00$             31,440.00$      9,078.55$        20,000.00$          Board & Members meetings 24,000.00$    24,000.00$          24,000.00$              
5120     Other meetings/Conferences - ED 7,134.00$                10,306.00$                7,457.00$               12,000.00$      9,025.26$        13,000.00$          Other meetings - ACFD, NDEB, CDAC, CDA, 15,000.00$    15,000.00$          15,000.00$              
5120     Other meetings/Conferences - President (NA no Pres) 3,990.00$                -$                           -$                        -$                 -$                  -$                 
5120     ISDR Conference 10,951.00$              -$                           -$                        -$                 -$                  -$                 

Operations: Operations:
5330    Salary (ED and Executive Assistant) 186,769.00$            189,852.00$              120,745.00$           163,500.28$    85,511.34$      171,022.68$      Salary (ED and Executive Assistant) 174,443.13$  177,932.00$        181,490.64$            
5280    Financial consultant (Bookkeeping) 4,000.00$                8,400.00$                  8,400.00$               8,400.00$        3,636.14$        6,636.14$           Financial consultant (Bookkeeping) 7,000.00$      7,000.00$            7,000.00$                
5270    External resources (policy, communications, translations, et 4,197.00$                5,122.00$                  -$                        3,000.00$        -$                  -$                 
5310    Legal 3,359.00$                3,449.00$                  -$                        3,500.00$        -$                  -$                    Legal/other professional 1,000.00$      1,000.00$            1,000.00$                
5220    Administrative fees (banking, etc.) 750.00$                    3,595.00$                  674.00$                  600.00$           421.46$            800.00$              Banking fees 800.00$         800.00$                800.00$                    
5200    Audit 1,801.50$                1,752.00$                  2,583.00$               3,500.00$        559.00$            3,600.00$           Audit 4,000.00$      4,000.00$            4,000.00$                
5240    Equipment/Support/Maintenance -$                          -$                           -$                        500.00$           36.12$              -$                    Office Expenses 4,000.00$      4,000.00$            4,000.00$                
5250    Postage/courier ($50/mth) 520.00$                    11.00$                       -$                        600.00$           69.84$              100.00$           
5320    Printing/supplies ($50/mth) 106.00$                    1,256.00$                  520.00$                  600.00$           627.79$            1,000.00$        
5340    Phone/internet ($175/mth) -$                          2,019.00$                  3,645.00$               1,560.00$        1,714.18$        3,000.00$        
5290    Information technology (web hosting, conference calls, etc.) 6,599.00$                6,050.00$                  6,209.00$               7,808.00$        6,081.09$        10,000.00$         Web hosting, conference call, IT support 7,000.00$      7,000.00$            7,000.00$                
5260    ED Professional fees and conferences/PD -$                          -$                           3,488.00$               3,500.00$        9,825.14$        9,825.14$           ED Professional fees and PD 9,000.00$      10,000.00$          10,000.00$              
5300    Insurance 1,998.00$                3,629.00$                  6,509.00$               3,700.00$        1,860.30$        3,720.60$           Insurance 3,700.00$      4,000.00$            4,000.00$                
6000    Depreciation 490.00$                    490.00$                     490.00$                  666.67$           -$                  -$                    Depreciation
5150    CNNAR-Membership 848.00$                    1,413.00$                  850.00$           -$                  -$                 
5150    ISDR-Membership 2,750.00$                2,750.00$                  3,080.00$               2,750.00$        -$                  -$                 

Working Groups 6,112.00$                11,216.00$                -$                        -$                 -$                  -$                 
Executive Search 4,028.00$                -$                           -$                        -$                 -$                  -$                 
Total Operations Disbursements 287,394.50$            286,340.00$              184,922.00$           248,474.95$    128,446.21$    242,704.56$   Total Operations Disbursements 249,943.13$  254,732.00$        258,290.64$            

Surplus/(Deficit) 108,669.50$            119,931.00$              (55,489.00)$            (35,030.95)$     88,177.79$      (15,578.33)$    Surplus/(Deficit) (33,943.13)$   33,268.00$          29,709.36$              

2210 Unrestricted Fund Balance 141,906.44$           141,906.44$    141,906.44$    141,906.44$   Unrestricted Fund Balance 126,328.11$  116,384.98$        149,652.98$            
2220 Note:13 Working Groups, Workshops, National Initiatives (3,842.88)$              (5,000.00)$       -$                  (5,000.00)$      Note:13 Working Groups, Workshops, National Initiativ (10,000.00)$   (10,000.00)$         (10,000.00)$             
2220 Restricted Fund Balance 50,000.00$             38,264.10$      38,264.10$      38,264.10$      Restricted Fund Balance 33,264.10$    23,264.10$          13,264.10$              

136,417.44$           145,139.59$    268,348.33$    159,592.21$   115,649.08$  162,917.08$        182,626.44$            



Notes:
13 IRNA as per propsed policy

Maintenance of consistent cash flow including allowing 
optimal timing of purchases, providing for salary continuity 
and unforeseen overtime expenses 100,000                    
Reserve required to meet obligations in the event of 
changes in government or regulatory policy that reduces of 
eliminates major responsibilities of the CDRAF. These 
obligations would include salary commitments. 100,000                    
Initial Funding for Identified National Initiatives. From time to 
time, the CDRAF Board may authorize expenditure of funds 
to enable work to start on a national initiative. The 
expectation is that eventually DRAs will eventually fund the 100,000                    
TOTAL 300,000                    
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SLATE OF DIRECTORS – 2019-2020 
 
 
Chris Hacker British Columbia 

 
Randall Croutze Alberta 

 
Bernie White Saskatchewan 

 
Patti Ling Manitoba 

 
Irwin Fefergrad Ontario 

 
Caroline Daoust Québec 

 
Dan Leger New Brunswick 

 
Martin Gillis Nova Scotia 

 
Maurice Coady Prince Edward Island 

 
Paul O’Brien Newfoundland and Labrador 
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